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VISION
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To be an acclaimed contractor and
developer in Asia with dynamic and
sustainable growth
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MISSION
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Improve people’s quality of life through
city and infrastructure development
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Grow with our employees through
fulfilling work environment and career
development
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Create value for shareholders
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CORPORATE CULTURE
ot 3¢

We aspire to excel in all aspects of our performance. In our business dealings, we are
responsive to the needs of our clients and ensure that these needs are fully satisfied.
We manage our projects with qualified, competent and experienced staff, whose
clear priorities are to thoroughly plan, execute and follow through the works and to fulfill
our obligations responsibly. Our staff always face up to challenges and proactively
tackle problems with practicality and perseverance in a positive way.

For almost half a century, we have followed this culture and believe that it has been the
key to our success. Our continued success serves to reinforce the culture which has
been with us from the outset.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
TRARELE

09/2016
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ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED

Change of Company Name

With the Group expanding its business in the Asia Pacific and overseas markets, the
Company has adopted the new name of “Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited”.
The new name encapsulates the Group’s long-term strategic goal to be a force in
Asia and to expand alliances of the Group across the region.
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10/2016

Sham Tseng “Light Housing” Project
Officially Opened

Chun Wo is the main contractor of the 3 . o
former Kowloon Textile Family Dormitory : Pl RIFIEE

Empowerment Housing

Improvement Works site, which now
represents the “Light Housing” project
of “Light Be”, a social enterprise that
provides homes at affordable rent to
families with housing difficulties. Ir
Dr. Derrick Pang, JP, Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Operating Officer
of the Group, attended the opening
ceremony of Sham Tseng “Light
Housing” with the Hon Mrs. Carrie Lam,
the current Chief Executive of Hong
Kong. As part of the ceremony, a time
capsule was buried on the site of the
housing estate.
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10/2016

MTR Whampoa Station Officially
Opened

Chun Wo - Hip Hing Joint Venture is
the main contractor of MTR Contract
No. 1002 — Kwun Tong Line Extension:
Whampoa Station and Overrun Tunnel.
After five years of hard work by our
project team, the works at MTR
Whampoa Station were completed
and the station officially opened on 23
October 2016.

BEEIWRKERBE

BN -HBEBELEIBEEDER
1002 — BB A& T A« H i uh B B
EREETR| MARER - LiBIHER
BRRAFNE L BEHEHMNIECIBE
AET - W 20164F 10 A 23 HIE B
$ o

CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
TRABLE

10/2016

Acquisition of a Residential Project at No. 128
Waterloo Road

The Group has acquired a residential
development project at No. 128 Waterloo Road,
Kowloon, which is planned to be redeveloped
into a medium-density luxury residential building.
We bDbelieve this project will bring a quality
development to the market with high popularity.
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REBEANESITZE128REERRIER © 5
ZERAEFEEREXTENE - HMHBEZ
HEBAMSHERELEYS  WEEXMSEC -

2016/174 4R ﬁfﬂﬁﬁéga@mﬁmmao



CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
TRREBLE

11/2016

Tseng Choi Street Project Officially Named
“T PLUS”

Chun Wo’s residential development project at
TMTL 499, 2 Tsing Min Path, Tuen Mun, New
Territories has officially been named “T PLUS”.
On 30 November 2016, a launching ceremony
was held to introduce the project to the market.

HEUHEEHEXTESR[EFS (T PLUS)
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11/2016

Acquisition of an Engineering and Architecture Consultancy Company
in Singapore

The Group has completed its acquisition of R.J. Crocker Consultants
Pte. Ltd., an engineering and architecture consultancy company
operating in Singapore. This acquisition will both enhance the Group’s
business portfolio and result in synergies.

WEE IR ERSE T2 530 A 7
NEE B FE A U BB — T DO R SE N T A2 #5782 Al R.J. Crocker Consultants
Pte. Ltd. ° 2B EB(L ANE B 2 A E I it R UE -

'. R.J. CROCKER Consultants Pfe Ltd
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
TRABLE

11/2016

Award of Cross-Harbour Tunnel MOM Contract

Chun Wo Tunnel Management Limited has secured
the six-year management, operation and maintenance
contract of Cross-Harbour Tunnel from the Transport
Department of the Hong Kong government. The contract
has commenced on 1 November 2016.

ESAMSEBESEEELEEY
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12/2016

Change of Controlling Shareholder

GT Winners Limited (“GT Winners”), a company owned by the Pang’s family,
the founder of the Group, acquired the majority shareholding in the Company
and became the controlling shareholder of the Company.

AREBEIMAZEKREE T2 A GT Winners Limited ([ GT Winners |) U i
KA ZHRERBART ZIEREE -
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
TRABLE

03/2017

Phase 2 of the Happy Valley Underground Stormwater
Storage Scheme Fully Commissioned

Phase 2 of the Happy Valley Underground
Stormwater Storage Scheme managed by the
Drainage Services Department of the Hong Kong
government, a construction “NEC” project undertaken
by Chun Wo, was completed approximately one year
ahead of schedule and came into full operation in
March 2017. Ir Dr. Derrick Pang, JP, Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Operating Officer of the Group, was
invited to officiate at the Commissioning Ceremony.
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12/2016

CEDD’s Award of Contract of Over HK$2.6
Billion Value

Chun Wo - STEC - Vasteam Joint Venture
has signed the contract of Site Formation
and Infrastructure Works for Development
of the Anderson Road Quarry Site with
the Civil Engineering and Development
Department of the Hong Kong government.
The contract sum exceeds HK$2.6 billion
with a contract period of five years and the
commencement date was 21 December
2016.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EE®RE

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman

A=
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We envision the Group to gradually move beyond its current status
to become a broader infrastructure and investment entity, operating
on a wider geographical scale across the region in alliance with other
significant market players.

EMAGAEESEHERERAAG  RAERRZHNERRREER -
BEeHMEITETSSEERNENERZNLHEELEE -
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EE®RE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”)
of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited (the “Company”), |
have pleasure in presenting the annual results of the Company and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017
(the “Year”). | am pleased to announce that the Group’s net profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”)
for the Year amounted to HK$206 million.

In terms of business development and reorganisation, it has been
an eventful year for the Group. The changes and new directions
undergone in the Year are reflected in a further change made in our
company name, in September 2016, to “Asia Allied Infrastructure
Holdings Limited”. The name represents our ambitions to go
beyond our traditional status as a premier local construction and
development company, and to move forward and capture new
opportunities on a wider regional scale than we have been able to
do in the past. It thus encapsulates our long-term strategic goal to
be a force in Asia and to expand our alliances across the region,
especially in the field of large-scale infrastructure, development and
investment projects. The move is especially pertinent as China’s
“Belt and Road” initiative begins to take shape, opening up major
new opportunities in these fields right across Asia and beyond.
Changes in our shareholder structure and in the Board made in
recent months are moves which have stabilised the Group and
helped achieve a firm consensus on these planned future directions.

In the light of this name change, we have been actively exploring
strategies for leveraging our deep local infrastructure experience
in order to achieve more substantial regional growth. There is no
doubt that our core Chun Wo construction business has more than
proven itself as a front-runner on the Hong Kong scene, in terms
of expertise, technology and experience. We are now at the stage
of looking for ways of leveraging these unique skills in such a way
as to capture wider opportunities, for instance by actively exporting
our project management expertise and other highly transferable
skills to become more integrally involved in large-scale projects in
Asia, including those arising from the “Belt and Road” initiative. As
an important step in this direction, we acquired an engineering and
architecture consultancy company in Singapore during the Year,
thus establishing a foothold in that region from which we can make
contacts and build up local networks more easily. We expect to
continue making similar acquisitions and expanding our partnerships
on an Asia-wide scale in the years ahead.

Another strand of our focus on growth has been the strategic
diversification of our existing businesses in order to expand our
regular income streams and to capture niche markets where our
expertise gives us an edge. In the year under review, for example,
we further diversified our business portfolio through ventures into
the management of Hong Kong's Cross-Harbour Tunnel, and the
provision of safe deposit box services for high-end users. These
are businesses that offer the prospect of consistent and reliable
incomes, giving us greater control over our cash flows and a better
ability to plan for expenditure or investment in the future.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

FUTURE STRATEGY AND DIRECTION

As reflected in the Company’s new name, we envision the
Group to gradually move beyond its current status to become a
broader infrastructure and investment entity, operating on a wider
geographical scale across the region in alliance with other significant
market players. Our major experience in infrastructure is an
invaluable starting point for this strategic move. We are recognising
that many of our core strengths and skills can best be exported by
way of alliances with other local and regional businesses through for
example consultancy arrangements, sharing of skills and experience,
and merger-and-acquisition expansion.

To further these goals, we will be paying close attention to that
part of the “Belt and Road” initiative focused on the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macau Big Bay Area, which is expected to become a
focus for the eastern end of “Belt and Road” development. The Big
Bay Area holds strong potential for our Group because it is expected
to develop into a powerful integrated financial and technology
hub that will require massive further infrastructure investment. The
Group’s experience in infrastructure development and its close
familiarity with the region bodes very well for our future growth
opportunities in terms of partnerships, consultancies and skill-
sharing.

Property development and investment also represents a promising
growth area for the Group. We have been involved in relatively
small-scale property development activities for some time, and
now see opportunities to expand our efforts and take advantage
of the current strong demand for property both in Hong Kong and
more widely around the region. An important step in expanding our
property development capabilities will be to increase our formal
partnerships with passive financial investors who understand our
Group’s potential.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In a year of change, | would like to offer my thanks to the many
individuals who have supported the Group and worked together
with us to develop and implement our strategies. In particular, the
management team and staff have been whole-heartedly committed
to moving the Group forward, while not compromising our reputation
for quality and reliability across our businesses. Thanks are also due
to our business partners and Shareholders for their loyal support.

We believe that by virtue of our Group’s excellent work team who
always acts in the best interests of the Shareholders as a whole, we
will be able to achieve ongoing enhancement of our corporate value.

ERHRE

7R 2R R W I T[]
RN R B AT IR R - BT TE A AN R
BEBEERE A6 KRERZHEER
KREABR BAHEMIEMS2EERERA
FREZOBEHEEZE - RANEZTEE
EMEEZESR  A{ERULREIERERIER
MR - HARED - BEMANL RIBERMER
EEmAmE  DREHRMATIROEB K
MeRESTRN > PIBBEHAZH  DFK
1y R A% B LA K2 G BB o

RREZERE  BABZIEE —&—
BIEZTAMESRANERNIEY - %E
IR RS — % — B | R SR AEES
HRE KERBERK S —ERANNOES
TRERMEAL  HREEBARRE S EZ
RE HUYAFEMSEARANEN - A&
EBRERZERLHEANRERS - AR
BPARESERHBER BRERRTKE
T ERRIE RS -

MEBRERRENTASASHEAGABERE
NzEE - HBE—BRER Lf—E2H
SN EERES  MBPRESR
BB ImREBULERAREERRAEE
BEINM RV EFTRKOHIE - t5h - B0
HTYBASEENNRBUBREENILN
BHAERE SRBEBARMYEERLE
MBEE—F-

B

RUEFERECH) —F - ARS8 B
XEAEERERMARELEERBORS
AL HhZ BEEEBFERET-—EBE20H
EHBAKERAER - REHD &R
BEBOSERAERE - HATHEBR
1 e BBUER B BB S A TP 1B B BUA B R ©

BPIRE  BREASELRO TEBRK &
AUNBRRERNER/E - BT ERA
EEE -

2016/174 4R ﬁfﬂﬁﬁéga@mﬁmma0



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Total revenue R
Profit attributable to Shareholders 1% 2R {1 F
Basic earnings per share TR EARZF]
Dividend per share TR E
Equity per share* T

*

Equity per share refers to equity attributable to Shareholders divided by
the total number of issued ordinary share capital as at 31 March 2017 and
31 March 2016 respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are pleased to have achieved sound overall financial
performance for the Year. The Group recorded a total revenue of
HK$8.81 billion for the Year and a year-on-year revenue increase of
3.1%. Net profit attributable to Shareholders decreased by 31.9%
to HK$206 million. This decrease was mainly due to the fact that in
the previous year, a gain on sale of property interests through the
disposal of a subsidiary was recorded. If the impact of that previous
gain is excluded, net profit attributable to Shareholders for the Year
shows an increase of 100.6%, with earnings per share surging by
88.1% to HK13.62 cents. The Company’s net asset value per share
amounted to HK$1.39 as at 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$1.36).

With sound profitability and strong net cash flows generated from
operations, the Board has proposed to reward Shareholders by a
final dividend of HKB3.8 cents per share for the Year (2015/16: Nil).

HEEE
2016/17 2015/16
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#E T FET
8,810,797 8,541,826
205,506 301,950
HK13.62 cents HK21.35 cents
13.62 1l 21.35 %11l
HK3.8 cents -
3.8l -
HK$1.37 HK$1.35
1.37%8 T 1.35/87C
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W RO

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Construction

The Group’s core construction segment, mainly operated under the
well-established brand of “Chun Wo”, performed steadily in the Year.
The construction segment has continued its trend of expansion by
achieving revenue growth for consecutive years. While attaining a
satisfactory segmental profit of HK$149 million, segmental revenue
for the Year reached a record high of HK$8.31 billion, representing a
year-on-year increase of 3.0%. As at 31 March 2017, the total value
of the Group’s contracts on hand was HK$31.26 billion, of which
HK$13.81 billion remained in progress. These amounts represent
a slight decrease of 1.3% and 0.9% respectively over last year’s
figures.

Delays in funding approval for large-scale public works construction
projects by the Hong Kong Legislative Council continued to bring
challenges to the local construction industry over the Year, although
they also led to a gentle decline in labour costs, which have
traditionally been very high due to the imbalance between skilled
labour and the number of projects underway. The private housing
market, by contrast, remained relatively buoyant.

To minimise the impact of the downward trend in public construction
projects in the last couple of years, the Group has explored various
mechanisation and streamlining initiatives aimed at reducing costs
and increasing construction efficiency. A milestone in these initiatives
has been the pioneering use of fully precast units in a subsidised
housing construction project in Shatin, which has helped the Group
achieve lower labour costs and higher profit margins.

The total value of the new contracts secured by the Group during
the Year was HK$7.3 billion, representing an increase of 23% as
compared with the figure of HK$5.9 billion for the previous year.
Major new projects secured during the Year include the contracts
for Site Formation and Infrastructure Works for Development of the
Anderson Road Quarry Site with a contract sum of HK$2.66 billion,
Construction of the Public Rental Housing Redevelopment at Pak
Tin Estate Phases 7 and 8 with a contract sum of HK$1.99 billion,
Road and Drainage Works for Queen’s Hill Development with a
contract sum of HK$428 million, Design and Construction of the
Redevelopment of Kwai Chung Hospital (Phase 1) with a contract
sum of HK$370 million, and Construction of the Columbarium at
Wo Hop Shek Cemetery — Phase 1 with a contract sum of HK$669
million. Significant new building maintenance contracts awarded
during the Year include two term contracts for Architectural Services
Department of the Hong Kong government, which are worth HK$800
million and HK$714 million respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Construction (continued)

Meanwhile, the Group continued to undertake 33 ongoing projects
during the Year, with a number of major projects reaching significant
project milestones after making satisfying progress. A total of 28
projects were completed and delivered during the Year. In particular,
phase two of the Happy Valley Underground Stormwater Storage
Scheme was completed and came into full operation in March
2017, contributing to the improvement of flooding protection for the
communities of Happy Valley and Wan Chai; and in November 2016,
the track-laying part of the main tunnels of MTR Contract No. 830
— Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link (Hong Kong
Section): Trackwork and Overhead Line System was completed.
Substantial projects completed include the Wan Chai Development
Phase II: Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Hong Kong Convention and
Exhibition Centre, the Proposed Development of Gleneagles Hong
Kong Hospital at Nam Fung Path, Aberdeen Island, the MTR Kwun
Tong Line Extension: Whampoa Station, and the Main Contract
Works for the Retail Expansion of City of Dreams, Macau.

As part of its focus on growth and expansion outside Hong
Kong, the Group completed the acquisition of an engineering and
architecture company in Singapore. The Group believes that the
acquisition will create synergies and serve as an important step
for taking advantage of the opportunities arising from large-scale
overseas infrastructure projects under the Chinese government’s
“Belt and Road” initiative.

The Group has reached a settlement regarding the legal proceedings
which it instigated against the project company and the other
investing party of the joint development residential project located at
Yiu Sha Road, Whitehead, Ma On Shan and discontinued the legal
proceedings. The Group considers that the terms of the settlement
are in its best interests. As for the agreement entered into during the
previous financial year for acquiring two engineering bureaus under
China Chengjian Investment Limited, both parties agreed during the
Year to re-negotiate the acquisition. After careful consideration of the
circumstances of the target companies and taking into account the
best interests of the Group, the Group did not reach an agreement
on the terms of the acquisition or enter into the final agreement with
the vendor by the long-stop date of 31 March 2017.
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i'Site Formation and Infrastructure Works for Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site
ZERBABRSAMBERNMBTEREARRERTE

@ Foundation for Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Au Pui Wan Street, Fo Tan
NERPEEHEDEEFERRTENIMETRE
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@,Proposed Residential Development at TMTL 499, Tseng Choi Street, Tuen Mun, New Territories

MREPITHMERE 400 H M EHEETEHREER
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@MTR Contract No. 1002 — Kwun Tong Line Extension: Whampoa Station and Overrun Tunnel
AEAORF1002-BERLER  SHRUNEBERBERETRE
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(Y German Swiss International School Redevelopment, Phase 5
EHERERFELRERIRE
gProposed Development of Gleneagles Hong Kong Hospital at Nam Fung Path, Aberdeen Island Inland Lot No. 458,

Hong Kong
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N wR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ O e
New Major Projects Awarded in the Year REAEEFAENEEER

Project Name

HEAW

Building Construction Works @ F25% T2

1 Construction of Public Rental Housing Redevelopment at Pak Tin Estate Phases 7 & 8
BHEEtRENALAABEFEERRARETR

2 Construction of Columbarium at Wo Hop Shek Cemetery — Phase 1
MERBESERTEME —REZ TR

3 Main Contract for the Proposed Residential Development at TMTL 499, Tseng Choi Street, Tuen Mun, New Territories
MAREFTIRE 499 R AR EEERRBALEK

4 Design and Construction of Redevelopment of Kwai Chung Hospital (Phase 1)
LRERERIR(F-H) Rt kEETR

Civil Engineering Works T AT 7

5  Site Formation and Infrastructure Works for Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site
ZERERRSANERNMBTERARERTRE

6  Queen’s Hill Development — Road and Drainage Works
ERLER-EXRREKIR

Foundation Works 1 & T 2

7 Foundation for Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Tseung Kwan O Area 65C2, Phase 1
KER6C2RE-NENHERER R E AT

8  Foundation for Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Au Pui Wan Street, Fo Tan
NEYEEGEDHEFER R EIMMETR

Maintenance Works %15 T 12

9  Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and Other Properties for which the
Architectural Services Department (Property Services Branch) is responsible (Designated Contract Area: Tai Po, North District and
Outlying Islands (North))
REEANE(KE  LERES (L)) ABEEENESBRATNEEY T REMMEETHE IR REREEIRNEHSL

10  Term Contract the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and Other Properties for which the Architectural
Services Department (Property Services Branch) is responsible (Designated Contract Area: Central, Peak and Mid-levels)
RETAHNE(RE - WERFI) NhBEENXEKREENREY D RAMYEETHE N2  REREEIRNOTHSH

11 Hong Kong International Airport - Terminal 1 Annex and Car Park Advanced Works

BRERRS - —REEAEHBREN L EFESAHATE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) X% EEE e
Major Projects Completed in the Year RAEAFERITI 2EEIFH

Project Name
HH AW

Building Construction Works EFEE T

1 Proposed Development of Gleneagles Hong Kong Hospital at Nam Fung Path, Aberdeen Island Inland Lot No. 458, Hong Kong
BRFAMRE 468 FEATE BT B RIAR

2 Main Contract Works for the Retail Expansion of City of Dreams, Macau
RPIETEA N T E R G ER & 2 RAB TR

3 Construction of Home Ownership Scheme at Wang Yip Street West, Yuen Long
TREEREEERAE RIETR

Civil Engineering Works T AT 7%
4 Wan Chai Development Phase II: Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre
B ERAEE_H  PREFBETEEERET LR
5  MTR Contract No.1002 - Kwun Tong Line Extension: Whampoa Station and Overrun Tunnel
BEAOET 1002 BRATE BRI LBERERETR
6  Harbour Area Treatment Scheme Stage 2A Upgrading Works at Stonecutters Island Sewage Treatment Works - Effluent Tunnel and
Disinfection Facilities
BB EIE BT SN KRR RNRE TR - KRB RESR
7 MTR Contract No.C5115-13C - Noise Mitigation Works at Tung Chung
BEA LR C5115-13C- FARERERETR

Fitting Out Works £ KT 72
8  German Swiss International School Redevelopment, Phase 5
ERERERFAHERTR

Foundation Works 12 T 72
9 Foundation for Home Ownership Scheme Development at Choi Hing Road, Ngau Tau Kok
BAVAEREEREREZRERNETR
10  Design, Supply and Construction for Excavation and Lateral Support (ELS), Pile Caps and Foundations for the Proposed Residential
Development at TMTL 499, Tseng Choi Street, Tuen Mun, New Territories
MABFIFREEFI IR F 4REETERIEE 2R5 - HERBEZSRAR AT - BERMETRE

Maintenance Works 45 T 12

11 Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Aided Schools, Buildings and Lands and Other Properties for
which the Education Bureau is responsible (Designated Contract Area: Central and Western, Wan Chai, Eastern, Southern, Islands and
Yau Tsim Mong)
RETANE (AR  &F RE BE  BSNAXE) NAAEREENZRER  B2Y - DHRAGYEETHRE N2 RER
BETIRNTHAL

12 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 3: Mains in Tai Po and Shatin
FHRERKEIRE=RR  ABERPHEKEIR

13 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 3: Mains in Tuen Mun and Yuen Long
FRREEKEIRE=IKE  GARTHKELR

2016/174 3§ EE;‘JHH?%%EEEH&EBE’AE@
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Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities — Passenger Clearance Building
BRRXBEBOR —IRBRAE
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@V MTR Contract No. 830 — Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link (Hong Kong Section):

Trackwork and Overhead Line System
BESHERER0-—BRABRRER (FER)  BREBEERS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N wR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) L& OEE (%)
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year REFEERBEENETEIR

Project Name

R

Building Construction Works EF2£ IR

1 Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities — Passenger Clearance Building
BIRRABESO R - KR AIE

2 Main Contract for Subsidised Sale Flats Project at Shatin Area 36C
DHIBCERIMKEREHEREERRAAL

3 Design and Construction of New Territories West Regional Office and Water Resources Education Centre of Water Supplies Department
(Programme No. 117KA)
R MBEKBENRABNBERKEREE F O (THHEIRR 117KA)

4 The Superstructure Main Contract for the Proposed Residential Development at Lot No.1180 in D.D. 215, Hong Tsuen Road, Sai Kung,
New Territories
HAAERNBLBONE 215 ARE 1180 FETERIER FETRARN

5  Hong Kong - Zhuhai - Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities — Remaining Ancillary Buildings and Facilities
BREABEEORE -RTHHZENRRE

6  Construction of Public Rental Housing Development at Lin Shing Road, Chai Wan
LEEREAEREERRIER

7 Main Contract for Proposed Redevelopment at Nos. 12-24 Lun Fat Street, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
BREFHBET12E4RERIRESN

8  Superstructure Works for Proposed Residential Development at R.B.L. 270, No. 17 Shek O Road, Shek O, Hong Kong
BERRARET RANREMRERTOFTERBRAC LETR

9  Proposed Residential Redevelopment at No. 20 Peak Road, Hong Kong
BEITRB 205 ETERIER

10  Construction Works for New Hangar of Macau International Airport
RPN RE RIE TR

Civil Engineering Works + K T2
11 Wan Chai Development Phase II: Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Wan Chai East
BIREHEE 8 PREFEEETRE

12 Liantang/Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control Point, Site Formation and Infrastructure Works - Contract 3
B/ AREOFR I TRRARRERTIR-TRAN=

13  Central-Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and Island Eastern Corridor Link
RIREFEE - LARBENRREREREIE

14 Handling of Surplus Public Fill (2014-2016)
R N RIER (2014-2016)

15 Happy Valley Underground Stormwater Storage Scheme
B A

16 MTR Contract No.1108 - Shatin to Central Link: Kai Tak Station and Associated Tunnels
BEANER1108— D « BB RARKETLR

17 MTR Contract No.1107 - Shatin to Central Link: Diamond Hill to Kai Tak Tunnels
BEANET 1107 D& - BRILE/MERE

18  In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works) - Advance Works
DHBEKRRNES T2 (FE) - ATz

19 Provision of Universal Access Facilities for Highway Structures - Package 2 Contract 1

RERBEVMRERERTRIE-F_AF N0
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@ Subsidised Sale Flats Project at Shatin Area 36C
WHICEMTERENTERFEER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE N wR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) K EEE e
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year REAFELZRRKEENETEIRE
(continued) (&)

Project Name
HAER
Fitting Out Works T AT 72

20  Fitting Out Works for Common Area (Lift Lobbies and Guard Houses) Nominated Sub-contract at Proposed Residential Development at
Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11227

NERERE 11227 RETRRAB BEDHE (BERAZRRLE) AREZREHTE

Maintenance Works #1512

21 Term Contract for Minor Works for Hong Kong East and Hong Kong West Clusters
2015 BB R RS ABREA N TREHREH

22 MTR Contract No.11209 - Shatin to Central Link: Platform Modification and Associated Works at East Rail Line
BEAS NIRRT 11209 D h 4 - REZEUEASWERBHIR

23 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 Phase 1: Mains in Eastern and Southern Districts
FHRREEKEIRENRERE—H : RRRAEKELR

24 Main Contract for Refurbishment of Hong Kong Buddhist Hospital
EEGFHBERBN TRAESH

25 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 Phase 1: Major Mains in Western New Territories
FHMREBKEIRFNRERE—H : HRAAPERKELR

26 Term Contract 2015 for Waterworks District E - New Territories East
KBEIREREL2015-HRE-MAR

27 Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the Achitectural Services Department (Property Services Branch) is responsible
(Hong Kong Island and Outlying Islands (South))
BEEMESBERAENNENREIRTHAN(BEERES (B))

28  Preventive Maintenance Works, Upgrading Works and Associated Ground Investigations for WSD Slopes, 2012-2013 Programme
2012 2013 FRKBEN KRB LAE - B RIEBNHRTRZ

Railway Works #% T12

29 MTR Contract No.830 - Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link (Hong Kong Section): Trackwork and Overhead Line System
BHANRR-EREREEN (BER)  DEREBRER
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"In—situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works) — Advance Works
DHEBKBRCEE TR (FEM) — AT TE

gLiantang/Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control Point, Site Formation and Infrastructure Works — Contract 3

EE S BEREEOR M TP ELEMERIR-TRAH=

2016/1758 DHBAERERERAT @




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W RO

Property Development and Investment

The Group’s property development and investment segment
recorded a profit of HK$123 million for the Year (2015/16: HK$195
million). The decrease in segmental profit for the Year was mainly
due to the effect of the gain on sale of property interests recorded in
the previous year as mentioned above.

In October 2016, the Group acquired a property located at No.
128 Waterloo Road, Kowloon through tender for a residential
development project. The Group considers that the project is of
great potential given that the Hong Kong property market has shown
a steady upward trend in recent years, and there is a continued
under-supply of quality housing to meet the strong demand. The
Group’s Waterloo Road development represents an important step
forward in its property development and investment ambitions in
Hong Kong.

During the Year, the Group’s residential project known as “T PLUS”
located at Tseng Choi Street, Tuen Mun progressed as scheduled.
Construction of the superstructure had been completed up to
the 6th floor level by year-end. The entire project is scheduled for
completion by the end of 2018, when it will offer a total gross floor
area of approximately 148,000 sq. ft., inclusive of 356 residential
units and a commercial floor area of approximately 38,000 sq. ft..
After the year-end, the Group entered into a provisional agreement
with an independent third party, pursuant to which the Group has
agreed to dispose of all its interests in the project. The details are
disclosed in note 53(c) to the financial statements.

On the other hand, the Group has commenced the early stage of
development of the residential project located at Tung Chung Road,
Lantau Island. A land exchange application is currently in progress,
and construction work is expected to begin at the end of 2018. In
December 2016, the Group completed the sale of its entire interests
in the rental property of shops and car park spaces in Grand
View Garden located at Hammer Hill Road, Kowloon, which had
strengthened the liquidity position of the Group to facilitate
development projects with greater potential.
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" Management, Operation and Maintenance Contract for Cross-Harbour Tunnel in Hong Kong
BEBAWMEERENERE  2ERBERBERN
g High-end Safe Deposit Box Rental Services Offered by Royal England Safe Deposit Box Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W RO

Professional Services

The Group’s security and facility management segment under City
Services Group Limited (“City Services”) continued to prosper during
the Year with a record-high segmental revenue of HK$485 million,
which represents year-on-year growth of 12.9%. City Services also
achieved a strong profit performance, recording a segmental profit of
HK$16 million. Excluding the non-recurring expenses incurred for the
proposed spin-off and separate listing of City Services on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Proposed Spin-off”), segmental profit grew
by 25.6% as compared to the previous financial year.

Besides achieving a number of important contract renewals with
major clients, City Services also attracted a number of new clients
through its reputation for stringent professionalism. New contracts
secured during the Year include those for two properties of MTR
Corporation Limited (Harbour Green and Grand Austin), North
District Hospital, YOHO Mall | Extension, Two MacDonnell Road and
Shatin Donor Centre of Hong Kong Red Cross Blood Transfusion
Service. The Group also actively sought new business opportunities
for providing venue security services for major local events, such as
the Hong Kong Wine & Dine Festival, the Hong Kong Food Carnival
and the Hong Kong Brands & Products Expo.

Other Business

The Group has diversified its income streams by expanding the
scope of its business activities. During the Year, the Group secured
a six-year management, operation and maintenance contract
for Cross-Harbour Tunnel in Hong Kong, which commenced in
November 2016. The contract for management of Hong Kong's
busiest Cross-Harbour Tunnel presents an opportunity for the Group
to showcase its capabilities in infrastructure management and gain
valuable experience in this field.

The Group has also branched out into offering high-end safe deposit
box rental services. Operation commenced in the first half of 2017,
with the facilities occupying around 5,000 sq. ft. of space located
close to Hong Kong’s central business district. The facilities are
designed to meet the needs of high-end corporate customers and
offer 24-hour security services, the most advanced security system
and European-manufactured safe deposit boxes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly relies upon internally generated funds as well as
bank and other borrowings to finance its operations and expansion,
which is supplemented by equity funding when it is required.

At 31 March 2017, the total net debts of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$1,467.0 million,
of approximately HK$3,231.8 million less total of cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$1,764.8 million. The debt maturity
profile, based on scheduled repayment dates set out in loan
agreements of the Group at 31 March 2017, is analysed as follows:

Borrowings and obligations under hire
purchase contract and
finance leases repayable:
Within one year or on demand
After one year, but within two years
— On demand shown under
current liabilities
— Remaining balances
After two years, but within five years
— On demand shown under
current liabilities
— Remaining balances
Over five years
— On demand shown under
current liabilities
— Remaining balances

Guaranteed bonds
— Repayable after one year, but within
two years
Convertible bonds
— Repayable within one year
— Repayable after one year but within
two years

Total debts

representing total

debts

AR TIIMEEREZEER
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HK$ million
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BRI

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES (continued)

At 31 March 2017, the gearing ratio of the Group, being the
proportion of net interest bearing debts to equity attributable to
Shareholders, was 0.66 (2016: 0.74).

To minimise exposure on foreign exchange fluctuations, the Group’s
borrowings and cash balances are primarily denominated in Hong
Kong dollars or Renminbi which are the same as the functional
currency of the relevant group entities. The Group has no significant
exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations and shall use
derivative contracts to hedge against its exposure to currency risk
only when it is required. Furthermore, the Group’s borrowings have
not been hedged by any interest rate financial instruments. Details
of the structure and interest rate profile of the bank and other
borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2017 are set out in Note 31
to the financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the pledge of assets of the Group are set out in Note 31(e)
to the financial statements.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had approximately 4,990 employees as at 31 March
2017. Total remuneration of employees for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$1,429.5 million. Employees are remunerated
according to their nature of work and the market trend, with
merit-based components incorporated in the annual increment
review to reward and motivate individual performance. Employee
bonus is distributable based on the performance of the respective
divisions and the employees concerned. Moreover, the Group
provides in-house training program and sponsorship for external
training courses which are complementary to their job functions.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Construction

The Group expects stable performance from its construction
segment in the coming years as it capitalises on advantage of its
expertise and strong reputation to continue to secure valuable
contracts in Hong Kong. The Hong Kong government’s strong
political will to increase the housing supply makes it probable that a
steady stream of public housing projects will continue to emerge in
the next few years. Chun Wo’s proven experience in this field puts
the Group in a strong position to take advantage of these upcoming
business opportunities. At the same time, the continuing buoyancy
of Hong Kong’s private sector housing market suggests that
property developers will be looking to take advantage by launching
new development projects. This gives the Group considerable
optimism regarding the likely construction opportunities in the years
ahead.

The Group will also proactively expand its footprint overseas, in
particular Asia. It either has already secured or is negotiating for a
number of projects in Singapore, the Maldives, the Philippines and
other countries in the region.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Property Development and Investment

With regard to its property development and investment business,
the Group anticipates promising income to be generated from
“T PLUS” and the residential projects located at No. 128 Waterloo
Road and Tung Chung Road. The Group has also been negotiating
with a potential buyer for the disposal of certain interests in the
properties located in Shijiazhuang City, the People’s Republic of
China pursuant to the framework agreement entered into in June
2017. This is expected to bring reasonable returns and further
strengthen the liquidity position of the Group.

With the goal of participating more intensively in the vibrant
property market and expanding its project portfolio, the Group will
continue to explore business models for collaboration with potential
co-investors or other developers in ways that best utilise the Group’s
capital.

Professional Services

While continuing its efforts in enlarging its market share in the
security and facility management services market, it is the Group’s
intention to continue proceeding with the Proposed Spin-off of
City Services. The Company will issue further announcements
about material developments relating to the Proposed Spin-off in
accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as and when appropriate.

Overview

One of the main drivers behind the Group’s initiatives in the Year
to explore the acquisition or development of new business has
been our target to expand the Group’s regular income streams.
The Group will continue to seek potential investments or acquisition
targets which are in line with this belief in the future.

With the “Belt and Road” initiative beginning to be put into practice,
the Group is looking to take part in the process by offering its
services primarily as a provider of technical and consultancy
services, and as an investor should opportunities arise. The Group is
thus actively exploring Asian markets and looking for opportunities
to participate in these projects through merger-and-acquisition
activities where appropriate. Another focus will be potential
opportunities arising from the development plan for the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macau Big Bay Area.

The Group’s emphasis on growth, its efforts to develop strong and
recurrent income streams, and its strategic plans to export its skills
to the wider Asian market through collaborative partnerships, are all
measures aimed at enhancing its profitability and strengthening its
competitiveness. Building on core strengths developed over decades
of success, the Group is now ready to step more ambitiously into the
region’s growing markets and live up to the intentions declared in its
new name.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - 4t ERERTBE

INTRODUCTION #B=

Our Group is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of corporate 7 £ & B /) 7A 4 #5 7k$f£¥%i@§f£((ﬁ
social responsibility (“CSR”). The business sector is placing an #iM&FF]) o Fﬁﬁ'\El SERCEMSEMS
increasing emphasis on CSR performance, particularly in the aspects FRIR > TERNTENERE  AIFERRE - 1+
of safety and health, sustainable development, community impact [EEZENREFENEEERAE - HAIFHA
and law and regulatory compliance. We understand that we do BTNt eRELER - B8 - {HE
not operate our business in isolation of our society. Employees, 7 - &F - BRBE R R EEE AR FIN
suppliers, clients, the natural environment and the general #F7NE @ IAEELKEEKNHTAFE -
community are all our stakeholders influenced by the ways in which

our Group transacts the business.

During the Year, we have continued our efforts to enhance CSR BA$¢V ﬁzﬁELﬂyIE;E, mgﬁg;g(jﬁm
performance via various initiatives. The four key subject areas this SNt E¥H @ HTRE - BIE L@ RES
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report covers are: (fﬂa cHERER]) MEMAEBEIE()
() Workplace Quality, (Il) Environmental Protection, (lll) Operating T {EERIEE = - (i) IR ERE - (i) & EEH

Practices and (IV) Community Involvement. K(iv)#t@& | o

(I WORKPLACE QUALITY () THEREEZX
Our People 1M E’JEI
As at 31 March 2017, our Group had approximately 4,990 201743 A 31 B RNEELE 4,990
employees with the majority stationed in Hong Kong. We ZEE  RIMOERES - BMFEH
recognise that employees are valuable assets of our Group BB BANE @%ﬁ éf& IR EIEE
and embrace the philosophy of investing in people by providing RAAHIES [‘j WERME XD
them with a range of training programs that can enhance their RO EERGERAMESNEIEZEE &K
professional skills and knowledge. We are also committed MBI REEERESEF 2 2
to maintaining a safe and healthy working environment for FERIERE  UKBEHEFLEREH
all employees as well as to implementing equal opportunity eEHR o

employment practices.

Statistics in relation to employment EEERNHKITEE
Gender Distribution of Employees Employment Type
EEMRI D EEER
100% 80% o

80%
60%
60%
40%
40%

20% 19.5% 20.2% 18.0%
20%
0% Year 0% 14% 1.5% 0.6% Year
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 FE 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 FE
@ Male % ) Female % @ Top Management () Middle Management
BEHAESL ZHBESLH BEEEAS FEEEAS
@ Supervisory Operation
FE B
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WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Working Conditions

To attract, motivate and retain talents, our Group regularly
reviews our staff compensation and benefit packages to ensure
our benefits are competitive in the market. With reference to
prevailing market conditions, a review is conducted annually
on the pay packages of employees and other employment
benefits, which include the medical scheme, health check
program, travel insurance, training subsidies and retirement
benefits.

Development and Training

Continuing learning is one of our core values. The Group’s
support in development and training applies to staff of all
levels. We have been offering training sponsorship to all
staff members to encourage self-improvement in a learning
organisation since 2005. Employees are provided with
comprehensive in-house training and sponsorship for external
training courses including seminars, workshops, visits and
demonstrations to upgrade their skills and knowledge for
performing their duties more effectively and promoting their
personal development.

In addition, we offer internal career development and mentoring
opportunities to key staff members and professionals through
a variety of programs including GLAD Program for accounting
trainees, Core Program, Elite Program, Graduate/Freshman
Program for Engineers/Quantity Surveyors, Technical
Apprentice Program, Site Agent Development Program, to
name but a few. Our Group’s Chun Wo Construction and
Engineering Company Limited has also been certified by the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers (HKIE) as a Scheme A
Training approved organisation in Civil, Building and Building
Services disciplines since 1999.

(1
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - 4 ERERRSE

WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Development and Training (continued)

In recognition of the Group’s efforts and
accomplishments in manpower training and
development, our construction division has proudly
renewed the “Manpower Developer” accreditation
under the “ERB Manpower Developer Award Scheme”
organised by the Employees Retraining Board (“ERB”)
during the Year. City Security Company Limited (“City
Security”), another member of our Group, has also
been awarded the “ERB Merit Award for Employers”
by the ERB.

() (1

X

R
wE iR
POLOF igﬁ
s
fl

In 2016, our Group’s Chun Wo
Development Holdings Limited (“Chun
Wo”) together with its staff members
have grasped “The Best Employee
and Employer Award” of Junior
Chamber International Dragon. Chun
Wo has also received the “Partner
Employer Award” from The Hong
Kong General Chamber of Small and
Medium Business and “The Employer
of Choice Award - Corporate Social
Responsibilities Award” by Job Market.
In the same year, one of our Technical Apprentice has been
awarded “Certificate of Merit” in the Outstanding Apprentice
Award Scheme organised by Vocational Training Council.

Our Group has been accredited with the “Happy

HAPPY B 1 %

THERBEE »)
BRKRIEI
AREAEBEANEINER @A
MENDRKH  RAFE - RMANE
SAPILL RS BB [ERB A
FTEEFAEIBRTFIAATLE| L
B o AEES KRS RQ W EE
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BB R(RBES )N [ 28
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EARRKE-FAF - M
—HERMBRENBEIRE
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KEIERE]-

N B A 2013 £ 2017 F

Company” label from 2013 to 2017, reflecting our company MIFALE | % RILAE
dedication to realising the concept of “Happiness at 5years+ B HER[AOITIER] M

Work”. We are also committed to building a pleasant

working environment and increasing our staff’'s level of
happiness at workplace. We have set up a “Caring Hotline” for
our staff to request for help, enquire information and express
opinions.

The above accomplishments prove that our Group places great
value on people development and treasures the well-being of
all our employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Employee Safety and Health
By integrating internationally-recognised ISO 9001, ISO 14001
and OHSAS 18001 certifications into our quality, environmental
and occupational safety and health
management systems respectively, our
Group demonstrates our compliance
with health and safety standards. Our
Group’s “PDCA” system further ensures
each individual and team to contribute

its ability to meet statutory requirements Continuous

and achieve the ultimate goal of =
continuous improvement.
We are aware of the importance

of workplace safety. To guarantee
the occupational safety standards
of our construction operations,
we have introduced a safety audit
system designed to monitor the effectiveness of our safety
management system. For 2016, the corporate average safety
audit score was 86.8%, exceeding the target of 85% (in 2015,
the score was 88.1%).

In 2016, all safety indicators were in line with our objectives,
reflecting our dedication and achievements in construction site
safety.

Safety-related Conviction M > ERME I
Audit Score BEZDE
Accident Severity Rate REBINERE R

(Average man-days lost per case) (FHEREREBARIH)
For 2016, the Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) of the Group was
0.21 per 100,000 man-hours, which is better than the safety
target we set at the beginning of the year, i.e. AFR <0.22 per
100,000 man-hours. The low AFR we are able to maintain in
recent years is a testament to our excellent and consistent
occupational safety performance.

AFR (per 100,000 man-hours)
BHE (BHBIR)

018
016 014 0.15

2012

2013 2014 2015

RIR - HERERHRE
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Improvement
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2016
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - 4 ERERRE

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THEREEE )

Employee Safety and Health (continued)

A series of measures have been in place at various
construction project sites to protect the safety and health
of workers. These include mini health check stations, heat
shelters and water sprinklers on rooftops to dissipate heat
gain. At sites, “Morning Exercise” program was launched to
alert workers of the potential injuries and ways of prevention.
We have organised the basketball team, soccer team and table
tennis team for our employees and arranged friendly matches
with our joint venture partners to promote team spirit, harmony
and regular exercise among employees. Our basketball team
won the overall championship of Hong Kong Construction
Basketball League 2016, demonstrating the active participation
and excellence team spirit among our colleagues.

Safety and Health Policies

Our security and facility management divisions also follows
a well-structured management system and conduct annual
audit to ensure that we meet international standards. Both our
City Security and City Professional Management Limited (“City
Professional Management”) have received accreditations in
ISO 9001 quality management system standard, ISO 14001
environmental management system standard and OHSAS
18001 occupational health and safety management system
awarded by Hong Kong Certification Services International
Limited.

The safety and health of all our employees and the public
are of paramount importance to our Group. Thus, our senior
management places a strong emphasis on our safety and
health performance. To this end, our Group has set up an
effective occupational health and safety management system
conforming to the Factories and Industrial Undertakings
(Safety Management) Regulation and OHSAS 18001:2007
requirements. Related guidelines are stated in our Group’s
safety policy.
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WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Safety and Health Policies (continued)

Our target is to fulfill all relevant health, safety and
environmental protection regulatory requirements and provide
our staff with a hazard-free workplace. To achieve this, we
encourage all employees to take responsibility and comply with
the systems, policies, manuals, procedures and working rules
such as wearing personal protective equipment and reporting
violations of regulatory requirements or orders.

Employees are obligated to observe the Company’s polices
including but not limited to the following:

- No violence in the workplace

- No sexual harassment and discrimination
- An alcohol-free and drug-free workplace
- A non-smoking workplace

- Immediate reporting of accidents

- Familiarity with fire prevention and safety working
procedures

- Special arrangement for typhoons and rainstorm warnings

- Security of property and safety inspection

Safety and Health Awards

In the Year, our various business units garnered more than 60
safety and health awards, proving our effective implementation
of occupation safety and health system throughout the various
divisions in our Group. In particular, Chun Wo Foundations
Limited and City Security have received the industry honours of
the “Safety Management System Award — Construction (Gold
Award)” and “Best Property Contractor in Occupational Safety
and Health — Gold”, affirming our outstanding contribution to
industrial safety and health.

The Group is honoured to receive the following safety and
health awards in 2016:

MTRC Contractors Safety Conference

MTR Corporation Limited (“MTRC?”)

@  Subcontractor Safety Award — Safety Management
(Runner-up)

@  Contractors’ Supervisor Safety Award (Runner-up)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERRE

() TEREEE =

;é&ﬁiﬁﬂéﬂ(%f )

HARE }%iﬂﬁﬁ*ﬁ*ﬁ%@ﬁ’ﬂ@fﬁ%‘ﬁi%
EERREEER UnEERHERZE

BEENTHERE - RERUEER R
1Fﬂ*§if§bﬁﬁﬁ1&ﬁi’]7¥<*ﬂ*f1£13@_—rﬁ
BHE  BR - FM BFERIER
8- PlanE B EARERE RERE
REERERECHEMS -

BEABRARFRNEE  EFEHE
BETRRATEIE:

- MBEIFESHTONRN
- HRMREERER

- EEESNIFERE

- EEIERER

- BEEEmRBIEL

- AEBBARLRETIERF

- BERERESORBIZH

- DERZRZEKE

ZEREERERE

REAFERMZEXEBELEEEB
60fEZR 2 K@ FEIE - BIFRFMRA
SEXEY B EREEB X2 2 HE
ETZ'? cALHR  RMMETRERAR
T&ﬁﬂ?*ﬁ%ﬁéﬁﬁﬂki\ 32
F?(;% BE(2R)] RIRERTRE
MEEEANRB—SRIOKE  BE
BRETERERERIENER -

2016 F » NEBE K
8208

ETNRERiE

BEREBHLZEH
EBEEBERA 7 ([E&])

DHBELZER-L2EE(EEF)

AEELEETR(EHE)

2016/174 3§ azfaﬂaﬁeg@mﬁﬁﬁmao



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - 4 ERERRE

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THEREEE )
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZERBERLIE (&)
Labour Department EBTE
@  Safety Sub-Contractor (Gold Award) P RRREHE(SHE)
@  Safety Team (3 Meritorious Awards) P LTEKE(ZHEHERE)
@  Safety Worker P TEIKR
Innovative Safety Initiative Award 2016 BIEITRES 4
Development Bureau, Construction Industry Council (“CIC”) ZE/G » BE¥XZFER
& Hong Kong Construction Association (“HKCA”) EEZEERZE
@ Safety Operational Device (Gold Award) P TEBRERE(£H)
- Unpiloted Concrete Skip —E PR R S
@  Health and Welfare (Merit Award) P REERERHN(ERE)
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RIR - HERERRE

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () T {EBIEBEE = (&
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZERBERIE @)
22nd Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme F22 [F R BB A2
Development Bureau & CIC REBREZXEZE
@ Public Works — Model Subcontractor (Gold Award) @ IKEIR-E&EseRE(&8E)
@  Public Works — New Works (Bronze Award and @ IHEIR-—FE2IR(RERERE)
Merit Award)
@  Public Works — RMAA Works (2 Merit Awards) @ TIHKIE-—#E RE - SGERNZE
TR (MEBEHE)

@  Non-Public Works — New Works — Group B (Bronze Award) @  JELFITIE— iR Ti2 — B4 ($R4%)

@  Contractor Cooperative Training Scheme (Most Supportive @  FEE A EEIIEHEI(BVL 2 EEER
Contractor & Outstanding Trainer) Tt RIS )

n22he S TEIET ST TS e e

LT Al

MTRC Projects Safety Awards Ceremony 2016 2016 B& TEHE L2 fH5E12

MTRC BH

@ “HANDS OFF” Safety Innovation Awards — Gold Award @ [HANDS OFF] 22 A8IZ AE—5 8%
@ Safe Steps Award P LTrRiESE
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RIE - HERERERSE

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THEREEE )
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZERBERIE @)

Construction Safety Promotional Campaign 2016 BEELTPIHETE 2016

Occupational Safety & Health Council (“OSHC?) BEZZRER ([BZF])

@ Best Method Statement (Gold Award) P EEHEIHZE(ELE)

@  Best Safety Enhancement Program for Working P EESEIREREE(ERE)
at Height (Merit Award)

@ Best Safety Culture Site/Project Manager/Site Agent/ P REZEXLiE TEE KR
Activity Team/Sub-contractor (1 Bronze Award and BERE)/INE DR (—IER R
3 Merit Awards) R=ZTHEBRE)

@ Outstanding Bamboo Scaffolder in Occupational Safety @  BZ @& L (—ERE N HIE
and Health (1 Silver Award and 2 Merit Awards) BRE)

The 15th Hong Kong Occupational Safety & Health Award £+ & [E& B2 T2 EEFALE

OSHC BZ B

@ Safety Management System Award — Construction P LTEEEHEANE—FEE(SE)
(Gold Award)

@  OSH Annual Report Award (Merit Award) P BTEFRAKE(ERE)

@ Safety Performance Awards — Construction P TERRRE—EE(NEMBAE)
(for 9 subsidiaries)

Hong Kong Construction Association Safety Award BEBEAEELZEASE

HKCA EBELEHE

@ 2015 Proactive Safety Contractor Awards @ 2015 TEBEE T 2 RER
(for 2 subsidiaries) (FMEWEAR)

Hong Kong Green Awards 2016 EBFCIEALE2016

Hong Kong Green Council (“HKGC?”) EEBRRIEESE

@  Environmental, Health and Safety Award P HBERRLZEERB(RELE)
(Large Corporation) (Platinum and Gold Awards) (A& ke88)
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THERBEEZE
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZERRBRERE (8)
The Lighthouse Club HEE
@ Safe Subcontractor Award 2016 @ LTEHHEE2016
— Recognising Excellence in Safety (2 Bronze Awards) — HBZE2XRE (RERLE)
@  Safe Project Team Award 2016 @ LERIRIEREHKE2016
— Recognising Excellence in Safety (Bronze Award) — BHTERE (i)
@ Safe Foreman Award 2016 @ LTEREIHE2016
— Recognising Excellence in Safety (Bronze Award) — BHTERE (i)
@ Site Safety Practitioner Award 2016 @ THMZE2HEEAEE2016
— Recognising Excellence in Safety (Distinction) — BHLTERT(BHIE)

e
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RIR - 4 ERERRE

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THEREEZE )
Safety and Health Awards (continued) Z2 8 {LL:,%IE )

Construction Industry Safety Award Scheme 2016/17 BEELT 2 LEEE2016/17

Labour Department & OSHC ETERBZE

@ Building Sites (Public Sector) category (Meritorious P EFEEHER(RESY)(BEEN
Award and Good Performance Certificate) RIFRBEE)

@ Building Sites (Private Sector) category (Certificate V] %%E SRR (L&A 4 (BIFRIR
in Good Performance) HE)

@  Minor renovation and maintenance works category V] J\ﬂ'J HEREEIR(BEENSZHE
(Meritorious Prize and Certificate of Appreciation) EE)

@ Building Sites (Public Sector) category — Sub-contractor @ 1EFEEHE (DL EL) — REAH
(Sliver Award and Good Performance Certificate) (RERRFRBEEE)

@ Safety Team (1 Bronze Award, 2 Meritorious Prizes P LTEBME(-IHERE MEEESER
and 1 Good Performance Certificate) —HRITRIREE)

Hong Kong Safe and Healthy Estate Reaccreditation Scheme

BB EERER S

OSHC

BZE

@  Safe and Healthy Estate with Outstanding Performance @  LZ@EMHHRIR (BT EEEIE
(Grandeur Terrace managed by City Professional FrE I8 Y& R eT)
Management)

Best Property Safety Management Award 2016-17

REBZRYEEE X #2016-17

OSHC

Bz

@  Best Property Contractor in Occupational P SEBTRYETEAREG —SE
Safety and Health — Gold
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WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Safety Activities

To ensure the continuous improvement of occupational safety
and health standards, we have developed an evaluation
questionnaire to collect feedback from the participants of all
meetings, seminars and forums.

Our Group encourages employees to participate in
occupational safety and health voluntary services and share
expertise and information not only with colleagues but also
fellow workers in the Hong Kong construction industry. To
actively promote occupational safety throughout our Group, a
range of safety activities, including safety workshops, special
safety seminars and community activities, were organised
during the Year. Chun Wo Safety Campaign was held in 2016
with the aim of affirming our philosophy of embracing safety
standards and norms among our staff and stakeholders. It
was our honour to have government officials to attend as
honourable guests.

Through these activities, all participants have increased their
awareness and knowledge of occupational safety as well as
exchanged ideas, helping to promote the safety culture in our Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Compliance with Employment Laws

We have adopted the comprehensive Employee Handbook
for employees of our Group and review the policies from
time to time to ensure that we comply with the Employment
Ordinance in respect of employment protection and benefits
for employees. Our human resource functions of different
business units also observe the departmental manual to adhere
to legal and regulatory requirements throughout the recruitment
process and avoid the employment of illegal labour.

ISR R Pl
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HERERERSE

ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

As a responsible corporate citizen, our Group has established
policies and measures to minimise pollution, efficiently utilise
energy, reduce waste and expand recycling in our operation.
Risk-based thinking, life-cycle perspective and mitigation have
been incorporated into our management system to address the
latest environmental challenges. Our Group has established
effective environmental management systems in compliance
with internationally-recognised I1SO 14001 and ISO 50001
standards. Adhering to the core values of the Group, we are
members of various environmental groups and actively support
these organisations.

Waste Management Hierarchy has been adopted on-site to
reduce waste production and enhance recycling. Reusable
wastes such as earth, broken concrete and temporary works
are reused at other construction sites. Plastic wastes of
expired safety helmets, damaged water barriers and traffic
cones are recycled as plastic granules at EcoPark. Pressure on
landfill disposal has been reduced through these measures.

Infrequent hazardous waste from demolition of old structures
or equipment (e.g. asbestos), which accounted for less than
0.001% of the total waste generated, has been separated and
treated in accordance with local regulations.

The Group continuously manages its resources and energy use
in an eco-friendly manner by:

— implementing Eco-Friendly Actions in our offices and
project sites to promote environmental awareness;

— promoting the use of B5 bio-diesel with the aim of
reducing carbon emission by 3%;

— managing fuel and electricity usage through deployment
of high efficiency equipment;

— phasing out traditional T8 tubes and replacing with
energy-saving T5 fluorescence tubes and LED lighting;

— using Lighting Management System (LMS) to control
power voltage and save energy;

— reusing wastewater after sedimentation treatment for site
cleaning, water suppression systems, wheel washing at
site access, water barrier filling, etc.;

— reusing recycled water for preliminary air lifting of bore
piles; and

— reusing water dripping from air-conditioners for roof
sprinkler cooling systems and watering of plants.
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(I) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued)

The Group is committed to managing resources used in
construction in order to maximise the benefits in environmental
protection, energy efficiency and carbon footprint reduction.

Sustainability designs and construction methods have been
initiated in our project sites with developed mitigation measures
to protect our environment, reduce waste generation and
enhance recycling. In one of our projects, namely Water
Resources Education Centre of Water Supplies Department of
the Hong Kong government, the Zero Dust Grouting System
is introduced to minimise dust generation on-site. Building
Information Modelling has been also applied to accurately
predict construction process aiming to reduce excavation
and lateral support waste materials. The waste materials are
recycled as ecological bricks for use at other construction
sites. In addition, as the project site is located along the flight
path of wetland birds of Deep Bay, the site office is protected
by high frequency devices with artworks of birds of prey on top
of the office, maintaining sustainability of the environment.

RIR - dERERRE

(n) RERE =

AEBEONRIREFEEERER -
IEEERMEIRIFRE L RYE N
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EBEREAGR URLPTHELENE
®e RAMEMEEEMBEL - UE
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RREANEMELEME - I B
IR B B8R A7 B R YIRS R R
TG WRBRAZTUSHAEBRSE
RE VREARSNER #FRE
ARERR -

Priority 125% Yy % Y S Y
. Recovery and Reuse of Avoidance and
%éﬁposal ;(;E?tment Recycling Materials Minimization
- B TEIREE ERAMH BERBSHD

Our Group has extended the carbon emission monitoring
system from the head offices to project sites since 2004.
Eco-Friendly Actions, such as paperless meetings, switching
off lighting and appliances (computers and monitors) during
lunch hours and maintaining indoor temperature at 24.5°C,
have also been implemented at offices and construction sites
to enhance staff’s environmental awareness for reducing
energy consumption and carbon emissions. We also support
eco-renovation by applying energy-saving lighting, utilising
natural light in interior design and reusing old furniture.

H 2004 Fi - AEE AR
At B SR AEEREHEE MR -
BRTRBAE R EEMRE GEMR
KEHE NTREESHBERERRR
ER(EMEFERH)LAFERNRER
BEK245F MRS EIMNRRER
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RIR - 4 ERERRE

(1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) (n BERE @

Carbon audit has been conducted at various offices and R2016F » BRFINZERAEREE
construction sites in 2016, identifying carbon emission AR EITIRE R - BERFESR R
inventory, waste reused and recycled procedures. Our Group BEYMERLBEREBESELE - R2017
has begun to establish a comprehensive group-wide carbon FoAEBCHBER L EZEREEHR
audit system which further extends the existing scope to BRENKETRES E—PHRABE
monitor emission data of the different business units under our THWREENSEERIEREAER TR
Group in 2017. ES N v

In 2016, our Company and Chun Wo have
been awarded the CarbonCare® ESG Label
and CarbonCare® Action Label respectively
by CarbonCare InnolLab, recognising our
achievement in adopting innovative carbon
reduction solutions and high standards of
ESG reporting.

R2016%F @ AR A REMD B KB
A8 Bl vy R B[RRI R ESG R4 | )2
[ERAETSHEER] KRBRARE
e B ¥R BX 48 e P ERAS B9 B BE DA B =
IKFHRE  HENERER -

Environmental Awards RREIE
Our Group’s efforts in contributing to environmental protection AEEEERMBRRAEBNE HEIHE
have been recognised by the community with the following 5T WHRAFEARNLEENTRR
environmental awards received during the Year: #2715
HKGC BEEBRRIEEE
@  Green Management Award — Corporate P EBURREER DX
Gold Award ik
@  Green Management Award (Large Corporation) P EERRERS(KRELE)
— Project Management —IHEEE
2 Platinum Awards, 1 Gold Award and WMBEAeHE  —He®EK
3 Silver Awards ZIAREE
@  Environmental, Health and Safety Award P BERFZEERE(KELE)
(Large Corporation)
Platinum and Gold Awards He ke

@ ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2016/17



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HERERHE

(1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) (n BERE @
Environmental Awards (continued) RERIE @)
Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence EERIZIHALE
— Construction Industry —EEE
Environmental Campaign Committee BRREBHZSEE
@  Silver Award @ iRiE
Projects Quality, Safety, Environmental and Stakeholder ITEEERE %
Engagement Awards BRI E AR 2E 2
MTRC B
@ Bronze Environmental Award P IRIRIAEE
22nd Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme F22[FREMBBEFTE
Development Bureau & CIC REEREL¥ZS
@ Outstanding Environmental Management & Performance P BHIEREEERRFAB(EBER
Awards (Gold and Merit Awards) BRLE)
2016 Hong Kong Construction Environmental Awards BEEELERAZ2016
HKCA EBEEHE
@ 2 Environmental Merit Awards P MERREER
BCI Asia Awards 2016 BCI W% 5EH 2016
FuturArc FuturArc
@  FuturArc Green Leadership Award 2016 — @ FuturArcIRIRFRETSLE2 R 4E2016 -
Institutional — Merit MRS - BRE

lisbrmraity Lisrary Exlamiben,
T CRimene Laireunp of Hosg Lawyg
aETIEUTICRAL i W Ll o B k1 b T L 201
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HERERRE

BB |

(1) OPERATING PRACTICES (1) & E &l
Supply Chain Management fit pE gt g 1=
We recognise that supply chain management is essential to TR HEEE IR TR & E R
operational efficiency and therefore work closely with suppliers RARsERE) — 3R - (A 39 (L pE
and contractors to effectively and efficiently meet our clients’ HREAHEEZASE BRKAIT2EH
needs, while emphasizing responsible operating practices. BEEBENARBERERPE R F

Our Group is stringent in selecting qualified suppliers, ensuring
that their entire production process is in line with our standards
and specifications. Not only do we require our new suppliers
to submit all relevant documents for review, we also run
background checks to evaluate their reliability. We conduct
regular inspections and evaluations to review the standards of
our suppliers and cease cooperation with unqualified suppliers.
We are committed to developing and maintaining effective and
mutually fruitful working relationships throughout our entire
supply chain.

Product/Service Responsibility

We recognise that good quality products and services are keys
to success and enhance our competitive edge. Adhering to this
belief, our Group has established the Quality Management System
embedded with risk-based thinking, life-cycle perspective and
mitigations. Such system is implemented by reliable business
teams, ensuring the quality of our products and services as well
as efficient handling of all queries from our clients.

The heads of individual business units discuss any particular
incident related to our products and services with the relevant
division managers, project managers, supporting departments
and committees sharing their views regarding various aspects
of good standards and statutory compliance. Corresponding
improvements are planned and implemented across all levels.
Senior management also regularly conducts reviews with
business units and takes necessary precautionary measures
whenever applicable.

We maintain reliable electronic and hard copy recording
systems at various stages, including material delivery notes,
origin certificates, method statements, traceability records,
inspection and testing reports, etc., to facilitate any needs for
a recall. Recall procedures are traced through our recording
system to obtain relevant information to make decisions on any
further action that may be necessary.
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(1) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Product/Service Responsibility (continued)

Our Group implements stringent quality control measures
comprising detailed operational flows and procedures, project
management and staff training to ensure that we deliver high
quality services to our clients. In recognition of our quality
assurance, our various business divisions have been accredited
with ISO 9001 quality management system standard.

To address regulatory requirements in the context of property
sales, in addition to internal staff members, external legal
advisors and professional consultancy firms are appointed to
advise on the compliance of relevant laws and regulations,
particularly the Residential Properties (Firsthand Sales)
Ordinance which regulates the provisions of sales brochures,
promotional advertisements, price lists, show flats, viewing
of properties, sales arrangements, execution of agreements,
register of transactions and the like, as well as observance and
performance of the conditions set out in the Land Grant and
the pre-sale consent under the Lands Department Consent
Scheme.

Our security and facility management divisions also adopt
control measures in respect of compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations, especially the license requirements
under the Security and Guarding Services Ordinance and
responsibilities of a property manager under the Building
Management Ordinance.

Data Protection and Privacy Policies

All employees are prohibited from disclosing any confidential
information such as customer data under our privacy
protection policy. Consumer data including project-related
information and other sensitive information are subject to
access right control to ensure its security and prevent any
abuse or misuse. Our Group observes Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance and reviews our human resource and business
practices from time to time to ensure its compliance.

Anti-corruption

Our Group believes that honesty, integrity and fair play are
important contributors to the value of our assets and business.
It is therefore essential for all employees to ensure that our
Group’s reputation will not be tarnished by dishonesty,
disloyalty or corruption. Various policies and guidelines are
in place to avoid any breach of the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance.

RIR - HERERERE
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RIS - HERERESE

(11) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued) (& EEHF @

Anti-corruption (continued)

Employees should decline an offer of gift if
acceptance of it could affect their objectivity in
conducting our Group’s business, induce them to

act against the interests of our Group or lead to = ¥

allegations of impropriety. If an employee wishes . '__&

to accept a gift with the amount greater than the
limit as stated in our Employee Handbook, such
employee should seek written permission from the
managing director of the particular subsidiary or @ MERM
our Group. Any employee in breach of the code @~
of conduct in the Employee Handbook will be
subject to disciplinary action including termination
of employment.

Periodic written reminders are sent to our business partners
and suppliers about our Group’s policy regarding “No
Acceptance of Advantages”.

Conflict of Interests

All employees should avoid any situation which may lead to
an actual or potential conflict of interests and should make a
declaration in writing to the head of the subsidiary or our Group
when such a situation arises. Failure to do so may give rise to
allegations of favoritism, abuse of authority or even corruption.

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

The Group believes that operating a successful enterprise
includes contributing to the society. In the past year, in line
with the Group’s vision of CSR, Chun Wo, a key member of
the Group, has worked with Ebenezer School & Home for the
Visually Impaired in organising a series of activities to promote
integration of able-bodied and disabled persons and bring
harmony to the community.

Supporting students and tertiary educations has been another
area of focus of our Group’s CSR initiatives over the past
year. Our Group has offered donations to support students
studying at The University of Hong Kong and provided funding
for an innovation and technology research programme being
conducted by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University for the
sustainable development of the construction industry.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

“Light You Up” NGO Partnership Programme

2016/17

With the aim of promoting integration of able-bodied and
disabled persons and bringing harmony to the community,
Chun Wo has partnered with Ebenezer School & Home
for the Visually Impaired during the year 2016/17. The
non-governmental organisation has a 120-year history of
providing caring services to the elderly, as well as offering
education and rehabilitation services to infants and students
who are visually impaired.

A series of activities have been organised and our staff have
been able to better understand the difficulties that the visually
impaired face, and thus becoming more considerate towards
these individuals. Moreover, this understanding has been
promulgated among their family members, friends and personal
networks.

The various activities organised during the Year include the
following:

1. Experience the Darkness - The workshop enabled
our staff to experience the way of living of the visually
impaired through games in darkness and making Braille
greeting cards.

2. Team Building Workshop - Students from Ebenezer
School & Home for the Visually Impaired were invited
to join a team building workshop with our staff from the
project of Design and Construction of Redevelopment of
Kwai Chung Hospital (Phase 1). The students were able
to interact with our staff members and gain confidence in
working with others through team building games.
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RIS - HERERESE

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)
“Light You Up” NGO Partnership Programme
2016/2017 (continued)

3.

Guide Dog Workshop - Guide dogs are not only
good companions of the visually impaired, but also
contributors to their mobility and safety. By learning
about the unique characteristics of these canine
friends, our staff were able to understand how to better
accommodate guide dog users.

My Voice My Life Charity Film Gala — To demonstrate our
support for the fund raising event organised by Ebenezer
School & Home for the Visually Impaired, Chun Wo
sponsored one of the theatres where participants of our
fan page’s event were able to enjoy the inspiring film My
Voice My Life.

Joint Music Performance — Our colleague Mr. Edmund
Mok, who is also a talented musician, presented a
music performance during Walk with Pride 120, a charity
walkathon organised by Ebenezer School & Home for
the Visually Impaired with their students and alumni’s
participation. The students and Mr. Mok also showcased
their musical talent by performing together in the Group’s
Annual Gathering — “Fun Halloween”. Mr. Mok also

represented Chun Wo in receiving the Certificate of
Appreciation presented by Mr. Matthew Cheung Kin-
chung, Chief Secretary for Administration of Hong Kong,
on behalf of Ebenezer as a compliment for our excellence
performance in CSR practice.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

CSR Award Scheme and Harmonious
Community Programme

To support and encourage staff’'s participation in volunteer
services, an award scheme was launched last year to
recognise colleagues who are committed to completing
specified service hours. A total of 259 staff members joined
the scheme and 3,840 service hours were recorded through
participation in the Harmonious Community Programme, which
covers the 18 districts of Hong Kong where our project sites
are located.

Our colleagues of the project of
Design and Construction of New
Territories West Regional Office and
Water Resources Education Centre
of Water Supplies Department visited
the elderly at Tin Yiu Estate, Tin
Shui Wai and the mentally disabled
during workshops organised by
SAHK at Wo Che Estate, Shatin.
Our colleagues expressed their care
through the distribution of “Lucky Bags” and helped install
water filters at the homes of the elderly, which can reduce
water consumption by 45%. Furthermore, our colleagues
spared an enjoyable afternoon making chocolates with the
mentally disabled.

Moreover, our staff from the Wang Yip Street West Project
supported the South Asian Culture Fun Day “Asia Walekum”
organised by Tung Wah Group of Hospitals by setting up
a game booth with the aim of enhancing public awareness
towards embracing cultural diversity, which is essential for
building a harmonious society.

In addition, over 50 staff of Chun
Wo’s Building Division joined Pink
Walk for Breast Health “Walk the
Talk”. The annual flagship event
of Hong Kong Breast Cancer
Foundation (“HKBCF”) helped
raise funds for the development
of HKBCF Kowloon Breast Health
Centre.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - 4 ERERRE

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

CSR Award Scheme and Harmonious
Community Programme (continued)
The Harmonious Community
Programme is now in its third year.
In 2016 alone, our staff participated
in 75 volunteer activities organised
by different project sites. This again
proves that the Programme is an
effective means for our Group to
contribute to the community.

Our colleagues of City Services
also actively participated in
community services, including LST
Buddy - Chinese New Year Visits and Dragon Boat Festival
Voluntary Services organised by The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent
Society, to deliver festival gifts and offer their blessings to the
elderly.

Scholarships for Tertiary Students and
Sponsorship of University Research

Our Group supports the sustained growth of the construction
industry by providing scholarships to tertiary students studying
engineering and quantity surveying, as well as by funding
university research that drives innovation in the industry.

Scholarships have been awarded to students from institutions
including The University of Hong Kong, The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology, Vocational Training
Council and Construction Industry Council. Also, we have
made donations amounting to HK$100,000 to support
students in Project Mingde, which is a volunteering construction
and education project established by the Department of Civil
Engineering, The University of Hong Kong.

In addition, our Group has provided HK$400,000 as part of
the sponsorship for The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
its project of “Develop 3D Geodatabase Framework for Hong
Kong — A Lightweight 3D Seamless Spatial Data Acquisition
System (SSDAS)”. The project receives funding from the
Hong Kong government’s Innovation and Technology Fund,
and is provided with pilot project sites for trial runs and data
gathering, which will help realise in its eventual success.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

Business-School Partnership Programme (BSPP)

and Future Stars Programme

The Group has participated in the Business-School Partnership
Programme (BSPP) organised by the Education Bureau for
the second consecutive year. Seven students from Form 4 to
Form 6 were invited to work at our head office, including in
the departments of administration, corporate communications,
information technology and
“Lifewire” for four days. The
students gained an understanding
of careers in the construction
industry and a wider perspective of
the workplace.

This vyear, the Group has also
joined the Future Stars Programme
organised by the Commission
on Poverty, which provides
scholarships to enhance the
capabilities of young people from
less privileged background.

Donations to Charities

The Group has made donations to various charitable
organisations in Hong Kong during the Year. Financial support
of over HK$920,000 was extended to The Community Chest
of Hong Kong, Oxfam Hong Kong, Sowers Action, Youth
Outreach, Senior Citizen Home Safety Association, WiseGiving
Charitable Trust and funds operated for the construction
industry, including The Lighthouse Club Hong Kong Benevolent
Fund and Construction Charity Fund, etc.

CSR Awards and Recognition

Caring Company

With nominations from Lifewire, Senior Citizen Home Safety
Association and Evangelical Lutheran Church Social Service
— Hong Kong, Chun Wo is proud to have been awarded
the 10 Years Plus Caring Company Logo from The Hong
Kong Council of Social Service for the
year 2016/17. Chun Wo has been a
recipient of the Caring Company Logo
for twelve consecutive years. In addition,
with  nominations from Christian Action
and Hong Kong College of Technology,
City Security and City Professional
Management have both been awarded the
5 Years Plus Caring Company Logo for the
year 2016/17.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERRSE

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

CSR Awards and Recognition (continued)

SE Supporter+

2016 marks the second year of Chun Wo being awarded
“SE Supporter+”. The “SE Supporter” Award Scheme was
established by Fullness Social Enterprises Society Limited
to recognise efforts made in
promoting collaborations between
different organisations and sectors
that benefit social enterprises,
leading to the development of a
more harmonious society.

Partner Employer Award

Chun Wo has been honoured with
the Partner Employer Award for
2016/17 from The Hong Kong
General Chamber of Small and
Medium Business. The award is in

(IVHtEZHE ()
TEHEEERBEREN 5
BB
BRR2016E S —F B [ =5
AR | K8 o [ IR RS |
HERERECERGERARMKT

SHEXBTRARERAZEE
PHECYBRIAE  UmE

2016 $uppovter+ B EZER
HERFHLEME

[KEER | ZE&FE

EMETSFP /PR XA ER

2016/17 KB R | #8318 - Z|WIEEX
BN E B RS AN s BT 2R K
AERELFEMAENS S - &
BEELESEIRSREBRE
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graduates training opportunities and
practical experience that facilitate
their long-term career planning.

THE FUTURE

Our Group for its part recognises the importance of CSR and
pursues continuous enhancement of our CSR performance. In
conducting our business, we will continue to take into account
the interest of all our stakeholders and actively engage the various
stakeholders with a sustainable business model.

Our Group will regularly review our Corporate Social Responsibility
Policy to ensure our CSR initiatives and performance address the
needs of the society in the changing environment.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic BA, MBA, JD

Chairman

Mr. Pang, aged 44, graduated from the University of Columbia, New
York in 1995 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics, Political
Science and Mathematics, and obtained a Juris Doctorate from the
New York University School of Law in 1998 and an Executive Master
of Business Administration degree from Kellogg-HKUST in 2010.
After working at a well-known law firm for two years in Wall Street,
New York, he moved on to set up three information technology
system and solution companies. Mr. Pang joined the Group in 2003
and was appointed as the assistant to the late Chairman, Dr. Pang
Kam Chun. He holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the
Company and is in charge of evaluating new business opportunities
and management of the Group’s property development ventures
local and abroad.

Mr. Pang was appointed as the Chairman and Executive Director of
the Company in April 2010 and re-designated as the Co-Chairman
and Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2015. He
has been further re-designated as the Chairman and Executive
Director of the Company in March 2017. Mr. Pang is also the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee and Executive Committee
of the Board and a member of the Management Committee of the
Board. Mr. Pang is the brother of Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick,
Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Operating Officer of the Company, and the son of Madam Li Wai
Hang, Christina (“Madam Li"), one of the senior management of
the Group. Mr. Pang is a director of GT Winners, the controlling
shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules). Mr.
Pang and Madam Li each owns 45% equity interest in GT Winners.

There is no service contract and fixed term of service between
Mr. Pang and the Company. Mr. Pang is entitled to a salary
and other benefits totalling HK$2,614,800 per annum, which
is determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities
and the prevailing market conditions. Mr. Pang is also eligible
for a performance-based bonus subject to the approval of the
Remuneration Committee of the Board.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSEEEAEREHR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Mr. Xu Jianhua LLB, MBA, LLM

Deputy Chairman

Mr. Xu, aged 48, holds a Bachelor’s degree in Law of the China
University of Political Science and Law, a Master degree in
Business Administration of Beijing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics and a Master of Laws degree in International Economic
Law of City University of Hong Kong. He was qualified as a lawyer
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) in 1994 and a
senior economist in the PRC in 2003. Mr. Xu has over 15 years
of corporate management experience and extensive experience
in transactions of mergers and acquisitions and investment and
financing. He was a director of a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and two companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Xu was appointed as the Co-Chairman
and Executive Director of the Company in January 2015. He has
been re-designated from the Co-Chairman to the Deputy Chairman
in March 2017 and is currently a member of the Management
Committee and Executive Committee of the Board. Mr. Xu also holds
directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick JP, BSc, MEng, MBA, PhD, PE(US),
MICE, MHKIE

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer

Ir Dr. Pang, aged 42, graduated from the University of California,
Berkeley in the United States in 1997 with a Bachelor of Science
degree and obtained a Master of Engineering degree in Civil
and Environmental Engineering from Massachusetts Institute of
Technology in the United States in 1998 and a Master degree in
Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 2007. He also obtained a Doctor of Philosophy in Civil Engineering
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
2014. Ir Dr. Pang is a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers,
the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
and a Registered Professional Engineer in the State of California,
United States. He has over 17 years of geotechnical design and
construction experience in the United States and Hong Kong. He
has been appointed as a non-official member of the Land and
Development Advisory Committee in July 2015 and has served as
a non-official member of the Construction Industry Council since
February 2017.

Ir Dr. Pang joined the Group in 2001 and holds directorships in
certain subsidiaries of the Company. He has been appointed as
Executive Director of the Company since April 2010 and acted as
the Deputy Chairman of the Company from April 2010 to March
2017. Ir Dr. Pang has been appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Operating Officer of the Company since April
2017. He is also the Chairman of the Management Committee
and a member of the Executive Committee of the Board. He is the
brother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the Chairman and Executive
Director of the Company, and also the son of Madam Li, one of
the senior management of the Group, both of whom are controlling
shareholders of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Lam, aged 48, is the general manager of Securities Services
and Capital Markets at Wanda Hotel Development Company
Limited (stock code: 00169), which is listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange and a member of the Dalian Wanda Group.
He was an executive director of Yuexiu Property Company Limited
(stock code: 00123), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and also the chief financial officer of the Yue Xiu
Group. Mr. Lam was previously the head of Corporate Finance
and Business Development at GOME Electrical Appliances Holding
Limited (stock code: 00493) (“GOME”), one of China’s largest
electronics retailers, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prior to joining GOME, he spent about 10 years working
in investment banking and capital markets at Schroders Asia, ABN
AMRO Rothschild, and Deutsche Bank. He is a Chartered Financial
Analyst (CFA) and holds a Master of Business Administration (MBA)
degree from Rice University in the United States. Mr. Lam has been
appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since January 2017 and is also the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Board.

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Mr. Ho, aged 40, is the managing partner of AID Partners Capital
Limited and the executive director and chief executive officer
of AID Partners Technology Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 08088). Mr. Ho has extensive experience in the area of
corporate management, investments, corporate finance, merger
and acquisition transactions and international brand and retail
management. He was the vice president of ITC Corporation Limited
(@ company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 00372), the senior investment director of New World
Development Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00017), an executive director
of New World Strategic Investment Limited and was a partner of an
international law firm Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver and Jacobson LLP.

Mr. Ho is a committee member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Shenyang, a standing committee
member of the Youth Federation of Inner Mongolia and a vice
chairman of Inner Mongolia & Hong Kong Youth Exchange
Association. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a
Bachelor of Laws degree from The University of Sydney, Australia
and is a solicitor admitted in New South Wales, Australia and
England and Wales and a solicitor and barrister admitted in the High
Court of Australia.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSEEEAEREHR

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

(continued)

Mr. Ho had been a non-executive director of Renhe Commercial
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 01387) during December
2007 to February 2012, a non-executive director of Capital
Environment Holdings Limited (stock code: 03989) during January
2010 to September 2010, an independent non-executive director of
Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 00640)
during March 2010 to November 2013 and an executive director
of HMV Digital China Group Limited (stock code: 08078) during
October 2016 to June 2017, and is an independent non-executive
director of Kam Hing International Holdings Limited (stock code:
02307) since May 2010 and Hailiang International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 02336) since May 2014 (all of the above-mentioned
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange). Mr. Ho has been
appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in January 2017 and is also a member of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Board.

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Mr. Wu, aged 50, holds a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree and a Master of Business Administration degree of Simon
Fraser University in Canada. He was qualified as a chartered financial
analyst of The Institute of Chartered Financial Analysts in 1996.
He was the chief executive officer of Sunwah Kingsway Capital
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 00188) from April 2006 to September 2010.
Mr. Wu is currently an executive director and chief executive officer
of RHB Hong Kong Limited. He previously worked for a number
of international investment banks and possesses over 22 years of
experience in the investment banking, capital markets, institutional
broking and direct investment businesses. He is a registered license
holder to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on
securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). He has been
appointed as a member of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
since January 2013. Mr. Wu has been appointed as Independent
Nonexecutive Director of the Company since February 2015 and
is also the Chairman of Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Board.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Group

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant (alias Martin) BBus., MEcon., LLM,
FCPA(Aust.), CPA, CTA, ACMA, ISCA, ATIHK, CGMA

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr. Shea, aged 50, graduated from Monash University of Australia
with a Bachelor degree in Business and later completed a
postgraduate programme of Public Finance (Taxation) and obtained
a Master degree in Economics from Jinan University, China and a
Master of Laws degree from Renmin University of China. He is a
fellow member of CPA Australia, a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong,
The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants of the United
Kingdom and Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and a
Chartered Global Management Accountant. He is also a Certified
Tax Adviser of Hong Kong and a China Tax Committee member of
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and obtained a Certificate of
Pass in Practice Training Examination for Hong Kong Certified Tax
Advisers Serving in Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service Industry
Cooperation Zone, Qianhai, Shenzhen jointly issued by Shenzhen
Municipal Office of the State Administration of Taxation and
Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau.

Mr. Shea has substantial experience in accounting and finance in
listed companies and worked as qualified accountant and company
secretary in various companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange over the years. He was the group financial controller
of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01184) from 1999 to
2005. He has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
008371) since 2002 and is also the chairman of the audit committee
of the company. He has also been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Hi-Level Technology Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 08113) since 2015 and is the chairman
of the audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the company. Mr. Shea joined the Group as Financial
Controller of property development in 2008 and has been appointed
as the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the
Company since 2015. He is also currently a member of the Executive
Committee of the Board and the property development executive
board and other business executive board of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSEEEAEREHR

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)
Construction Segment

Mr. Lee Ka Lun, Stephen BA(AS), B. Bidg, Dip Proj Man (RICS), FRICS,
FHKIS, ACIArb, RPS(QS)

Mr. Lee, aged 60, graduated from The University of Hong Kong
with a Bachelor of Arts (Architectural Studies) degree in 1980 and a
Bachelor of Building degree in 1982. He is a Registered Professional
Surveyor (QS) with fellow membership of the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors and The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
and membership of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators. He is on
the List of Arbitrators of Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre
and is a member of the Joint Panel of Arbitrators of The Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors and The Hong Kong Institute of Architects. Mr.
Lee has 36 years’ experience in quantity surveying and commercial
management in Hong Kong, the Mainland China, Taiwan, Macau,
Singapore and Malaysia. He worked with the Group from 1998
to 2005 and re-joined the Group in 2011. Mr. Lee is a Director
(Legal and Commercial) of the Group. He is also currently the
Chief Executive Officer of the construction segment of the Group,
responsible for the management of the overall construction business
of the Group.

Mr. Yiu Chi Sang, Andy Dip(Eng), LLB(Hons), MA(ArbDR), MSc(C.Mgt),
MRICS, MICE, MHKIE, MASCE, FCIArb, FHKIArb, CEng

Mr. Yiu, aged 61, graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University in
1981 with a Diploma in Civil Engineering. He was awarded a Master
of Arts degree in Dispute Resolution and Arbitration in 1995 and
a Master of Science degree in Construction Management in 1998
from City University of Hong Kong. He further obtained a Bachelor
of Laws degree in 2004 from the University of Wolverhampton,
the United Kingdom. He is a member of the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors, the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United
Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and the American
Society of Civil Engineers as well as a fellow member of the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, the United Kingdom and the Hong
Kong Institute of Arbitrators. Mr. Yiu has over 36 years’ experience
in the construction industry, including civil, building, foundation and
marine engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau, Vietham and the
Mainland China. He re-joined the Group in 2008 and is currently the
Chief Operating Officer of the consturction segment of the Group,
responsible for the management of the overall construction business
of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Construction Segment (continued)

Mr. Ko Wing Nin, Ken BSc(Eng), MSc(Eng), CEng, MICE, FHKIE, RPE(Civil),
AFCHKRI

Mr. Ko, aged 53, graduated from Chu Hai College in 1986 with a
Bachelor of Science and Engineering degree in Civil Engineering. He
also obtained a Master degree in Civil and Structural Engineering
from the University of Sheffield, the United Kingdom in 1994
and a Master degree in Construction Law from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2011. He is a member of the Institution of
Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom, a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers, a Registered Professional Engineer
in civil discipline in Hong Kong and an Associate Fellow of China
Hong Kong Railway Institution. He has 31 years’ experience in the
construction industry including civil, building, foundation and marine
engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau and the United Arab
Emirates. Mr. Ko joined the Group in 2006, and has been appointed
as a director of Chun Wo Foundations Limited since 2014 to take
charge of foundation works. He currently acts as a director of Chun
Wo Construction Holdings Company Limited and is in charge of Civil
Business Unit. He is also a member of the construction executive
board of the Group, responsible for the management of the overall
construction business of the Group.

Mr. Lau Tai Wai, David FHKIE, FHKIHT, CEng, MICE, MIStructE,
MCIArb, RPE (Civil, Structural)

Mr. Lau, aged 58, graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 1982. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers and the Hong Kong Institution of Highways
and Transportation and a member of the Institution of Civil
Engineers, the Institution of Structural Engineers and the Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators of the United Kingdom as well as a Registered
Professional Engineer in civil and structural disciplines in Hong Kong.
He has 35 years’ experience in a wide range of civil engineering
from a diversified perspective of management, construction, design
as well as build-operate-transfer (BOT) in Hong Kong, the Mainland
China and Taiwan. Mr. Lau joined the Group in 2013. He is currently
Director of the construction segment and is in charge of Civil
Business Unit.

Mr. Lee Chun Fai, Rayland BSc, MHKIE, MICE, CEng, PEng, RPE

Mr. Lee, age 62, graduated from the University of Manitoba, Canada
in 1979 with a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering. He is
a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, the Institution
of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom and the Association of
Project Management as well as a Registered Professional Engineer
in civil discipline in Hong Kong. He has 37 years’ experience in
heavy construction industry on tendering, supervision and project
management in local and overseas market. Mr. Lee joined the Group
in 2010. He is currently a director of the construction segment and
is in charge of the Civil Business Unit and Overseas Business Unit of
the construction segment.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSEEEAEREHR

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Construction Segment (continued)

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina

Madam Li, aged 66, joined the Group in 1975 and has over 38
years’ experience in the construction industry. She acted as
Executive Director of the Company from July 1992 to February
2015. She currently holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Madam Li is the mother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic,
the Chairman of the Board and Executive Director of the Company,
and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer of the Company. She is
a director of GT Winners, the controlling shareholder of the Company
(as defined in the Listing Rules). Madam Li and Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic each owns 45% equity interest in GT Winners.

Mr. Ng Man Lee, Kevin BSc

Mr. Ng, aged 58, graduated from the University of Leeds, the
United Kingdom in 1981. He has over 34 years’ experience in the
construction industry, including civil, water works and building
construction projects in Hong Kong, Macau, the Mainland China and
Singapore. Mr. Ng joined the Group in October 2012. He is currently
a director of the construction segment, responsible for Building
Construction Business Unit, and a director of Chun Wo Building
Construction Limited.

Mr. Tam Chi Kwong, Steve VMSc(PV)

Mr. Tam, aged 53, obtained a higher diploma in structural
engineering and an associateship in civil and structural engineering
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in 1986 and 1988 respectively. He further
obtained a postgraduate diploma in civil engineering and a master
of science degree in project management from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 1996 and 2009 respectively. Mr. Tam
has more than 10 years of experience in corporate management.
He joined the Group in 2002 and is currently the general manager
(internal operations) of the Group overseeing the overall performance
of the internal operations of the Group. Mr. Tam holds directorships
in certain subsidiaries of the Company and is also a non-executive
director of City Services. He is also currently a member of other
business executive board of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Property Development and Investment Segment

Mr. Poon Chi Choi, Anthony BA(AS), B.Arch, HKIA, Registered
Architect HK, Authorised Person — Architect, PRC Class 1 Registered
Architect Qualification

Mr. Poon, aged 55, graduated from The University of Hong Kong
in 1986 with degrees in Bachelor of Arts in Architectural Studies
and Bachelor of Architecture. He is a Registered Architect (HK) and
Authorised Person (List of Architects) and possesses PRC Class
1 Registered Architect qualification. He has more than 31 years’
experience in architectural and interior design, project management
and property development for projects of a variety of scales and
complexity in Hong Kong and the Mainland China. Prior to joining
the Group in 2008, he had worked as a director in two large scale
architectural practices and also served a public listed property
development company in Hong Kong, responsible for the design and
project management of projects in China. Mr. Poon is currently a
director of Chun Wo Property Development Holdings Limited and a
member of the property development executive board of the Group,
responsible for the management of the overall property development
and investment business of the Group.

Professional Services Segment

Mr. Wong Wing Tong, Michael M/SM, MIPSA

Mr. Wong, aged 61, has more than 20 years’ experience in the
management level of security and facility management services.
He previously served at the Hong Kong Military Service Corps,
formerly the British army unit in Hong Kong, and obtained various
professional military qualifications and skills. Mr. Wong is a member
of the International Professional Security Association. In September
2016, he was appointed as an executive committee member for
Chamber of Security Industry Limited for a period of 2 years. Mr.
Wong joined the Group in 1997 and is currently the chairman of
the board and managing director of City Services, responsible for
overseeing the management of the security and facility management
business of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERHRE

The Company has been making continued efforts to incorporate the
key elements of sound corporate governance into its management
structure and internal control procedures. The Company is
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance,
the principles of which serve to uphold a high standard of ethics,
transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business,
and to ensure that affairs are conducted in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules throughout the Year except for the deviations
from the code provisions A.4.1, A.4.2 and A.5.1 of the Code for a
certain period during the Year as below.

Code provision A.4.1 of the Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term and subject
to re-election while Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, one of the then
Co-Chairmen of the Company, who was also a non-executive
Director, was appointed with no specific term and not subject to
re-election. Moreover, pursuant to code provision A.4.2 of the
Code, every director should be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years, while the then Co-Chairmen and the
Managing Director of the Company were not subject to retirement
by rotation. In respect of the above deviations, the Board considered
that the stability and continuity of the services of Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic, one of the then Co-Chairmen of the Company, were
essential for the effective long-term strategic planning of the Group
and its implementation and believed that the arrangement was
beneficial to the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

At the special general meeting of the Company held on 31 October
2016, a special resolution was passed to amend the provisions
in the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”) in relation to
retirement and re-election of Directors in general meetings in
compliance with the code provisions. The Company has also been
in compliance with code provision A.4.1 of the Code following the
re-designation of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic from a non-executive
Director to an executive Director on 7 March 2017.

Following the resignation of two independent non-executive
Directors on 25 October 2016, the number of independent
non-executive directors of the Company had temporarily fallen below
the minimum number required under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, and the Company had simultaneously failed to
meet the requirements with regard to the composition of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Board set out under the Listing Rules and code
provision A.5.1 of the Code. The casual vacancies have been filled
by the appointment of two independent non-executive Directors on
20 January 2017, after which the Company has been in compliance
with the requirements with regard to the number of independent
non-executive directors and composition of the board committees.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, after a specific enquiry made by the Company, that they
have fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the management of the Company on
behalf of the Shareholders. Key responsibilities include formulation
of the Group’s overall strategies, the setting of management targets
and supervision of management performance. The Board confines
itself to making broad policy decisions and also exercising a
number of reserved powers as mentioned below, while delegating
responsibility for more detailed considerations to the Management
Committee of the Board under the leadership of the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Operating Officer of the Company:

° those functions and matters as set out in the terms of
reference of various Board committees (as amended from time
to time), for which Board’s approval must be sought from time
to time;

° those functions and matters for which Board’s approval must
be sought in accordance with the Group’s internal policy (as
amended from time to time);

° consideration and approval of the financial statements in
interim reports and annual reports, announcements and press
releases of interim and annual results;

° focusing its attention on matters affecting the Company’s
overall strategic policies, financing and Shareholders;

° consideration of dividend policy and dividend amount; and

° reviewing and monitoring the corporate governance policies
and practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal
and regulatory requirements.

The Board had duly performed its duties relating to the corporate
governance functions. Save for the deviations from the Code as
aforesaid, it was not aware of any other code provisions of the Code
being violated during the Year.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information,
including regular reports from the Board committees and briefings on
significant legal, regulatory or accounting issues affecting the Group.
Directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, which will be paid for by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six Directors
including three executive directors (“Executive Director(s)”) and
three Independent Non-executive Directors (“INED(s)”), with INEDs
representing not less than one-third of the Board as required under
the Listing Rules. The Board members are listed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jianhua (Deputy Chairman)
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, JP
(Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Each of the INEDs has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years. The agreement is renewable
subject to consent given by the Company and the respective INEDs.
The INEDs are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with
the Bye-laws.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Corporate Governance
Practices” above, the Board had at all times during the Year met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three INEDs with at least one INED possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from
each INED to confirm his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all INEDs are
independent under the Listing Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among members of the Board, other than Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic, the Chairman of the Board, and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond,
Derrick, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer of
the Company, being brothers.

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance and maintain a sustainable
development in long run. In this regard, the Nomination Committee
has endorsed a Board Diversity Policy (the “Policy”) which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

Board diversity shall be achieved through consideration of a number
of factors and measurable objectives as set out in the Policy,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional expertise, industry experience, skills and
knowledge.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the Policy and will review the Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT
MEETINGS

During the Year, the Company had held ten board meetings and four
general meetings (including the annual general meeting and special
general meetings). The attendance records of individual members of
the Board and Board committees at the respective meetings during
the Year are set out below:

TEERRE

EERARK @
BAEERREERIMEINT  RER
BEBEBRISRE UBERZRETCA
2 o

EEHFEER 2R

RAEER  RRABBITT+HREZREH
EORABERAG (BERRAFAGRER
FRAEg) EXZRLEERETZES

BRI BN AFE AN FE RS ®E 2 R 8E
I

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

Audit

Meeting

g3

3/3

22

Board  Committee
Directors Meeting
EZR EnZES

EZ g
Existing Directors: BEEE:
Executive Directors HiiEE
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman) & —E5%4 (/&)
Mr. Xu Jianhua (Deputy Chairman) GRERE(FEE)
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Y-AELIRG

(Chief Executive Officer and (TB#EZZEEER)
Chief Operating Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors BV HH/7EE
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang’ fgELE! -
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt' MREREE -
Mr. Wu Wiliam Wai Leung BERTE 1010
Resigned Directors: ERfEE:
Executive Director HiTEE
Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement? BESIRA? 910
Non-executive Directors FHiTEE
Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang® FPREE 8/10
Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony* R 213
Independent Non-executive Directors BT 57722
Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai® RERELES 213
Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkal® FERYRS 203

2/2

HEERAY/BTEENY
Nomination Remuneration
Committee ~ Committee
Meeting Meeting
REZBE §MzEe
83 g3

Annual
General
Meeting
RREF

A&

Special
General
Meeting
RR%H

piS-|

33 - 11 13
- - 11 23
- - 11 23
- 1 - -
- 11 - -

303 0/t 11 13
- - 1 23
- - 11 33
- 11 11 1
- 11 11 11

202 11 11 0/

1 appointed as an INED on 20 January 2017

2 resigned as an Executive Director on 1 June 2017

3 resigned as a Non-executive Director (the “NED”) on 7 March 2017
4 resigned as an NED on 12 October 2016

5 resigned as an INED on 25 October 2016

1 R2017F1 A0 B EZEABLIFNTES

2 H2017F6 A1 BBRIHITES

3 MR2017E3 A7 BB EMITE S ([FEHITE
=])

4 MN2016E 10 A 12 BBHEEHITE S

5 R2016F 10 A2 BB ABIIEANTES
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’s expense. All Directors are regularly provided with
information in respect of the Group’s latest business development
and the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements to facilitate their
effective performance of directors’ duties and ensure compliance
and maintenance of good corporate governance practices. During
the Year, all Directors had participated in seminars and/or studied
materials for developing and refreshing their knowledge and skills.
The Company has received from all Directors their respective training
records for the Year.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

During the Year, the Board had been led by the then Co-Chairmen,
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Mr. Xu Jianhua until 7 March 2017,
after which Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic has been acting as the
Chairman of the Board.

Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement, the then Managing Director, had
been the chief executive of the Company during the Year and until
his retirement on 1 June 2017. Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick has
assumed the role of the chief executive of the Company since his
appointment as the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating
Officer on 1 April 2017.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the chief executive.
The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the
Board while the chief executive is responsible for managing the
Group’s business.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration

Committee, the Management Committee and the Executive
Committee. The respective terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration

Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the
Code and are available on the Company’s website. All committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

Management Committee

The Management Committee was established in April 1993. It
operates as a general management committee with overall delegated
authority from the Board in order to increase the efficiency for the
business decision and facilitate the approval of certain corporate
actions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Management Committee (continued)

As at the date of this report, the Management Committee comprises
three members, all of whom are Executive Directors.

Members of the Management Committee:
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Mr. Xu Jianhua

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established in March 2007 to assist
the Management Committee in the running of the day-to-day
business of the Company. It is responsible for the development and
implementation of the business plans for corporate and business
units. The Executive Committee is also supported by the heads of
Project Management, cascading performance management down to
project level.

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprises
four members, consisting three Executive Directors and the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company.

Members of the Executive Committee:
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Jianhua

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant (alias Martin)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was formed in April 2005. The
primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are, inter
alia, to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policies and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management of the Group and determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and the senior management of the Group. When reviewing
the remuneration package of an individual Director, such Director will
abstain from voting.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three members, all of whom are INEDs.

Members of the Remuneration Committee:
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt (Chairman)

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee considered the bonus
policy for the Group, assessed the performance and approved
the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and senior
management of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continueq)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

Details of the emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 9 to the financial statements of this annual report. The annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management of the
Group by band for the Year is set out below:

EERBTHWEES 4
FMZEE= (@)

AFEEEEMR 2FBIRNAERZ P HER
KXW - AEEAEESEEBABZF
EHMIZERETMOT -

Number of
Remuneration Band Senior Management
N ER EEEEASAY
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 # 7L 2,000,000 % 7T 3
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 % 7L ZE 3,000,000 7T 4
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 & 7L ZE 4,000,000 % 7T 4

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was formed in April 2005. The
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for Directors,
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
to ensure fair and transparent procedures for the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors.

In case of necessity, the Nomination Committee will propose
candidates for appointment to the Board for consideration and
the Board will review the qualifications of the relevant candidates
for determining the suitability to the Group on the basis of his/
her qualifications, experience and background. The decision of
appointing a director must be approved by the Board and all Board
appointments will be based on merit while taking into account
diversity.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises
three members, consisting an Executive Director and two INEDs.

Members of the Nomination Committee:
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
performed the measurable objective assessment for the year
ended 31 March 2016;

(i)  assessing the independence of the INEDs;

(i) recommending the retiring Directors who offered themselves
for re-election at the 2016 annual general meeting for
Shareholders’ approval;

(iv)  considering the re-designation of Directors and appointment of
two INEDs to fill casual vacancies; and

(v)  considering the proposed appointment of an executive director
nominated by a shareholder.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in December 1998. The Audit
Committee provides an important link between the Board and the
Company’s external auditor in matters coming within the scope of
the Group’s audit. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are
to review and supervise the financial and accounting policies and
practices of the Group. It also reviews the effectiveness of both the
external audit and internal controls and risk management system.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three
INEDs with its chairman possessing appropriate professional
qualification, accounting or related financial management expertise
as required under the Listing Rules.

Members of the Audit Committee:
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung (Chairman)
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewing the annual report and the annual results
announcement of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2016, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

(i) reviewing and recommending the updated terms of reference
of the Audit Committee to the Board for approval;

(i) reviewing the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, with a
recommendation to the Board for the re-appointment of the
external auditor at the 2016 annual general meeting;

(iv) approving the remuneration and the terms of engagement
letters for the purpose of appointing the external auditor in
connection with the statutory audit and review of the results
announcement by the external auditor;

(v) reviewing the interim report and the interim results
announcement of the Group for the six months ended 30
September 2016, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval; and

(vi) overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control procedures and reviewing the
report of the internal control function on the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control and
conducts review on the effectiveness of the internal control of the
Group, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions.

Role of the Board

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility in ensuring and
reviewing the effectiveness of the systems of internal controls, risk
management and legal and regulatory compliance of the Group in
order to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and the assets of
the Group.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

Internal Controls and Risk Management

The Board has put in place policies and procedures, including
policies for delegation of authority clearly defining the limits of
authorities designated to specified positions within the Group.
Such policies and procedures set out the framework for the risk
management and internal control systems for adoption throughout
the Group. To ensure that the systems in place are adequate and
address the existing weaknesses in implementation, the Executive
Directors, with the assistance of the executive board of different
business divisions, review the existing policies and practices and
issue directives from time to time to highlight the specific issues
and concerns in order to achieve ongoing improvement on the
governance practices within the Group. The Executive Directors
also approve operational and financial reports, business plans and
budgets provided by management of each business division at
regular meetings.

Executive Directors and senior management of the Group
are appointed to the boards of all operating subsidiaries and
associated companies of material importance in order to monitor
the operation of these companies. They attend board meetings
and participate in significant decision making process on reviewing
and approving financial budgets, establishing business plans and
controlling performance targets with associated risks identified.
The management teams of different business divisions are
accountable for the performance of their respective divisions on a
day-to-day basis. The Executive Directors review the financial and
operational reports from division management regularly to monitor
the performance and assess the significant risk exposure of the
subsidiaries.

The Group’s Finance Department reports to the Board in respect
of overseeing the financial reporting and control systems for all
subsidiaries and associated companies of the Company. The
business segments compile annual budgets for review by the
Group’s finance function and the consolidated annual budgets are
presented to the Executive Directors for approval. The Executive
Directors also hold regular meetings with the management team
of business divisions to review the cashflow position of the Group,
consider material ad-hoc projects which require additional operating
or capital expenditure, and make decisions on significant investment
and lending activities. Payment approval is subject to control of the
limits of authorities clearly setting out the authority with reference to
the specified positions of the relevant personnel.
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TEERRE

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

Legal and Regulatory Compliance

The Contracts and Legal Department is responsible for preparing,
reviewing and endorsing all material contracts entered into by Group
companies in order to safeguard the interests of the Group against
legal risks. It also oversees the regulatory compliance matters of all
Group companies in the environment of their business operations.

Besides, the Company Secretarial Department is in charge of
corporate secretarial documentation of Group companies and
overseeing compliance matters in relation to the Listing Rules and
the relevant corporate laws and regulations of different jurisdictions.

External legal advisors are engaged to advise the Group on
important legal matters and compliance issues when necessary.

Audit Committee and Internal Audit Function

The Company has established an internal audit function. The internal
audit function conducts internal audit on different business divisions
and functions within the Group on an ongoing basis to assess the
effectiveness and identify weaknesses in the existing internal control,
legal and regulatory compliance and risk management systems
of the Group. In the event that defects are identified, the internal
audit function engages in discussions with the management and
recommends suggestions for improvement.

Delegated by the Board, the Audit Committee reviews the internal
audit report prepared by the internal audit function twice every year.
Reviews have been conducted on the Group’s internal control and
risk management systems during the Year and the Board and the
Audit Committee are satisfied that the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate.

Whilst these policies and procedures are designed to manage the
risks that could adversely impact the ability of Group to achieve its
business objectives, they do not eliminate such risks and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement, loss or non-compliance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

Handling of Inside Information

The Group has adopted a policy in relation to handling of inside
information in compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”). Employees
should preserve the confidentiality of any inside information
according to the manner specified in the policy and the “Code
of Employee Conduct and Business Ethics” contained in the
Staff Handbook. The Group has also adopted the pre-clearance
procedures on dealing in the Company’s securities and notified
Directors and relevant employees of restrictions on dealing in the
Company’s securities during blackout periods to prevent possible
mishandling of inside information within the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of services provided by Ernst & Young
(“EY”), the auditor of the Company, is analysed as follows:
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Annual audit services FEEZRS
Other audit services E =R
Non-audit services* IEFE LRS-

* Such non-audit services include review on interim financial statements,
agreed-upon procedures on preliminary announcement of annual results
and general offer, internal control review for a proposed spin-off, and tax
advisory and compliance services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

Statements of the Directors’ responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements and the auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities are set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

The Directors also acknowledge its responsibility to present a
balanced, clear and understandable assessment in the Company’s
annual and interim reports and other financial disclosures required
by the Listing Rules as well as reports to regulators and information
disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

As at 31 March 2017, the Board is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the financial
statements of the Company on a going concern basis. The
management has provided to the Board the necessary explanation
and information to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the financial statements of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant (alias Martin), the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
undertook no less than fifteen hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedures for Requisitioning a Special General
Meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company have rights to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition, which must be signed by
the requisitionist(s). The requisition must be deposited at the
registered office of the Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda (the “Registered Office”) for the
attention of the Company Secretary. To ensure that the requisition
is received by the Company at the earliest opportunity, a copy of
the signed requisition should also be deposited at the head office of
the Company in Hong Kong at C1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners
Industrial Building Phase 1, 601-603 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung
Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Head Office”) for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies
Act”), Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-twentieth of the total voting right at
general meetings of the Company or not less than one hundred
Shareholders may provide a written requisition to the Company
stating the resolution intended to be proceeded at the general
meeting. The requisition must be deposited at the Registered Office
for the attention of the Company Secretary. To ensure that the
requisition is received by the Company at the earliest opportunity, a
copy of the signed requisition should also be deposited at the Head
Office for the attention of the Company Secretary.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of
the Company by Shareholders, Shareholders may refer to the
procedures available on the Company’s website.

Shareholders can also refer to the detailed requirements and
procedures as set forth in the relevant sections of the Companies
Act and the Bye-laws when making any requisitions or proposals for
transaction at the general meetings of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities. The Company’s annual and interim reports and circulars
are printed and sent to all Shareholders. Moreover, announcements,
circulars, publications and press releases of the Company are
published on the Company’s website (www.asiaalliedgroup.com). The
Company’s website disseminates corporate information and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a
timely basis.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders and encourages the
Directors and the members of the Board committees to attend and
answer questions raised by Shareholders at the general meetings.

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with Shareholders and other stakeholders. The
Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted for ensuring
that the Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and timely
access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company in order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders to engage
actively with the Company. The Shareholders Communication
Policy is available on the Company’s website and will be reviewed
by the Board from time to time to reflect current best practice in
communications with Shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings
to the Company’s share registrars. The addresses of the Company’s
share registrars are set out in the section “Corporate Information”
on page 4 of this annual report. Shareholders may at any time make
a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such
information is publicly available. Shareholders may also send written
enquiries or requests to the Head Office or by fax to (852) 3798
5700 or by email to info@asiaalliedgroup.com for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

MAJOR CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has made certain amendments
to the Bye-laws with respect to, inter alia, the operation of co-
chairmanship structure and Directors’ retirement and re-election
at general meetings to facilitate Board operation and enhance
corporate governance standards. The amendments were approved
by Shareholders in the special general meeting of the Company held
on 31 October 2016. Details of the amendments are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 30 September 2016. An up-to-date
version of the Bye-laws is available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESRHRE

The Board are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in civil engineering, electrical and mechanical
engineering, foundation and building construction work, property
development and investment, professional services (including
provision of security and facility management solutions) and other
activities.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 108 and 109.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK3.8 cents per share for the Year (the “Final Dividend”) (2015/16:
Nil), amounting to approximately HK$61.5 million (2015/16: Nil), to
the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on 29 August 2017. The proposed Final Dividend
will be paid on 13 September 2017 subject to approval by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the
“AGM”).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and vote
at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Wednesday, 16 August 2017 to Monday, 21 August 2017
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the Hong
Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company, Tricor Secretaries
Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 15 August
2017.

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to the proposed Final
Dividend (subject to approval of the Shareholders at the AGM), the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
25 August 2017 to Tuesday, 29 August 2017 (both days inclusive),
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to be eligible for the entitlement to the proposed
Final Dividend, all completed transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the Hong Kong
Branch Share Registrar of the Company, Tricor Secretaries Limited
at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 24 August
2017.

E=ERMARZAKEAFREZ FREERE
BER B M@K -

FEEK

AATA-BREERAT  EMBATE
BHETATR HEIR WEREFE
HTR - WERRREE SERBE (85
RERBEEERRTE) REMER -

BRI
AEEARAEEZEEHNFE108E KFE 109
BBt hEMEEmRER -

RERE
EEREFRBEAFTE 2 RHRE ([ R
B ) EI3.88 M (2015/16EE - &) (H
4761,500,000 875 (2015/16 FEE « #&))F
MR2017F 8 429 HA VKA R B % E &
F2RE - FREREERERBFRS ([ 1K
RBFRE DHIER  BRZ2ABABREER
20179 A13 BRI »

TENERMBFERLFE
AETHERRBFRASYARAS ELREZE
% RNRAFEH2017F8A16H (EH=)E
20178 A21H(EH—) (BHEEEMX)
TERERMBFPELTFE  SRBETe#
TRERMRARAIRDZBEBFPER - BFAER
HERRAFASTRE LRE  FEEZ
ZHBREXMHERBHEAKRE  BATER2017
F8A1A(EH D) TF 4300 ERIAR
AR BPERLEEENREENERNHAE
RAR - AR EE2FRNEBER183FEEM
228 AR ERFE -

AETERZEZNRARE ZERK (AR
REAREBEFRE 4 E)  ARQREH
2017F8 A25H(E2HA)E2017F8 A29
A(EHD)(BEERMX)EEHRERMDA
FPERFE  HRBTETEMNARRRK
BZBEERL -  AFAEERNEREES
RERE  r  MBEZZBEXMHERBBAR
= BTER2017F8A24H(EHIM) T
TAB SO D ERARRBRHD B ELERE
DREBEWEFNBERAF  HUAFEE
ERBER18IFAFMA L2221  UHIEBF
ERFE -

@ ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2016/17



BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

A review of the business and the future development of the
Group, its principal risks and uncertainties as well as an analysis
of its performance for the Year are provided in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” set out on pages 11 to 13 and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 14 to 35.

The Group’s environmental policies and performance, compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations as well as its key relationships
with employees, customers and suppliers and other significant
stakeholders are discussed in the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” set out on pages 36 to 60.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years is
set out on page 234.

EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES
Subscription of Shares

During the Year, the Company entered into a placing and
subscription agreement with China New Way Investment Limited
(“China New Way”), the then controlling shareholders of the
Company, and the placing agent on 3 May 2016, pursuant to which
() China New Way agreed to place, through the placing agent, an
aggregate of up to 72,000,000 top-up placing ordinary shares of
the Company at the top-up placing price of HK$1.25 per share
(the “Top-up Placing”); and (i) China New Way agreed to subscribe
for up to 72,000,000 top-up subscription ordinary shares of the
Company at the top-up subscription price of HK$1.25 per share
(the “Top-up Subscription”) which is equivalent to the top-up placing
price. The top-up subscription shares were issued pursuant to the
general mandate granted to the Directors by the Shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2015.

The Top-up Placing and the Top-up Subscription were completed
on 6 May 2016 and 11 May 2016 respectively. An aggregate of
72,000,000 top-up placing ordinary shares of the Company were
placed to not less than six placees, all being independent third
parties, at the top-up placing price of HK$1.25 per share; and
72,000,000 top-up subscription ordinary shares of the Company
with an aggregate nominal value of HK$7,200,000 were allotted
and issued to China New Way at the top-up subscription price of
HK$1.25 per share. The top-up placing price of HK$1.25 per share
represented a discount of approximately 13.8% to the closing
price of HK$1.45 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on 3 May 2016. The net price per top-up subscription share
was approximately HK$1.20. Details of the Top-up Placing and
Top-up Subscription are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 3 May 2016 and 11 May 2016.
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EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES (continued)
Subscription of Shares (continued)

The net proceeds (after deducting the commission payable to the
placing agent, professional fee and other related costs and expenses
in relation to the Top-up Placing and the Top-up Subscription) from
the Top-up Subscription were approximately HK$86 million, which
has been applied as below:

(i) approximately HK$28 million was used for the acquisition
of an engineering and architecture consultancy company in
Singapore; and

(i)  approximately HK$58 million was used for bank loan
repayment of the Group.

Subscription of Convertible Bonds

The Company entered into a subscription agreement (the
“Subscription Agreement”) and an amendment agreement with
Sun Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited (“SHKSFL”) on 20
November 2016 and 8 December 2016 respectively, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to issue and SHKSFL and Scienter
Investments Limited (“Scienter”) agreed to subscribe for the 10%
convertible bonds due in 2017 in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$214,072,844 (the “2016 Convertible Bonds”), which entitle the
holder(s) thereof to subscribe for 297,323,395 ordinary shares of the
Company with an aggregate nominal value of HK$29,732,339.5 at
the initial conversion price of HK$0.72 per conversion share (subject
to adjustments) (the “Conversion Share”). The Conversion Shares are
to be/were issued pursuant to the general mandate granted to the
Directors by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 22 August 2016.

On 9 December 2016, the 2016 Convertible Bonds were
issued to each of SHKSFL and Scienter in the principal amount
of HK$107,036,422. The initial conversion price of HK$0.72
represented a premium of approximately 1.41% over the closing
price of HK$0.71 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
18 November 2016, being the last trading day of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange immediately prior to the date of
the Subscription Agreement. The net price per Conversion Share
under the 2016 Convertible Bonds was approximately HK$0.68.
Details of the subscription of the 2016 Convertible Bonds are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 20 November 2016,
29 November 2016, 2 December 2016 and 9 December 2016 and
the announcement jointly issued by the Company and GT Winners
dated 8 December 2016.

The net proceeds from the subscription of the 2016 Convertible
Bonds were approximately HK$201.8 million, which was used for
settlement of the balance of consideration for acquisition of the
residential property development project located at Waterloo Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES (continued)
Subscription of Convertible Bonds (continued)

The Directors consider that both the issue of shares under the Top-up
Placing and the Top-up Subscription and the issue of the 2016
Convertible Bonds benefit the Group’s long term development and
broaden the Company’s equity base to facilitate the future growth
and development of its business.

Saved as disclosed above, the Company did not conduct any other
fund raising activities on issue of equity securities during the Year.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the revalued investment properties of the Group as at
31 March 2017 are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$48.3 million for the purpose of
expanding the Group’s business.

Details of these and other movements during the Year in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 14 to
the financial statements.

MOVEMENTS IN SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE
OPTION SCHEME AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in Note 36 to the financial statements.

The current share option scheme of the Company has been adopted
on 3 September 2012 (the “Scheme”). A maximum of 97,863,853
shares fall to be issued under the Scheme. During the years ended
31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017, there had been no outstanding
share options granted to any eligible participants.

Particulars of the Scheme are set out in Note 37 to the financial
statements.

Details of the movements in convertible bonds issued by the
Company are set out in Note 32 to the financial statements.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Scheme disclosed above, at no time during the
Year and at the end of the Year was the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Details of the Group’s borrowings are set out in Notes 31 and 34 to
the financial statements.

Interest capitalised by the Group during the Year is set out in Note 7
to the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT OPERATIONS, JOINT
VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations,
joint venture and associates as at 31 March 2017 are set out in
Notes 49, 50, 51 and 52 to the financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as
at 31 March 2017 were as follows:
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Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the Year are set out in Note 55 to the financial
statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 112 and 113 respectively.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (re-designated from NED
to Executive Director on 7 March 2017)

Mr. Xu Jianhua

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, JP

Mr. Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement (resigned on 1 June 2017)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang (resigned on 7 March 2017)
Mr. Chow Wing Kin, Anthony (resigned on 12 October 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang (appointed on 20 January 2017)

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt (appointed on 20 January 2017)

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai (resigned on 25 October 2016)
Mr. Kwan Ringo Cheukkai (resigned on 25 October 2016)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Each of Mr. Chan Stephen Yin Wai (“Mr. Chan”) and Mr. Kwan
Ringo Cheukkai (“Mr. Kwan”) stated the following reason for their
resignation with effect from 25 October 2016:

The then controlling shareholders of the Company (being China New
Way and New Way Strategic Investment Ltd. (“New Way Strategic”))
which together held over 50% of its voting shares had requisitioned
a shareholder meeting to remove Mr. Chan and Mr. Kwan from
office. As this indicated that Mr. Chan and Mr. Kwan would cease
to have a constructive working relationship with the then controlling
shareholders of the Company, Mr. Chan and Mr. Kwan considered it
appropriate to tender their resignation immediately. While Mr. Chan
and Mr. Kwan confirmed that they had no disagreement with the
Board, Mr. Chan and Mr. Kwan wished to bring to the attention of
holders of securities of the Company the following matters:

(i) in connection with the proposed appointment of Mr. Pan
Haibo (as then nominated by China New Way for consideration
by the Board) as an Executive Director, a meeting of the
Nomination Committee of the Board was held to consider the
appropriateness and suitability of the proposed appointment;
and

(i) as a result of the lack of sufficient information provided to
the Nomination Committee of the Board to duly and carefully
perform its duty, no resolution was passed at the meeting to
make any such recommendation.

Details of the resignation of Mr. Chan and Mr. Kwan are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 26 October 2016 and
7 November 2016.

Mr. Zhang Xiaoliang tendered his resignation as NED with effect from
7 March 2017 as a result of the change in control of the Company
as disclosed in the announcement jointly issued by the Company
and GT Winners dated 8 December 2016. Mr. Zhang has confirmed
to the Board that he had no disagreement with the Board and
there was no matter in relation to his resignation that needed to be
brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

In accordance with Bye-laws 86(2) and 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr.
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Mr. Xu Jianhua will retire from office by
rotation and Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang and Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt,
who were appointed by the Board to fill casual vacancies, will retire
from office at the AGM. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EERWME

EE @)

BREBEAE(REE]) RBEREE(TBEL
inﬂaﬁﬁ:ﬁmNMHoﬂ%E@EW
ZEERMATRR -

AHEFEBBLONIERE 2 ARRE R 2IE
MR (BIP BE R T RBIEE AR A

A4 ) BRBRBRERS - &
BRBREAERBEEE 2B - AR LIERER
BREAERBEERANGZERF ZIERRKEZ
MAZZENTIEFEERERBERLE  REER
B ERBRKES W%EE%@§°W%E
NELTERRFESHEER L AYEER D

B EREERBEEEFERATETERS

KRNRBHFTEAET

() EZRRAZESENEZZIES
REERBRNITER (ERmPEMER
AMEERER)AFGE  EEER
EF{JL’ED %&Am &

RERZ ﬁié#%#i%%h%iéﬁ
S ERERBETERE LY
R B R B R AE LIRS -

QH@H}

BEBREERBEEFREZFBINETR A
HHEI A2016F 10 H26 H & 2016F 11 A7
EZ/’\tt °

RNREATEH2017FE3 87 BRBEEI R
TEE  HEETJIEAAREGT Winners
AT EHEA2016F 12 A8SH Z AEFT
LE’JZIK RIEHIEZ 28 - RAELECRES

PR REEFRIEIET RO - K
BEHMBABNBIECEEARBERREL -

BIBEARMANESR)IENESTIEZ BT
TRELRENGEELAEBIRREFARS
tHERT MEEFRZTUNERER
ERZAEELERMAREEBRE LR
F-MARAEEHFTAERT BEEE
Fo

BRERBEFAGLERSFE EE  HE

BLR N B SR E AL MY B A BRI S A AT — 6
R B CE TS EB AN AR L2 R A
) o

2016/174 4R Eﬁfﬂﬁ%gggﬁﬁﬁma@



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERBE

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are
independent under the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or in existence during the Year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in Notes 9 and 10 to the financial
statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The Directors’ emoluments are in line with market practice. The
Group adopted the following main principles in determining the
Directors’ remuneration:

o No individual should determine his own remuneration;

° Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
whom the Group competes for human resources; and

° Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility
with a view to motivating and retaining high performing
individuals and enhancing the value of the Company to the
Shareholders.

In addition to the basic salaries, a share option scheme has been
adopted for rewarding and retaining Directors for the continual
operation and development of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in
force and was in force throughout the Year.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover to
protect the Directors from possible legal actions against them.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2017, the interests of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules, were as follows:

Name of Directors

Capacity

EEng

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Beneficial owner
YREEE

Interests of controlled corporation 1
R AEER

Beneficial owner

ESBBA

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
Y—HETTIEM

Note:

1. GT Winners was owned as to 45% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic. By
virtue of the SFO, he was deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares/
underlying shares of the Company in which GT Winners had interest or was
deemed to have interest. The details of such interests of GT Winners are
set out in the following section headed “Interests and Short Positions of
Substantial Shareholders in Shares and Underlying Shares”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO).

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERME

EERFTETBRAERERG
HERORESZEERAXR

R2017FE3A31H » AR aliREES M
ERO BB 2EREMBETZELM 2T
8 BEERARBEBITHRAEBRARA
HEAMAEREE(TxRE %&Hﬁiﬂlﬂﬁu
XVES) 2B m - HEARDRESF 2 #ED - X
$E%Ft?ﬁ%ﬁﬁuMsz“erff;,‘—‘eiE?ﬂlJéﬁrﬂzlmaﬂ&

BT BE R ET
Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company’s
shares held shares held issued
(long position) (long position)  share capital
2] BE ERAT
EEREE HBRROHUE BRTRA
(#®) (#8) Aok
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERME

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF TERRRBROREBRAD Z
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES EERAR

AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2017, the following Shareholders (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company) were recorded in the
register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO as
being interested or deemed to have interest in 5% or more of the
issued share capital of the Company:

MR2017F3A31H » ARAIRIEEASNMHE
&P E 336 IR EFMERF 2 Bl 2 sk -
INTRE(ZEFHARAEBITHRAERIN)
RAEAQRREBTRATHEXI R AES
5% 3k A EEs ¢

Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company’s
shares held shares held issued
Name of Shareholders Capacity (long position) (long position)  share capital
BE o] LN
EEREE HRROHE BRTRA
BRE®E /B8 &4 (#R) (%) Aol
GT Winners Beneficial owner 1,306,793,645 209,510,735 93.64%
ERBEA
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina Beneficial owner 10,880,875 - 0.67%
FEMLL ExBEA
Interests of controlled corporation 1,306,793,645 209,510,735 93.64%
RELEER
SHKSFL Beneficial owner - 107,578,364 6.64%
MREAERE EREBA
Shipshape Investments Limited Interests of controlled corporation - 107,578,364 6.64%
(“Shipshape Investments”) i E R
Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited Interests of controlled corporation - 107,578,364 6.64%
(“Sun Hung Kai”) REEERER
MEEERAA([HBE])
Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited Interests of controlled corporation - 107,578,364 6.64%
(“Allied Properties”) RErEER
BamE (B8 BRAR ([HaE])
Allied Group Limited (“Allied Group”)  Interests of controlled corporation - 107,578,364 6.64%
BEREERAR([MEKE]) XErERER
Lee and Lee Trust Interests of controlled corporation - 107,578,364 6.64%

R EE gL
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Notes:

1. These represent (i) a beneficial interest in 1,306,793,645 ordinary shares
of the Company, representing approximately 80.70% of the issued share
capital of the Company; and (i) a beneficial interest in 209,510,735
underlying shares of the Company pursuant to certain convertible bonds
of the Company, representing approximately 12.94% of the issued share
capital of the Company, directly held by GT Winners.

2. GT Winners was owned as to 45% by Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina. By
virtue of the SFO, she was deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares/
underlying shares of the Company in which GT Winners had interest or was
deemed to have interest.

3. These represent a beneficial interest in 107,578,364 underlying shares
of the Company pursuant to certain convertible bonds of the Company,
representing approximately 6.64% of the issued share capital of the
Company, directly held by SHKSFL.

SHKSFL was wholly-owned by Shipshape Investments, which was in turn
wholly-owned by Sun Hung Kai. Sun Hung Kai was indirectly owned as
to approximately 56.33% by Allied Properties. And Allied Properties was
owned as to 74.99% by Allied Group. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Ms. Lee Su Hwei
and Mr. Lee Seng Huang were the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a
discretionary trust. Allied Group was owned as to approximately 74.49%
by Lee and Lee Trust (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests).
By virtue of the SFO, each of Shipshape Investments, Sun Hung Kai,
Allied Properties, Allied Group and Lee and Lee Trust was deemed to be
interested in the underlying shares of the Company in which SHKSFL had
interest or was deemed to have interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, the Company had
not been notified of any other person or corporation (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company) as being interested or
deemed to have interests or short positions in shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company or the Stock Exchange under Part XV of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
and there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of
Bermuda.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EER®E

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

On 2 December 2016, GT Winners as the purchaser entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with China New Way and New
Way Strategic as the vendors (the “Vendors”), pursuant to which
GT Winners agreed to purchase and the Vendors agreed to sell
837,008,830 shares of the Company (the “Sale Shares”). The Sale
Shares represented approximately 56.30% of the then issued share
capital of the Company. Upon completion of the transaction on
8 December 2016, GT Winners became the controlling shareholder
of the Company. Accordingly, GT Winners was required to make
mandatory unconditional cash offers (the “Offers”) pursuant to the
Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers.

Upon the close of the Offers on 2 February 2017, shares of
approximately 15.8% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company were held by the public. Accordingly, the Company did not
satisfy the minimum public float requirement as set out under Rule
8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.

The Stock Exchange granted to the Company a temporary waiver
from strict compliance with Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules for
the initial period from 2 February 2017 to 30 April 2017 and later
approved the extension of the waiver period to 16 May 2017.

Following the issue of shares of the Company to a holder of certain
2016 Convertible Bonds upon exercise of the conversion rights and
completion of disposal of shares of the Company by GT Winners to
two third parties as detailed in the announcements of the Company
dated 31 March 2017 and 9 May 2017 respectively, the public float
has been restored to at least 25% of the issued share capital of the
Company in compliance with Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report,
other than disclosed above, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float throughout the Year as required under the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 19 November 2016, the Group obtained an unsecured loan with
a principal amount of HK$158 million (the “Loan”) from GT Winners,
which was owned as to 45% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, one of
the Directors. The Loan was unsecured, bore interest at 1.48% per
annum and was repayable in 6 months.

On 20 November 2016, the Company entered into the Subscription
Agreement with  SHKSFL in relation to the issue of the 2016
Convertible Bonds. Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, one of the Directors,
entered into the guarantee dated 20 November 2016 pursuant to
which he agreed to guarantee the punctual performance by the
Company of all its obligations under the Subscription Agreement and
the instrument of the 2016 Convertible Bonds (the “Guarantee”).

TERNARERE
A201641282H * GT Winners (1fEAE 7))
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and GT Winners, being his associate,
are connected persons of the Company. The Loan and the
Guarantee fell under the definition of connected transactions under
the Listing Rules but are exempt from announcement, reporting and
independent shareholders’ approval requirement pursuant to Rule
14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the Year is contained in Note 45 to the financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, no other related party transactions
constitute any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules during the Year.

The Company has complied with the applicable requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transactions entered into by the Group during the Year.

On 25 April 2017, (i) HKPFH Limited (“HKPFH”, an indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Kit Ho Engineering
Limited (“Kit Ho”), HKPFH Operation Limited (“HKPFH Operation”,
an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and
Regal Rich Limited (“Regal Rich”, a then indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement in relation to the disposal of the entire share capital of
Regal Rich together with the outstanding shareholder’s loan from
HKPFH to Kit Ho at a total consideration of HK$30,809,265.99;
and (i) HKPFH Operation and Kit Ho entered into a sales contract in
relation to the disposal of certain dump trucks by HKPFH Operation
to Kit Ho at a total consideration of HK$20,894,490.91. Both
transactions were completed on 28 April 2017.

Kit Ho was an associate of a substantial shareholder of HKPFH and
thus a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level.
The transactions constituted a series of connected transactions that
were subject to the disclosure requirements but exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Details of the transactions are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 25 April 2017 and 28 April 2017 and Note 28(b) to
the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERBE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the connected transactions disclosed above and the related
party transactions disclosed in Note 45 to the financial statements,
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business in which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, its holding company, or any subsidiaries of its holding
company was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2017 or at
any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Year, Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, one of the Directors,
had been a director of and held through his controlled corporation
40% interests in Clover Peak Limited (“Clover Peak”), which held
10% indirect interests in Golden Concept Development Limited
(being the registered owner of the site of Shatin Town Lot No. 579
at Area 56A Kau To, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong (the “Site”))
through Wealth Anchor Investments Limited (“Wealth Anchor”). The
Site had been used for property development purpose and therefore
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic was regarded as being interested in
such businesses which competed or were likely to complete with the
Group.

The interests in Wealth Anchor was acquired by Clover Peak from
Chun Wo (BVI) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Acquisition”), pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement
dated 14 August 2015 as detailed in the circular of the Company
dated 10 September 2015. The Acquisition constituted a connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and had been
approved by the independent Shareholders by resolutions passed at
the special general meeting of the Company held on 25 September
2015 in compliance with the Listing Rules.

Each of the Directors are aware of his fiduciary duties as a director
of the Company and will act in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole and avoid any conflict of interests between
his duties as a director of the Company and his personal interests.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors were interested
in any business which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 79.5%
of the Group’s total turnover and the turnover attributable to the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 55.4% of
the Group’s total turnover. The aggregate amount of purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

The Group’s five largest customers include governmental authorities
and statutory organisations, infrastructure and property developers
and property owners. The credit terms granted to these customers
are in line with those granted to other customers as well as industry
practices. The Group’s management has considered the credit
quality of these major customers and is of the view that none of the
relevant trade receivables is considered doubtful. In determining
the credit terms, the Group takes into account various factors,
including the background, financial strength and track records of
credit settlement of the counterparties, in order to mitigate credit
risks. In view of the financial strength and high credit rating the major
customers, the Directors consider that the Group’s exposure to
concentration of credit risk is limited.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders (which to
the knowledge the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations
totalling approximately HK$2.2 million.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
28 October 2016, the English name of the Company has been
changed from “China City Construction Group Holdings Limited” to
“ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED” and a new
Chinese name “TpME& EEER AR AF]” has been adopted as
the secondary name in Chinese of the Company to replace its former
Chinese name “HEIZEEERMNDABR AT, which was used for
identification purpose only, to reflect the Group’s long-term strategic
targets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the
Group are set out in Note 53 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERBE

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
EY, the auditor of the Company, which would retire at the conclusion
of the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution will be proposed to the Shareholders at the AGM to
re-appoint EY as the auditor of the Company and to authorise the
Board to fix their remuneration.

The Company appointed EY as the auditor of the Company in 2015
to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change in the
auditor of the Company in the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY::

To the shareholders of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings
Limited (formerly known as China City Construction Group
Holdings Limited)

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia
Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited (formerly known as China
City Construction Group Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 108 to 233, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

R CTE: e

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Recoverability of amounts due from contract customers

Construction work performed which has not been certified is carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position as amounts due
from contract customers. Amounts due from contract customers
are stated at cost less impairment. In assessing the recoverability
of the amounts due from contract customers, the Group regularly
reviews and, where appropriate, adjusts the financial budget of
each construction work based on work progress and latest available
information (including correspondence with employers’ independent
surveyors, advices of legal and civil engineering experts), and
estimates the amount of foreseeable losses or attributable profits of
each construction contract. When it is probable that total contract
costs will exceed total contract revenue to indicate an impairment,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Recoverability of amounts due from contract customers (continued)

The amounts due from contract customers as at 31 March 2017
amounted to approximately HK$1,888 million (2016: HK$2,011 million).
The recoverability assessment of these amounts due from contract
customers involves significant estimations and judgements made by
management when management prepares financial budgets of each
construction work.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4 and 22 to the
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we examined independent surveys of
work for amounts of contract revenue recognised and revenue cutoff.
We then selected material construction contracts, reviewed their financial
budgets and interviewed the Group’s quantity surveyors regarding
preparation and approval processes of financial budgets of construction
contracts and the progress of work certification by independent
surveyors. In addition, we reviewed correspondences between the
Group and independent surveyors in respect of construction work
performed, obtained professional advices of legal advisors and civil
engineering experts engaged by the Group, if necessary, in respect
of construction work performed, and evaluated the competence,
capabilities and objectivity of these legal advisors and civil engineering
experts. We also assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures in the
notes to the financial statements.

Estimation of the outcome of construction projects

During the early stages of a contract, it is often the case that
the outcome of the contract cannot be estimated reliably. As
disclosed in the Group’s accounting policies, when the outcome
of the contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised only to the extent of costs incurred that are expected to
be recoverable, i.e., no profit is recognised.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

R CTE: e

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Estimation of the outcome of construction projects (continued)

The Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of solo
construction contracts based on the latest facts and circumstances
occurred in the construction contracts, and past experience in
conducting similar construction work. When there is a change in the
expectation as to when the outcome of construction contracts can
be estimated reliably, the Group will adjust the amounts of contract
costs and contract profit accordingly. Such change constitutes
a change in an accounting estimate and involves significant
management estimation and judgement regarding the outcome
of a contract. The effect of any change in accounting estimate is
recognised prospectively by including it in profit or loss in the current
year and future periods.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3 and 4 to the financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained and understood the
rationales, the basis and the approval process of the changes made
by the Group. We then selected material construction contracts,
reviewed their financial budgets and interviewed the Group’s quantity
surveyors regarding preparation and approval processes of financial
budgets of construction contracts and the progress of work certified
by independent surveyors. In addition, we reviewed the Group’s
working schedules and related accounting journals to effect change
in the accounting estimate. We also assessed the adequacy of the
related disclosures in the notes to the financial statements with
reference to disclosures made in financial statements of other listed
companies in the construction industry about changes in estimates
of construction contracts.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of property development projects

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had investments in land held for
property development, properties under development and properties
held for sale under property development group (the “property
development projects”) with an aggregate amount of HK$929 million
(2016: HK$858 million), representing 11% of the total assets of the
Group.

The carrying amounts of the property development projects are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Significant
management judgement is involved in determining the estimated
net realisable values of the property development projects, including
estimation of selling prices, costs to be incurred until completion and
variable selling expenses.

Given the sensitivity of the assumptions and the level of judgement
involved, the management engaged independent professional valuers
to prepare valuation reports and/or feasibility report for the property
development projects.

in note 4 to the financial

Related disclosures are included

statements.
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained the valuation reports
and feasibility report and assessed the objectivity, competence and
independence of the independent professional valuers. We then
engaged our internal valuation specialists to assist us to assess the
bases and assumptions adopted in the impairment assessments.
In addition, our procedures included discussions with management
and the independent professional valuers about the assumptions
and parameters used in estimating the latest selling prices, costs to
be incurred until completion, variable selling expenses and feasibility
of the Group’s property development plan. We also assessed the
adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures in the notes to the
financial statements of the Company.

R GE:e

FAREXEE#®)

Y 3% PR 318 B R E R

R2017F3A31H  ESEZYERZLERT
BEETHEEMESRREN LM  BEPYER
BIEHEDXE ([WEMEIBE ) NKRE 8%
¥4 929,000,000 7% 7t (2016 4F : 858,000,000
BIL)  hEBREEMN11% -

Y% F3IR B ARE(E R A B A B3R % E M A&
ZEBIRE AR - NEEMXEFAEIAE WERA
HSIFER - FRELEANEEAE - 8%
HETEE - EESTAATRELE R KA #
EFX °

ENRRHGURE NPT AEIZE - B
EEBEBEUEXMGERM - HYEMABEERE
EERE & HATIERE ©

ek S p e e

REGTEERREEFRL %

ERBEZREFN—8D  BFESHERSER
AT R E W HE B B A EMA T8I -
EENRBUM - BFBEREBABEEZERY

B SR E RS PR ELE R RRAETTE
o AN BEEZREFEFEREEENBYE
REEMULEARNEE  EETKAKHESE
MR - A2 ERX R BEREYEMEGT
SIRITTIEPT A 2 R R 2 BE TR R © BF IR
A BEARMBHRRNBEENTRIEIEE
Mo

2016/174 4R EE;‘NIH&%%EE?EHQEBE’AE@



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

R CTE: e

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Recoverability of an investment deposit and partial
consideration paid for a rescinded acquisition transaction

Included in the Group’s other receivables as at 31 March 2017
was an investment deposit and partial consideration of HK$148
million in total (collectively, the “Debt”) paid to an entity (the “Entity”)
for the acquisition of a subsidiary in accordance with a sale and
purchase agreement entered into between the two parties on
4 November 2015. As the acquisition transaction was subsequently
rescinded pursuant to a supplementary agreement dated 25 August
2016, the Entity shall refund the Debt to the Group.

In considering the recoverability of the Debt, the management took
into account of (i) a series of agreements (the “Agreements”) entered
into by the Group with, amongst others, the Entity and its fellow
subsidiary on 26 June 2017 for the purpose of recovering the Debt
in connection with the rescinded acquisition transaction; and (ii)
a valuation of an asset relevant to the Agreements performed by
an independent professional valuer engaged by the Group, and is
of the view that the Debt is fully recoverable and no impairment is
considered necessary.

Given the amount is significant and judgemental nature of the
recoverability assessment, we considered this a key audit matter.

Related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 24(a) to the financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained and reviewed the
relevant agreements in connection with the rescinded acquisition
transaction including the Agreements. With regard to the
recoverability assessment of the Debt prepared by the management,
we (i) enquired the management of the bases and assumptions
adopted in the assessment; (ii) assessed the objectivity, competence
and independence of the independent professional valuer; and (iii)
involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us to assess the
valuation of an asset relevant to the Agreements. We also assessed
the adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures in the notes to
the financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHENG, Man.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
29 June 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeERaRkHEMGEENER

Year ended 31 March 2017
HE2017F3A31AILFE

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains, net

Fair value gain of investment properties, net
Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses, net

Finance costs

Share of profits and losses of associates

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences:
Translation of foreign operations
Reclassification adjustments for
gains included in profit or loss upon
deregistration of subsidiaries
Share of movements in exchange
fluctuation reserves of associates

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX OF NIL

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR
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2017
2017 &
HK$’000
FiExT
8,810,797 8,541,826
(8,350,054) (8,053,293)
460,743 488,533
132,984 286,802
88,855 3,875
(7,344) (6,247)
(408,120) (378,067)
(449) (214)
(56,726) (43,251)
26,004 (1,711)
235,947 349,720
(30,126) (43,246)
205,821 306,474
(45,123) (38,006)
(1,265) (4,530)
(99) 114
(46,487) (42,422)
159,334 264,052




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEakEtEEERER

Year ended 31 March 2017
HE2017F3A31BIFE

2017
2017 £

HK$’000
TR

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: FE{EAREERF :

Shareholders of the Company ARRRBRE 205,506 301,950
Non-controlling interests R R 315 4,524
205,821 306,474

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR EhEAFERENGAE
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Shareholders of the Company F/NETL S 159,019 259,528
Non-controlling interests R S 315 4,524
159,334 264,052

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE RARRREESRER 13 HK cents HK cents
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY Bl gl
Basic HAR 13.62 21.35
Diluted & 13.62 19.76
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR 3k

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Goodwill

Investment in a joint venture
Investments in associates
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Land held for property development

Properties under development

Properties held for sale

Amounts due from contract customers

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Income tax recoverables

Equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Restricted cash and pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Non-current assets and assets of a disposal
group classified as held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Amounts due to contract customers

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Bank and other borrowings

Liability component of convertible bonds

Derivative components of convertible bonds

Hire purchase contract and finance lease
payables

Income tax payables

Liabilities directly associated with the
assets of a disposal group classified
as held for sale

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
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14
156
16
17
18
35

19
20
21
22
23
24

25
26
27

28

22
29
30
31
32
32

34

28
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2017
2017 &
HK$’000
FExT
267,813 282,527
866,120 29,554
44,686 =
313,993 313,093
75,963 295,632
5,693 2,134
1,574,268 923,840
523,714 538,558
398,437 305,155
6,707 13,855
1,888,491 2,011,048
1,516,727 1,692,962
599,725 423,053
10,011 9,113
105 147
51,419 268,950
1,713,371 1,005,420
6,708,707 6,268,261
180,189 =
6,888,896 6,268,261
734,827 685,830
1,589,114 1,372,138
482,411 357,669
2,938,779 1,713,358
217,778 =
38,260 =
13,666 26,336
53,700 59,822
6,068,535 4,215,153
748 =
6,069,283 4,215,153
819,613 2,053,108
2,393,881 2,976,948




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RE MR R

31 March 2017

2017%3H31H

2017 2016
2017 20164
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTET FHIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kREaE
Other payables HibE N FIB 30 65,701 81,198
Bank and other borrowings RITREME K 31 5,749 791,090
Liability component of convertible bonds BRREEBESS 32 - 119,800
Guaranteed bonds ERES 33 39,000 -
Hire purchase contract and finance lease MBEAARBERSENTIE
payables 34 16,845 33,803
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAE 35 21,326 22,351
Total non-current liabilities FEnBaBERT 148,621 1,048,242
Net assets BEFE 2,245,260 1,928,706
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to shareholders of KARRREMLER
the Company
Issued capital BEITRA 36 161,929 141,462
Reserves i 38(a) 2,058,553 1,761,394
2,220,482 1,902,856
Non-controlling interests IR 24,778 25,850
Total equity i g e 2,245,260 1,928,706

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

T =Z—F
Director Director
o EZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
#122017 %0351 F L #1E

Attributable to shareholders of the Gompany

SmEE

Share Convertiole Exchange Non-
Issued ~ premium Special  bond equity Capital ~ fluctuation ~ Retaingd controling Total
acoount  reseve  reSene resene [esene interests equiy
il 5 x|
it A H A RE8E
HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000 f HK$000  HK$'000
itr TEn TR TEr TEn AT TEn
(note 38(c))
(W3 38(0)
A1 April 2015 R01BELR1E 1362 44,206 2,900 33,938 8,631 87053 874200 1,583,690 147 1,685,107
Proft for the year KEREH - - - - - - NI%0 0190 45 306474
Other comprehensive REEEH2E
income/[oss)for the yer: &/ (Fx)
Exchange diferences: EiZg:
Translation of foreign operations ~~ #E B EHK - - - - - (3800 - (38009 - (38009
Reclassifcation adjustments DEifHE
for gains included RallEe
in proft orloss upon ik
deregistration of subsiciaries BE(ARR) - - = = - 8 -5 - t5)
Share of movements ElRENR
in exchange fluctuation HERE
reserves of associates FEEe - - - - - 114 - 114 - 114
Total comprefiensive FEERENE/
ncome/{loss) for the year (%) 4% - - - - - (R4 0190 259528 4524 264052
Issue of shares upon exercise HATARERTEG
of convertiole bonds afiv)] 2 9,100 33,750 - (7.980) - - - 34,870 - 34870
Shareof resene of anassociate Bl -REEAANGEE 18() - - - - 17,312 - - 17312 - 17312
Deemed contribution from a Rfe-2HBAR
non-controling equity holder FrRRERE
of asubsidiary A3 - - - - 7456 - - 7456 - 7456
Acquistton of a subsidiary KE-ANELT 40 - - - - - - - - 19009 19909
At 31 March 2016 H2016%3 7318 141,462 477,956 20000 25998 33299 45,131 1176150° 1,902,856 25,850 1,928,706
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERRERZEBR

Year ended 31 March 2017
HE2017F3A31BIFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

KRRRES
Share Convertible Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  Special bondequity  Capital fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests equity
BEf it BN TAREE Ex JERE 3
k& EEE B BHER B B REEA g f
HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Tén TAr TR TEn  TEn  TEr  TEr  TER  TEn TEn
(note 38(c)
(it 38(0)
At 1 Aprl 2016 R016E4A1R 141,462 477,956 2900 2598 33209 45131 1176150 1902856 25850 1,928,706
Proft for th year REREN = - - - - - 25506 205506 35 20582
Other comprefensive loss REEAMRER
for the year,
Exchange ifferences: EiEE:
Translation of foreign operations ~~ #EB £ - - - - - (51 - (512 - (512

Reclassiication acjustments for —~ Es - FHEA ”& il
aganinchdednproftorloss ~~ EXABRE (AER)

Upon deregistration of
astbsiay - - - - - - -
Share of movements nexchange ~ EEEARTNERS
fluctuation reserves of associates  Es 788 - - - - = 99) = (99) = (%)
Total comprehensive incomefloss) ~ AEERENE/(F%) 4
for e year - . - - - e 2556 189019 35 103
Share placement RikE 3% 7200 82800 - - - - - 90,000 - 90000
Issue of shres upon evercise of B ATHREAFETHRA
convertiole bonds 2 13,267 63,048 - (7,980) - - - 68,335 - 68,335
Shareof esenve of nassociate  El-FEEADNRE 18] - - - - M - - m = m
Acquiston of subsidires KENBAT 40 - - - - - - - - (%) (1)
At 31 March 2017 N0TEIASHA 161,929 623,804 2900+ 17978  33571* (1,356)* 1,381,656* 2,220,482 24,778 2,245,260
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * M2017F3A31H ZERBEEERERKSE
HK$2,058,553,000 (2016: HK$1,761,394,000) in the consolidated B B HKOR R N 2 4R A 18 2,058,558,000 % 7T
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017. (2016 4F : 1,761,394,000787T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AEETRER

Year ended 31 March 2017
HE2017F3A31AILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Share of profits and losses of associates
Interest income
Fair value gain of the derivative components of
convertible bonds
Gain on sale of property interests through
disposal of subsidiaries
Gain on bargain purchase of a subsidiary
Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries, net
Fair value gain of investment properties, net
Finance costs
Depreciation
Fair value loss of equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment, net

Increase in land held for property development
and properties under development

Decrease in properties held for sale

Net decrease in balances with contract customers

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Increase in trade payables

Increase/(decrease) in other payables
and accruals

Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Income taxes paid

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
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2017 2016
2017 20164
HK$°000 HK$000
TER TET
235,947 349,720
(26,004) 1,711
(20,587) (24,342)
(44,386) =
(7,070) (229,217)
(19,282) =
(1,265) (4,530)
(88,855) (3,875)
56,726 43,251
7,289 7,042
42 18
(5,223) 120
87,332 139,898
(87,524) (16,509)
6,579 7,342
239,361 93,483
183,626 (133,692)
(28,950) 114,813
213,314 42,636
144,464 (263,999)
758,202 (16,028)
(40,019) (25,794)
718,183 (41,822)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

Year ended 31 March 2017
HE2017F3A31BIFE

2017 2016
2017 20164

HK$000 HK$'000
TR TR

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REREIBH ELHE

Interest received BUF S 20,587 24,342
Dividend received from an associate EBMENRNRZEE 2,324 7,788
Purchases of items of property, plant and BENE  MERREER

equipment (48,313) (31,577)
Purchases of investment property under BEEEREME

construction (830,400) -
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME MR REEE

plant and equipment S RE 13,239 12,688
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties  HEREVEMNS A - 224,597
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets HENHAREHE

classified as held for sale EmBEEMSHE 72,960 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WK B AR 40 (182,632) 56,892
Proceeds from sale of property interests through ~ EBEEHRBARILE

disposal of subsidiaries ME RSP SHIR 41 289,829 401,534
Increase in amount due from a joint venture BERALZRFEM - (313,993)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from associates B A7 RZRA /(32 1m) (177,309) (10,257)
Increase in amount due from an investee company % & A 7], Z R ZIE N - (7,000)
Loans to subcontractors ERTHEE (20,800) =
Increase in time deposits with maturity of more than REAEZ|HBEAE=E7 2

three months when acquired LM (105,693) =

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities 1R &EE (FTF) /EE2
HeneRs (966,208) 365,014

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REREZH ELHE

Proceeds from placement of new ordinary shares B EH L BIRFMETIE 36 90,000 -
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BT R BRI RE 214,072 -
Proceeds from issue of an unsecured bond ARRERARET 2 BRIES

to the ultimate holding company PSR 158,000 -
Proceeds from issue of guaranteed bonds BITERERMETE 39,000 =
New bank loans NEBHRTER 1,905,930 2,438,753
New trust receipt loans MEETHEER 114,507 1,182,891
Repayment of bank loans EERTER (1,485,284) (2,017,735)
Repayment of trust receipt loans BEETREER (109,487 (1,652,356)
Repayment of other borrowings BEH AR (1,158) =
Repayment of an unsecured bond payable BREFREERAACEERES

to the ultimate holding company (158,000) -
Repayment of an unsecured bond payable to BET-REEARCERRES

arelated company = (150,000)
Capital element of hire purchase contract and HEAANBMEEERS IR

finance lease rental payments LERE S (29,668) (40,282)
Interest element of hire purchase contract and HEANLBERERSIR

finance lease rental payments ZMEHH 7 (1,285) (2,016)
Other interest paid HinBAFIS (71,652) (76,672)
Decrease in restricted cash and pledged deposits %R #1384 REERFEHRL 217,531 321,476
Net cash flows from financing activities REBBEHZHEREFE 882,506 4,059
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

Year ended 31 March 2017

HZE2017F3A31BLEEE
2017 2016
20175 2016
HK$’000 HK$000
TET THET
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH REeRERSEEEREM
EQUIVALENTS B8 634,481 327,251
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FIRBESRERSEEEE 1,005,420 702,661
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net N R e = LR (32,223) (24,492)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRRASREREZERE
AT END OF YEAR 1,607,678 1,005,420

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH B4R HE$ZEER

EQUIVALENTS ERAM
Cash and bank balances other than time deposits 14 R 1745 (FRETHER) 27 1,513,412 952,760
Time deposits TEHER 27 251,378 321,610
Less: Restricted cash and pledged deposits B XBHRS RBERER 27 (51,419) (268,950)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the BERBMRRMIL RS R

consolidated statement of financial position BE4$ZEER 1,713,371 1,005,420
Less: Time deposits with maturity of more than W REARISEBE=EAZ

three months when acquired THER (105,693) -

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the HEBSRERFNZEHER

consolidated statement of cash flows SRS EEER 1,607,678 1,005,420
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited (formerly known
as China City Construction Group Holdings Limited) (the
“Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is
located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda, and the principal place of business of the Company
is located at C1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial
Building Phase 1, 601-603 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha
Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at a special general
meeting of the Company held on 19 September 2016 and
approved by the Registrars of Companies in Bermuda and
Hong Kong, the English name of the Company has been
changed from “China City Construction Group Holdings
Limited” to “ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS
LIMITED” and a new Chinese name “ZziMEt& E@2IERBR A
A]” has been adopted as the secondary name in Chinese of the
Company to replace its former Chinese name “FP [ 35 72 £= B i%
DAERARE.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), joint operations, joint ventures and associates
were involved in the following principal activities:

° provision of services in areas of civil engineering,
electrical and mechanical engineering, foundation and
building construction in Hong Kong;

° property development and investment in Hong Kong,
mainland of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
the United Arab Emirates (the “UAE”) and the United
States of America (the “USA”); and

° provision of security and facility management solutions in
Hong Kong.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint
operations, joint ventures and associates are set out in notes
49, 50, 51 and 52 to the financial statements, respectively.

At 831 March 2017, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the immediate holding company and the ultimate
holding company of the Company is GT Winners Limited (the
“GT Winners”), which is a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) with limited liability.

1.
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Br RS R AR M EE

31 March 2017
201793 H31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention
except for (i) investment properties, equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss and the derivative components of
convertible bonds which have been measured at fair value;
and (i) non-current assets and assets of a disposal group
classified as held for sale which are stated at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further
explained in note 3.3. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2017. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
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2.

3.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA ISR R MR

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
(2011)

Investment Entities: Applying
the Consolidation Exception

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27
(2011)

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Disclosure Initiative

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

Amendments to a number
of HKFRSs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR R MY &

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS
28 (2011), HKFRS 14, amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS
41, amendments to HKAS 27 (2011), and certain amendments
included in the Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle, which
are not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s financial
statements, the nature and the impact of the amendments are
described below:

(@) Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus
improvements in respect of the presentation and disclosure
in financial statements. The amendments clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in HKAS 1;

(i) that specific line items in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
and the statement of financial position may be
disaggregated;

(i)  that entities have flexibility as to the order in which
they present the notes to financial statements; and

(iv) that the share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures accounted for using
the equity method must be presented in aggregate
as a single line item, and classified between
those items that will or will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements
that apply when additional subtotals are presented in
the statement of financial position and the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The
amendments have had no significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

(b)  The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer
of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of
the joint operation constitutes a business must apply the
relevant principles for business combinations in HKFRS 3.
The amendments also clarify that a previously held interest
in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of
an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint
control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been
added to HKFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do
not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including
the reporting entity, are under common control of the same
ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both
the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and
the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint
operation. The amendments have had no impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(©)

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the
principle in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects
a pattern of economic benefits that are generated
from operating a business (of which the asset is part)
rather than the economic benefits that are consumed
through the use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-
based method cannot be used to depreciate property,
plant and equipment and may only be used in very
limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The
amendments are applied prospectively. The amendments
have had no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group as the Group has not used a
revenue-based method for the calculation of depreciation
of its non-current assets.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
issued in October 2014 sets out amendments to a
number of HKFRSs. Details of the amendments to HKFRS
5 are as follows:

° HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations: Clarifies that changes to
a plan of sale or a plan of distribution to owners
should not be considered to be a new plan of
disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original
plan. Accordingly, there is no change in the
application of the requirements in HKFRS 5. The
amendments also clarify that changing the disposal
method does not change the date of classification
of the non-current assets or disposal group held for
sale. The amendments are applied prospectively.
The amendments have had no significant impact on
the Group as the Group did not have any changes
in the plan of sale or disposal method in respect of
the non-current assets and a disposal group held
for sale during the year.

B ISR R MY

31 March 2017
201793 H31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR R MY &

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15
Amendments to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 7
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 40

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions?
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts?

Financial Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with Customers?

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers?

Leases?®

Disclosure Initiative’

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses’

Transfers of Investment Property?

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs®

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or

2018, with early application permitted

B EER

B2 EMEEAKRERZEERM

AEBIERNZEZMEHREER TS
EEMERRER T REETE

BB E LR

ERMBREEN
2R

ERMBRE A
F4RET

BEMEREEE R
BERBEREENZ10%R
BESHENF 285

(2011 F) 3]
BEMEREENE 155
BB BREER

F155% B
BEMEREENZ 165
BEGERNE TR
BESHENE12% 5T

BBGIHERIBA0RER

201422016 5
ZFEN#

URBZHZS
ZABRE?
EREEY BT
EoftemTAS
BBABHEER
E4ERBAR?
EHTA?
REZHAB LN
By -INb]
BEAETE
EEA a2
BB R
ERE 155
EFA M2
#Hs
BEHE
EEHEEE
ETRBEBRSEL
vd K

b (ERNBRERERES) SELSRBUEN

-2BE2%

#E:

‘ R2017F1 A1 Bz ERBZFER

AR

2 MN2018F 1 A1 Az kRABZFER

AR

8 MR2019F 1 A1 Az kRAB 2z FER

AR

¢ R TE R HI A H B - B AT RATERA

2 R 2017 F 5201841 A1 Bl AERLA
ZEEHMER  JIREEA

@ ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2016/17



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is as follows:

(@) The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August
2016 that address three main areas: the effects of vesting
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-
based payment transaction; the classification of a share-
based payment transaction with net settlement features
for withholding a certain amount in order to meet the
employee’s tax obligation associated with the share-
based payment; and accounting where a modification
to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment
transaction changes its classification from cash-settled
to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the
approach used to account for vesting conditions when
measuring equity-settled share-based payments also
applies to cash-settled share-based payments. The
amendments introduce an exception so that a share-
based payment transaction with net share settlement
features for withholding a certain amount in order to meet
the employee’s tax obligation is classified in its entirety
as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction
when certain conditions are met. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that if the terms and conditions of
a cash-settled share-based payment transaction are
modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction, the transaction is
accounted for as an equity-settled transaction from the
date of the modification. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 April 2018. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 20 EMEMKRERZET B
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BHREER @)
(continued)
(b) In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final (b) R2014597 BEBEHMAE

version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the
financial instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all
previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces
new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects to
adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the standard.

()  Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address (c)
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain
or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for application
now.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(d)

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between periods
and key judgements and estimates. The standard will
supersede all current revenue recognition requirements
under HKFRSs. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued
amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation
issues on identifying performance obligations, application
guidance on principal versus agent and licences of
intellectual property, and transition. The amendments
are also intended to help ensure a more consistent
application when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease
the cost and complexity of applying the standard. The
Group expects to adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018 and
is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon
adoption.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG S2EEMENMAER 2T B
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BHEER @
(continued)
(e) HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(FRIC)-Int 4 () BERMBESRANF 165 NK

Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases-Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to
recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The
standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees
— leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the
commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise
a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability)
and an asset representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset).
The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition
of investment property in HKAS 40. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease
liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will
be required to separately recognise the interest expense
on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on
the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required
to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of
certain events, such as change in the lease term and
change in future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate used to determine those payments.
Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from the accounting under
HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases
using the same classification principle as in HKAS 17 and
distinguish between operating leases and finance leases.
The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019
and is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon
adoption.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(f)

Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes. The amendments will
result in additional disclosure to be provided in the
financial statements. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 April 2017.

Amendments to HKAS 12 were issued with the purpose
of addressing the recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses related to debt instruments measured at
fair value, although they also have a broader application
for other situations. The amendments clarify that an
entity, when assessing whether taxable profits will
be available against which it can utilise a deductible
temporary difference, needs to consider whether tax law
restricts the sources of taxable profits against which it
may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible
temporary difference. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance on how an entity should determine
future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in
which taxable profit may include the recovery of some
assets for more than their carrying amount. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2017.

Amendments to HKAS 40 were issued with the purpose
of clarifying when an entity should transfer property,
including property under construction or development
into, or out of investment property. The amendments
state that a change in use occurs when the property
meets, or cease to meet, the definition of investment
property and there is evidence of the change in use. A
mere change in management’s intentions for the use
of a property does not provide evidence of a change in
use. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from
1 April 2018.

(f)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 3.2 B 8 7 {8 & 5R SR 2ERY
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BHREER &
(continued)
(i)  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle (i) #QM?ﬁSH%%Z?EW%%

issued in March 2017 sets out amendments to a number
of HKFRSs. Details of the applicable amendments are as
follows:

° HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities:
Clarified the scope of the standard by specifying
that certain disclosure requirements is not required
for a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate
(or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or an
associate) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

° HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures: Clarified that, when an investment in an
associate or a joint venture is held by, or is held
indirectly through, an entity that is a venture capital
organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar
entities including investment-linked insurance funds,
the entity may elect to measure that investment at fair
value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments. An entity, shall make this
election separately for each associate or joint venture,
at initial recognition of the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 3.2 2 MBI ER TSR zEEBM

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS R EEL| (@

(continued)

()  The HK(FRIC)-Int 22 was issued in June 2017 with ) BHE(BEBRMBEBREZREZE
the purpose of clarifying that, in determining the spot g)-2EBF22 sﬁﬁ/\2017¢6ﬂ
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related o BEBEEREEAREEN
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a EE BRASIWATGRERNIE
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating B E Esy ETE W R IE
to advance consideration, the date of the transaction oM B (S 4R (RS A9 BN ER
is the date on which an entity initially recognises the EX > XS HEREANARIE
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from RIEEMEESTENRNBEE
the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments MIEEEEaEMBEH - MEAE
or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a Z BB U sk BT R IE - Bl a %
date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of BAETET WD B S iiﬁ il
advance consideration. The Group expects to adopt the NHRIERR S HH - 25 78 5
amendments from 1 April 2018. 20184 A1 B BKAZIER -

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FXEe:HEME
POLICIES

Investments in associates and a joint venture REEQAFAR—BEBEEQAAZRE
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term BERRRBAEEHERE — KT LPR
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting 20% It B KRR - WA ¥
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant HBEBEEAZE N 2ER SATE
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the NAR2EEENR 2R EENS
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is SRITEZRE S - T FEFE B 2k Ht B IE B RZ
not control or joint control over those policies. LR o
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the EENRE—BEERH  HaLH
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights HELREZEHEZTOTBELEEZ
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the NAIZEBEFEEGREN o HFAZEH
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, BREREABEH —BLHEMEMLZ
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities TR ERESIEEREREHEK
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. ZEEREZANSELE —BAEZ
RERFL °
The Group’s investments in associates and a joint venture are AEERBERRR—HEERRAZ
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at READRED S UAKEEE
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of ZEEFEREMNBERBEGE @ I
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made RERE BRI R - e ELA
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may BEFEMAEFE NN BE
exist. RE—% o
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other rEBEGEBHERAAE—HEE QR
comprehensive income of associates and a joint venture are R g s ¥EREME2E Y ED 5
included in the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated RiEBERRES HMEE WA
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when BRolbiN MBEERBEAAINEE
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of RAIZEREREE  AEEERE
the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of ERREREREREEN Z(EM
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement FE)(WMER)  AEBEHEHE QA
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting REERAZIRGEEZ REBERIK
from transactions between the Group and its associates =mREEeUASEREE QR HE
or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s BNRZIEERREE  ERERES
investments in the associates or joint venture, except where EEPAMEEEEDRBENRI -
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the WHEBE R A EGERARIMEEZR
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of EBNHAERREEREE AFNE
associates or joint venture is included as part of the Group’s BRAZWEZ—ED °

investments in associates or joint venture.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33X EE€:HHMEME &

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and a joint venture (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with  HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Non-current assets and disposal groups
classified as held for sale”.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint
operation:

o its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly;

° its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising
from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the
joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to
the Group’s interest in a joint operation are accounted for
in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person (i) has control or joint control over
the Group; (ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(ili) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a holding company of the Group; or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(vili)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a holding company, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding
company of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to a holding company of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33X EE:HHMEME &

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group and
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liguidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as
a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test
of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures investment properties, equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss and the derivative
components of convertible bonds at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FXE@HEME (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels
in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is
classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal
group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups classified as held for sale”.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property,
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FEE:HHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued) ME - KERBEURITE (&)
Depreciation of leasehold land under finance leases and MEHRELTHWEBF2MERERE
buildings are calculated on the straight-line basis to write off AESTHE o PAMEE AR ¢ ()R E R A A
their costs (i) over the shorter of the lease term and 50 years in ABERBHEBE L AL0F 0 K (i) %
respect of leasehold land; and (i) over the shorter of the lease REHBARERBBEEFTA25F o
term and 25 years in respect of buildings.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is HEmys MRERRE2ITEDRE
calculated on the reducing balance basis to write off the cost B B BE AL ZE M 5T 6K T AT AR A HA B
of each item of other property, plant and equipment to its R EHEMmY S HMERKREER Z
estimated residual value over its estimated useful life. The RABEEH G RE - My - %
estimated depreciation rates per annum of different categories ERHEITRENNZEEGKEITER
of other property, plant and equipment are as follows: mr

Plant and machinery 15% to 25% H2s R 15% £ 25%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 15% RE RERFLAEHRE 15%
Motor vehicles 25% bt 25%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have EIEME BBELRZFEZIXILBEDT
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a RzrAEHREH  ZBEB ZHRATIZ
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated EEEENESLIPZEOE  MET—
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation BATIDHITE - FerEE - a[fEH
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at FHETELAEINSTHEELSR
each financial year end. Brig et Riw@E AR EL AR -

An item of property, plant and equipment including any —IEE MERREEEEMEKR
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon MoV ERRNEERNEFHE
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected sk & B R RO 7 2 B EUY
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or R REEFUEHBER Z I NIEZR
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset is AERZEEXEEMSTM 2 WS
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds NEEAEEEEZ L EMS FR M
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset. AREEM2ZEE -

Investment properties BREYE

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings KEYEEFEURRAE S KA
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for R/ SEEREERGE 2 T RET
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an B (BEEEMTEFEIREYET
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for EJELKEHET 2HE®ES) M
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or WIFBEEEXHEE R RBE X
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or THAZ IR BEEBBEFHEHE
for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties 2T REF S - EEMET S
are measured initially at cost, including the direct costs of WA (BIEEEEERA - RERE
construction, capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed HMHEEEEES cENLEEKA U
funds during the period of construction, and transaction costs. MZGERAR)AE - ROFHERE &
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are EYERRMBEERRT R Z AFE
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end HIBE o

of the reporting period.

Land held for development and/or properties under BIERB LM R/ AKAEREDSE
development for future use as investment properties are MERMEWSTELE [ EEIEEYE |
classified as “Investment properties under construction” and ERETRALAGEHAREHEFHE
are reclassified to “Completed investment properties” when BIBITIEEME] -

completed and ready for use.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of BEDNELATEEHMEEZBRER
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period EXZ BB ABEA -

in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an KNEMERBIXEERELEZFAR
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the B mEEsy L EHE I8P IER -

period of the retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FXE@HEME (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

When a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property
at the date of change in use is accounted for as follows:

(@) any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the
property is recognised in profit or loss in the period the
change in use takes place; or

(b) any resulting increase in the carrying amount is credited
to profit or loss, to the extent that the increase reverses
a previous impairment loss for that property, or restores
the carrying amount of the property to an amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the property
in prior periods; and any remaining part of the increase
in the carrying amount is credited directly to equity in the
property revaluation reserve. On subsequent disposal
of the property, the relevant portion of the property
revaluation reserve realised is transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.

For a transfer from investment properties to properties under
development or properties held for sale, the deemed cost of a
property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date
of change in use.

The Group transfers a property from properties under
development or properties held for sale to investment property
when there is a change in use to hold the property to earn
rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
commencement of an operating lease to another party. For a
transfer from properties under development or properties held
for sale to investment properties, any difference between the
fair value of the property at the date of change in use and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held
for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or the disposal group must
be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such
assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable.
All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal
group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the
Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary
after the sale.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held
for sale (continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair
values less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated
or amortised.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases are included in non-current assets. The finance costs
of such leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals
payable under operating leases, net of any incentives received
from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and buildings
elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of
the land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and
equipment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FTE@HBEME (»)

POLICIES (continued)

Land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale

Land held for property development and properties under
development are intended to be held for sale after completion
of the property development. They are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.

Land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes prepaid
land lease payments and cost of land/land use rights together
with any other direct costs attributable to the development
of the properties, and borrowing costs capitalised during
the development period. Net realisable value is determined
by reference to estimated selling price based on prevailing
market conditions less (i) anticipated cost to completion of the
development in respect of properties under development; and
(i) estimated costs to be incurred in marketing and selling the
properties.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
investment properties, land held for property development,
properties under development, properties held for sale,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, amounts due from
contract customers and non-current assets/disposal groups
classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of a
non-financial asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior periods. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
or available-for-sale investments, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

B ISR R MY

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

SIETEEHHERE ()

FEMEERME(E)

EREHR ERBEPRBETRE
BEHERZBERBEAETBFEX
BE R A T 1 AT & o 8 3R R BF
CAfEET AT D 2B - BLIFE R E
(BERIN LR ZREERE
NEEZEEZ 7 W E BEMER
Bt HBREHEHT TED - EER
RINEEEY EZEERRRE
BE SHRUEBERTHEE KM
B8R (NG EIMFE #HH) T
THRE - BREBEZEDTNELS
REt ARz

NG R el 744

RERHMWEMEE

WL EZR B
TREEDRIAEREDBR/ER
FEAABDZ EREE  ERNE
WHBERAHEERE(WER) - £
MEERVBERERE - TR TFAEMN
BWEECREEBRGEZXISRATE
HEAFEFABEZEREEDR
B o

FMEERBENHEESREEINR
SEM(MAKEAZEEXNHERE
ZB)HER  ERBEEXEEIREAR
RME—RAEXEF R —EHEA
RNEECBEIHESREE -

2016/17F 8 ﬁfﬂﬁﬁégggﬁﬁﬁﬁaaa@



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR R MY

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

(a)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss. These net fair value changes do not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted
for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if
their economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host
contracts are not held for trading or designated as at fair
value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement,
such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in interest income in profit or
loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised as
other expenses in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

(c) Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial
assets in unlisted equity investments. Equity investments
classified as available for sale are those which are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive
income in the available-for-sale investment revaluation
reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss in other income/other expenses, or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-
for-sale investment revaluation reserve to profit or loss
in other expenses. Dividends earned whilst holding the
available-for-sale investments are reported as dividend
income and are recognised in profit or loss as other
income in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the consolidated statement of
financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(@) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

\mu»

S3IETEEHHEBME -

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Derecognition (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the assets. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred assets to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

(a) Loans and receivables

For loans and receivables, the Group first assesses
whether impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial
assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Impairment (continued)

(@

(b)

Loans and receivables (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either
directly or through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
other expenses in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale investments carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on the unlisted equity investment that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are recognised in profit or loss and are not reversed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 E€:HEHME )

POLICIES (continued)

i

Financial liabilities == R

Initial recognition and measurement WIEERR G E

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as SREBENTRAVNEERBFESBEAZA
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or loans FEGFAERZSRE {f BERRE
and borrowings, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are R(HWER) LB ENEAF
recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and BERVIEER  WRERK 1%%’& Bl
borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction costs. % B E SR 5 RN 1A R
Subsequent measurement H#&E

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on PRMAGBCHEAERTRENUTZ
their classification as follows: DEME

(a)  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (a) BERFEFAAEDS /A E

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by
the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments
in hedge relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading
are recognised in profit or loss. The net fair value gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the
date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39
are satisfied.

(b)  Loans and borrowings (b)

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included as finance
costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of:
(i) the amount of best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that contain liability and equity components
Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of shares
that would be issued on conversion and the value of the
consideration that would be received at that time do not vary,
are accounted for as compound financial instruments which
contain both a liability component and an equity component
(conversion option).

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability
in the consolidated statement of financial position,
net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible
bonds, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-
convertible bond; and this amount is carried as a
non-current liability or a current liability, as appropriate, on
the amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion
or redemption. The remainder of the proceeds, net of
transaction costs, is allocated to the conversion option (the
equity component) which is recognised and included in the
Company’s convertible bond equity reserve. The carrying
amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in
subsequent years. Transaction costs are apportioned between
the liability and equity components of the convertible bonds
based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity
components when the instruments are first recognised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B IS SRR MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 TES:BEME &)

ek

POLICIES (continued)

Convertible bonds (continued)

Convertible bonds that contain liability and derivative
components

If the conversion option of convertible bonds exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated from
its liability component. On initial recognition, the conversion
option and other derivative components of the convertible
bonds are measured at fair value and presented as part of
derivative financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds over
the amount initially recognised as the derivative components
is recognised as the liability component. Transaction costs are
apportioned between the liability and derivative components of
the convertible bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to
the liability and derivative components when the instruments
are initially recognised. The portion of the transaction costs
relating to the liability component is recognised initially as part
of the liability. The portion relating to the derivative components
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included as finance costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (continued)

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint
ventures and associates, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FTE@HBEME (»)

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint
ventures and associates, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@) from construction services, on the percentage-of-
completion basis, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Construction contracts” below;

(b)  from the rendering of other services, when services have
been performed;

(c) from the sale of properties, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the properties sold;

(d) rental income, on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms;

FrE s (&)

o ABMNMBAT SBEK -
M”T&%%@TZ&ﬁFEZ
TIMAEREZE  EEHES
AT A IR Y M ER A
8 R 2 ¥ 7k A B R A5 7] ) R fE
SHBNENMDHEESEEE
B T LARE SR o

EERBAEECREERSHREHR
W YHBREETBAEECHE
RRENBAMAXNB D ECEHBEE
HBBABIL  AEBERAZELEHEE
EEE@%%&%E}%XE%%{E&EET
EERARKNBMNZERA XD IE
LTRIEEF%BZH&@H%E‘” °

BEERBEERABAZYBE(EEE
?& R ABRBER) BH 2 ERR
A8 REXNRSHRAS BMHK
ERCEMZBRER(RBRBEG)E -

i) 77 £ BE LA BN 8 3% 76 & = 1K 55 B B0 7
HABEOARELARTZEN  MA
FEEHIAER —BRKRE R MR
HEAEH AeEHEEEHRBEER
BREHIARE -

WA RER

EEBEMRA RN AEE U RIIA
RIS AR ST ER - WABZ TS
2 HRER

(a) %;&HEW BRI A D B
7 15 %XBCTX [REAN] 2
B HER

(o) IEEEMIRT

2] ’

RERBITIR B

(c) WHEMEE  NRNEAEEZEKNI
DEE KL E R EETE SRR
REAEBHEEMELES
BATHEERMEBECIEECE
BRE - NEEFERIEHRE

(d FEEEA - RABMNEREEE
R

@ ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2016/17



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest rate method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset; and

() dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount
and appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and
incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise direct
materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads.

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised in profit
or loss by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period, which is measured
by reference to surveys of the value of work carried out to
date as certified by external valuer. Variations in contract work,
claims and incentive payments are included to the extent
that the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is
considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is
shown as amounts due from contract customers. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus
is shown as amounts due to contract customers. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability,
as advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but
not yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position under trade receivables.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33X EE€:HHMEME &

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors of the Company) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

Upon exercise of share options, the resulting shares issued
are recorded by the Company as additional share capital
at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the
exercise price per share over the nominal value of the shares
is recorded by the Company in the share premium account. In
addition, at the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in the share option reserve will
be transferred to the share premium account.

Share options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date
or lapse are deleted from the register of outstanding options.
When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profits as a movement in reserves.

The diluted effect of outstanding share options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33X E€:HHMEME &

POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
the PRC and Singapore are required to participate in central
pension schemes operated by local PRC and Singapore
governments, the assets of which are held separately from
those of the Group. Contributions are made by the subsidiaries
based on a percentage of the participating employees’ salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the relevant central pension
schemes. The employer contributions vest fully once made.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the activity of a
construction contract are included as part of the contract
costs.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have
been approved by the shareholders in general meetings.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries and associates
established in the PRC and overseas are currencies other than
the Hong Kong dollars. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their profits or losses are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation is
treated as an asset of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC
and overseas are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of these subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MY

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements and have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are set out below:

Joint operations

The Group has numerous joint arrangements with third parties
for construction work in Hong Kong and under which decisions
about the relevant activities of such arrangements require the
unanimous consent of all parties to the arrangements. For
accounting purposes, the directors of the Company assessed
whether such arrangements are joint operations or joint
ventures under HKFRS 11. After considering the rights and
obligations of parties to the joint arrangements with reference
to the structure, the legal form of the arrangements, the
contractual terms agreed by the parties in the arrangements,
and the relevant facts and circumstances, the directors of the
Company concluded that all of the Group’s joint arrangements
for construction work should be classified as joint operations
under HKFRS 11 as the relevant contractual agreements for
these joint arrangements specify that the parties to the joint
arrangements have rights to the assets and obligations to the
liabilities relating to the joint arrangements.

Construction contracts

With respect to construction contracts, the Group recognises
contract revenue, contract costs and contract profit on a
construction contract using the percentage-of-completion
method, based on independent surveys of work, latest
available financial budgets of the construction contract with
reference to the overall performance of the construction
contract, and management’s best estimates and judgements.
In developing the financial budget of a construction contract,
construction revenue is estimated in accordance with the
terms set out in the relevant contract, whereas construction
costs, which mainly comprise subcontracting charges and
cost of materials, are estimated by the management on the
basis of quotations from time to time provided by the major
contractors/suppliers/vendors involved and the experience of
the management. Because of the nature of the construction
industry, management will make adjustments, where
appropriate, to the amounts of construction revenue and/or
costs based on regular review of contract work progress and
estimated construction revenue and costs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Construction contracts (continued)

In addition, during the early stages of a contract, it is
often the case that the outcome of the contract cannot
be estimated reliably. When the outcome of the contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised
only to the extent of costs incurred that are expected to
be recoverable. The Group regularly assesses the possible
outcome of construction contracts based on latest facts and
circumstances occurred in the construction contracts, and
past experience in conducting similar construction work. When
there is a change in the expectation as to when the outcome of
construction contracts can be estimated reliably, the Group will
adjust the amounts of contract costs and contract profit to be
recognised in profit or loss prospectively.

The Group also monitors the collectibility of payments from
contract customers against variation works and claims, which
highly depends on whether the values of work carried out are
certified by the employers’ engineers of the respective projects.
If there is an indication that the construction cost incurred
becomes irrecoverable, the Group will reassess the outcome
of the contracts and recognise impairment losses, where
appropriate.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2017 at their fair value
of approximately HK$866,120,000 (2016: HK$29,554,000).
The fair value was based on valuation of these properties
conducted by independent qualified professional valuers
using property valuation techniques which adopt the direct
comparison approach by making reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant markets.
Favourable or unfavourable changes would result in changes
in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties and
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Determination of net realisable value of land held for
property development, properties under development and
properties held for sale

Land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. The net realisable value
is the estimated selling price (based on the direct comparison
method) less estimated selling expenses and estimated cost
of completion (if any), which are determined based on best
available information and valuation performed by independent
professional valuers. Where there is any decrease in the
estimated selling price, revision in estimated selling expenses
and/or estimated cost of completion arising from any changes
to the property market conditions in Hong Kong, the PRC and
the UAE, additional loss may be recognised in profit or loss
on the land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill carried as an asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017
was 44,686,000 (2016: Nil), details of which are set out in note
16 to the financial statements.

Income tax

At 31 March 2017, deferred tax assets in relation to unused
tax losses of HK$12,475,000 (2016: HK$15,412,000)
in aggregate have been recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of tax losses of HK$377,150,000
(2016: HK$378,331,000) as at 31 March 2017 due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams (note 35). The
realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future profits generated are less or more than expected,
a material reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Recoverability of an investment deposit and partial
consideration paid for a rescinded acquisition transaction
As disclosed in note 24(a) to the financial statements, as at
31 March 2017, an investment deposit and partial
consideration of HK$148 million in total (defined in note 24(a)
as the “Debt”) was paid to the Entity (as defined in note 24(a))
for the acquisition of a subsidiary. The acquisition transaction
was rescinded during the year and the Entity shall refund the
Debt to the Group. In considering the recoverability of the
Debt, the directors of the Company took into account of (i) a
series of agreements (the “Agreements”) entered into by the
Group with, amongst others, the Entity and its fellow subsidiary
on 26 June 2017 for the purpose of recovering the Debt in
connection with the rescinded acquisition transaction; and (ii)
a valuation of an asset relevant to the Agreements performed
by an independent professional valuer engaged by the Group,
and are of the view that the Debt is fully recoverable and no
impairment is considered necessary.

A considerable amount of estimation is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of this receivable, including the current
creditworthiness and the ultimate materialisation of the plan to
recover the Debt pursuant to the Agreements. If the financial
condition of the Entity is to deteriorate and the failure to
recover the Debt pursuant to the Agreements, resulting in an
impairment of the Entity’s ability to make payments, allowances
may be required.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s operating businesses
are structured and managed separately according to the nature
of their operations and the products and services they provide.
Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic
business unit that offers products and services which are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of the
other operating segments.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company and
certain senior management (collectively referred to as the
“CODM”). For the purpose of performance assessment and
resource allocation by the CODM, the Group’s business
activities are categorised under the following three reportable
operating segments:
J Construction work - provision of services in areas of civil engineering,
electrical and mechanical engineering,
foundation and building construction

. Property development
and investment

- development, sale and leasing of properties

U Professional services - provision of security and facility management

solutions
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

5.

(continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment revenue and results
Segment results represent the gross profit generated from

each segment,

net of selling expenses and administrative

expenses directly attributable to each segment without

allocation of corporate expenses,

interest income, fair value

gain of the derivative components of convertible bonds and

finance costs. This is the

measure reported to the CODM

for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable operating segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2017

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers

Segment results

Interest income

Fair value gain of the derivative
components of convertible
bonds

Corporate and other unallocated
expenses

Finance costs

Profit before tax
Income tax

Profit for the year

Other segment information:

Share of profits and losses of
associates

Depreciation

Fair value gain of investment
properties, net

Gain/(loss) on disposal of items
of property, plant and
equipment, net

5.

ﬁ% ES E?E%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁéiZ%ﬂ &8
BRSSP EERBEZHER X RIT
BHEX MEESERAFES - 8

WA - ATAREFITERD 2 A FE
Hﬂl &wﬂlﬁﬁkzﬁ SR A E B2 E R
RENBRDIERKRATIZEREZ

HEHE.

AEERUZH/EEDRE D 2 W
REEIHMT

BHZ2017E3A31HILEE

Property
development
Construction and Professional
work investment services Total
MERRE
REIE REE  EEEH @
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FATL FATL FHRL FER
SR :
RINBE P iHE 8,308,549 17,389 484,859 8,810,797
NEEE 149,203 123,389 15,772 288,364
FEMA 20,587
AARESITE D 2
44,386
PEREMRDERE
(60,664)
AR (56,726)
BB A 235,947
st (30,126)
REERA 205,821
HittnEER
FEREEE A RR T REE
- 26,004 - 26,004
nE (47,625) (263) (1,152) (49,040)
BEME 2 A FERE
R - 88,855 - 88,855
HEWE - BB R
HE W/ (BR)FE
5,193 68 (38) 5,223
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Segment revenue and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers

Segment results

Interest income
Corporate and other

unallocated expenses
Finance costs

Profit before tax
Income tax

Profit for the year

Other segment information:

Share of profits and losses of
associates

Depreciation

Fair value gain of investment
properties, net

Loss on disposal of items of
property, plant and
equipment, net

Write-off of items of property,
plant and equipment

DEWE
RNBRFHE

PEER

MEBA
EEREMANERX

BAMA

BRIEAT ) 7
FiEh

RER N

Hivn &R
i NGRS |

e
REWMEZ N HEWRE
FE
HEME - BERRE
BABEFE

nE  BERRERELZ
iR

5.

Construction
work

BETR

HK$'000
TAT

8,062,940

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793H31H

ReESBER (2

PHEWBERES (&)
HZE2016 £F3A31HLFE

Property
development
and
investment
MEER
KA
HK$'000
TAT

49,538

Professional
services

SX MR
HK$'000
TR

429,348 8,541,826

183,189

194,859

19,356 397,404

(19,424)

(1,711)
(257)

3,875

24,342

(28,775)
(43,251)

349,720
(43,246)

306,474

- (1,711)
(995) (56,356)

= 3,875

(112) (120)

- (19,424)

2016/175 4 EE;‘MH?%%EEEH&EBE’AE@



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. REH>BEER #)
(continued)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERER

Segment assets and liabilities information is not disclosed as
they are not regularly reviewed by the CODM.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

HRERLERRELFEHRNEND
BEEMAE HARENTERE -

it EE R
(a) KREINSFBEFZ Wz

2017

2017 &

HK$’000

FET
Hong Kong B 8,693,874 7,758,473
Macau JRF 75,398 735,819
Mainland China H B A 2 8,951 11,657
The UAE ] Bt 2 1,215 35,877
Other jurisdictions H A RARE R 31,359 -
8,810,797 8,541,826

The revenue information disclosed above is based on the

locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

(b)

PR EZ RS EHTRERR
FrEmmEL SR -

Hong Kong B

The USA EH
Mainland China PR B A
Other jurisdictions Hihal Ak =

The non-current asset

information disclosed above

HREBEE
2017
2017 &
HK$’000
THxT
1,097,912 518,648
313,993 313,993
5,741 5,392
106,243 83,673
1,523,889 921,706

is based on the locations of the assets and excludes
goodwill, financial assets and deferred tax assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about major customers

A summary of revenue earned from two external customers
which individually contributed more than 10% of the Group’s
revenue for each of the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016
is set out below:

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

5. KREFER »

EREITEREFZER
REE2017F % 2016F3 A31H It
EFEERAAAEEER T B WSE
10% A ERMZIINEBRPHKRZHE
AT

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 £

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TAT

Customer A: EEA:
Contribution to construction work BREETIEDE
segment
Contribution to professional services B E AR 5 2P
segment
Customer B: ZFEB:
Contribution to construction work BREETIED
segment
Contribution to professional services B E AR 5 2P
segment

4,880,336 4,410,015
24,556 18,747
4,904,892 4,428,762
843,550 1,414,786
289,696 246,014
1,133,246 1,660,800
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. Z#¥% - Hhlh A RWKEFE

Revenue represents: (1) an appropriate proportion of contract %%H&)\h PRI LEARTRE &%
revenue of construction contracts for the provision of services ETIR HMEREFEEIRHBR
in areas of civil engineering, electrical and mechanical BZRBEEHNZBELHELHUWA
engineering, foundation and building construction; (2) services QIRHEEEBEAZACRBEE : ()2
fees from the provision of construction related consultancy EMEBEEEE (k& ER KB
services; (3) the invoiced value of properties sold, net of WimgE): A REEEXLEMEZESE
business tax and government surcharges; (4) gross rental WA s & (5)IRERET KREEIE
income from the leasing of investment properties; and RRFRZRBESE -

(5) service fees from the provision of security and facility

management solutions.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains,
net, is as follows:

AEE 2 EFE  HlA R iasF
BZAMMT

Notes
BsE
Revenue B
Construction work BET2 8,277,190 8,062,940
Rendering of construction related TR SRR R RS
consultancy services 31,359 -
Sale of properties SHEWE 8,951 35,698
Gross rental income of KEYHERS WAL
investment properties 8,438 13,840
Rendering of security and facility RBHEREZ N EEEIER
management services 75 484,859 429,348
8,810,797 8,541,826
Other income Hir A
Interest income FEU A 20,587 24,342
Other rental income HEafA2 WA 96 2,308
Guarantee income ERW S 30(a) 18,721 15,643
Management fee income EIEEIA 5,833 7,500
Sundry income TR A 10,521 3,240
55,758 53,033
Gains, net Ui A
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEZE « #ER &R 1E
plant and equipment, net 5B 2 W 558 5,223 -
Gain on bargain purchase of ZEEBE—HBWNBAR
a subsidiary pa g 40 19,282 -
Gains on sale of property interests ERLENBARIEE
through disposal of subsidiaries VIR 2 Was 41 7,070 229,217
Gains on deregistration of BH a0 B B A 7] 2 Uk
subsidiaries, net O F R 1,265 4,530
Fair value gain of the derivative AIMREFITEE D 2
components of convertible bonds NFE U 44,386 =
Foreign exchange differences, net b N = REF R = 22
77,226 233,769
Other income and gains, net E U A Rk 2 B 132,984 286,802

@ ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2016/17




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

FINANCE COSTS 7. RERAK
2017
2017 £
HK$°000
FHET
Interest on: AT&IBEZAHE :
Bank and other borrowings RITREMIER 70,666 72,654
Unsecured bond payable to the JES SR IR A Bl 7 K IR E
ultimate holding company * 198 -
Unsecured bond payable to a FERT—FEREE A A 2 SRR E
related company %= - 4,018
Hire purchase contract and finance HEEHNRENRERE
lease payables 1,285 2,016
Convertible bonds AR &S 788 =
72,937 78,688
Imputed interest on: HERE
Convertible bonds AR ES 34,887 8,212
Interest-free loans from a R E—EH B A R EZER L
non-controlling equity holder BEHBAZREER
of a subsidiary 815 935
35,702 9,147
Total interest expenses A B 108,639 87,835
Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred 5 —IB4R1TE RE £ 2 H B
in connection with the arrangement 1K 2 B 5H
of a bank loan 4,050 1,013
Total finance costs 42 30 & pK AN 112,689 88,848
Less: Amount included in cost of B ETARBETIRR A #HEE
construction work (21,547) (40,967)
Amount capitalised in properties BREARTERERYES
under development 2R (6,571) (4,630)
Amount capitalised in investment B EATERIEEYE
property under construction 2 EhEa (27,845) =
56,726 43,251
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BR®iAIER
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBZBRBABMNEMBR (FFA)
(crediting): TH&1E :

Cost of construction work BETEKAK 7,889,759 7,610,987
Cost of construction related B EEREEA

consultancy services provided Pl 7% A AN 20,631 =
Cost of properties sold B EWEKAR 7,056 51,419

Direct operating expenses (including  UWEH & 2 R EWE
repairs and maintenance) arising on  FIEA Z HERKLLH X

rental-earning investment properties (‘B IEHIEIRE) 1,527 4,328
Cost of security and facility ERHARLREEEE

management services provided R 7% Ak A 431,081 386,559

Depreciation = 14 49,040 56,356
Less: Amount included in cost of o FFABE TR A

construction work ZE5E (41,751) (49,314)

7,289 7,042

Fair value loss of equity investments A (EET Az 2 &

at fair value through profit or loss ARE 72 AN FEEE 42 18
Minimum lease payments under EEMRNT 2 HEHE
operating leases INES 135,863 125,444
Less: Amount included in cost of B AT ARBETRERA
construction work 2B (117,258) (115,809)
18,605 9,635
Auditor’s remuneration BN & 4,520 4,119
Employee benefit expense (including (EEEFEX (BiEFES
directors’ remuneration — note 9) B - FI5E9)
Salaries, allowances and benefits e ZEREY
in kind & A 1,734,478 1,749,163
Retirement benefit scheme RIRAE N ET B ERR
contributions 60,641 55,074
Total employee benefit expense EERARZARE 1,795,119 1,804,237
Less: Amount included in cost of B AT AREETRE
construction work B AR 2 BEE (1,116,182) (1,188,275)
Amount included in cost of s ABRTE R A
services provided k¢ (414,853) (371,943)

264,084 244,019
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
2017%3H31H

8. BRHANIER (&)

Foreign exchange differences, net b X Z5FE

(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment, net

Write-off of items of property,

plant and equipment

(Wezs) /BIRFE

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

HEME - R MRERR
Y - Hes RERIBTEE Z MR

2017
2017 &
HK$’°000
FET
372 (22)
(5,223) 120
= 19,424
9. EEME
RIBBXATES EmBRNT EmE

Al 1)~ &% A A K F383(1)a)
) C)EMERAR(FEESEHRE
BOBRME2S  AFE2EEHHE K
BT

Fees e
Other emoluments: His -
Salaries, allowances and benefits Ha - EBNEY
in kind 127

Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

Total directors’ remuneration

ExMems

2017
2017 &
HK$’000
THxT
1,132 1,380
9,120 9,115
139 138
9,259 9,253
10,391 10,633
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named basis,

is as follows:

2017

Executive directors:
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic®
Xu Jianhua
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement®

Non-executive directors:
Zhang Xiaoliang*
Chow Wing Kin, Anthony*

Independent non-executive
directors:
Chan Stephen Yin Wai*
Kwan Ringo Cheukkai"
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang"
Lam Yau Fung, Curt’
Wu William Wai Leung

Total

HITES
¥—E°
4z
73
Besle

FHITES
RPR*
K

BUFATES:

RER"
BERM"
EEEN
HEEY

HHER

@ ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED

9. EEME »
MEZFRIELZEEME/MT

2017 &

Retirement

Salaries benefit

and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total

H&K BIKER
ok HigF HE LA ok )
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
214 172 1 387
- 2,944 18 2,962
- 3,167 60 3,227
- 2,837 60 2,897
214 9,120 139 9,473
214 - - 214
122 - - 122
336 - - 336
131 - - 131
131 - - 131
45 - - 45
45 - - 45
230 - - 230
582 - - 582
1,132 9,120 139 10,391

Annual Report 2016/17



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA ISR R MR

31 March 2017
2017%3H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9. EEME (»)
2016 2016 4
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions
\ Hek RIRGEF
e Hiiah HEIS
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FAL TAEx
Executive directors: HTESH:
Xu Jianhua BEE - 2,912 18 2,930
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Z— = 3,297 60 3,357
Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement® By - 2,906 60 2,966
- 9,115 138 9,253
Non-executive directors: FHTES :
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic® ¥ 230 - - 230
Zhang Xiaoliang* RNR* 230 = = 230
Chow Wing Kin, Anthony* Rk fde 230 - - 230
690 - - 690
Independent non-executive BUFHITES:
directors:
Chan Stephen Yin Wai" RER" 230 - - 230
Kwan Ringo Cheukkai" R 230 - - 230
Wu William Wai Leung HE= 230 - - 230
690 - - 690
Total faz 1,380 9,115 138 10,633
# resigned as a non-executive director on 12 October 2016 § R2016F 10 A 12 BBEIERTES
" resigned as independent non-executive directors on 25 October 2016 " R20164 10 A 25 BB B IEMITE
=
v appointed as independent non-executive directors on 20 January 2017 v MR2017F1 A20 A EZEAB L IENTT
-
o re-designated from a non-executive director to an executive director @ R2017 53 A7 HAFATERAETR
on 7 March 2017 HITES
* resigned as a non-executive director on 7 March 2017 * R2017F 3 A7 BHREENITES
e resigned as an executive director on 1 June 2017 @ R2017%€6 A1 BBIHTES
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or S E FE- I %jf MRZHREFREIL
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2016: Nil). Jﬂiﬁ)ﬁﬁ R EREEMME (2016 F -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. T2 BaFMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included AFEE AEZBReFMEEREARA
one director (2016: two directors) of the Company, details of A—EZEEZ (2016 F  MEEF)  H
whose emoluments are set out in note 9 above. Details of the B EN EXXM 9 - FREERIT
remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2016: three) % (2016 F : =R)IEEEaFMHE
non-director highest paid employees are as follows: BZEHMFEBOT -
2017
2017 &
HK$’000
F&T
Salaries, allowances and other benefits %% - 288 R H i@ F 12,894 9,846
Retirement benefit scheme RREAFT B 5K
contributions 198 92
13,092 9,938
The number of non-director highest paid employees whose MENFRYNGEEANZIEEER S I
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: MES < ABIAT -
Number of employees
EEAE
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 & 7T 2 3,500,000 /& 7T 3 3
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 & 7T 2 4,000,000 % 7T 1 -
4 8
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2016: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

11. FIBH
EBNER IR AEENEETBEL
ZALEEERESHEFILL 16.5% (2016 £ -
16.5%) sHIR B o L E fb b [ AR R
BABMMNZHE  DREAEHRLE
ZRIFEER ZBEITMEAE -

Current — Hong Kong BER — B
Charge for the year AEERY
Under-provision in prior years BEFEERETT
Current — Mainland China BHA — AR B A
Charge for the year AEERY
Under-provision in prior years BEFERENT
Current — Elsewhere BIER — H A5
Charge for the year AEERY
Deferred (note 35) JRFE (FIzE35)
Total tax expense for the year RNEE IR 4258

2017
2017 &
HK$’000
FET
26,436 22,363
613 5,157
27,049 27,520
4,750 3,344
= 1,801
4,750 5,145
2,196 9,587
(3,869) 994
30,126 43,246
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

11. T H &)
R TR R E 2 B F A FE R B
BREYREAEEEEHRTE S H

11. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory rates to the tax expense at the Group’s

effective tax rate is as follows:

B ZHERMT

2017 2016
2017 2016 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FET
Profit before tax B EELR T 235,947 349,720
Tax expensg at the statutory REER R ZHBERY
tax rates 40,752 17.3 56,730 16.2
Profits and losses attributable A NGI i 3 gyl e
to associates B8 (3,021) (1.3) 282 0.1
Income not subject to tax BAGT WA (24,739) (10.5) (41,594) (11.9)
Expenses not deductible for tax B 23,013 9.8 22,764 6.5
Under-provision in prior years, net  BAFEEETR 58 613 0.3 6,958 2.0
Tax losses not recognised AERAZFBER 16,412 6.9 22,291 6.4
Tax losses utilised from previous A LA 2 HIAE R
periods (20,757) (8.8) (25,599) (7.3)
Others Hith (2,147) (0.9) 1,414 0.4
Tax expense at the Group’s RASBERHRHE
effective tax rate BB X 30,126 12.8 43,246 12.4
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12.

13.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIVIDEND

12.

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

iR 2

2017
2017 &

HK$’000

Proposed final dividend — HK3.8 cents
(2016: Nil) per ordinary share

The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of
the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

In respect of the diluted earnings per share amount for the year
ended 31 March 2017, no adjustment has been made to the
basic earnings per share amount presented as the impact of
the convertible bonds outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on
the basic earnings per share amount presented.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount for
the year ended 31 March 2016 is based on the profit for the
year attributable to shareholders of the Company, adjusted to
reflect the effect of the deemed conversion of all the Group’s
dilutive convertible bonds at the respective dates of issue.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the total of (i) the number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation; and (ii) the number of ordinary shares to be issued
on the deemed conversion of all dilutive convertible bonds into
ordinary shares, at the beginning of the year or the date of
issue, whichever is the later.

BSOS - SRR
3.878 Ml (2016 4F : #)

13.

2016/174 4 azfaﬂnﬁﬁegzzmﬁﬁﬁma@
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61,533 =

EEABREAGTARABRRNERE
REGEFRE LR - HAEE -

AARARREEERAER

BREARN  DREARDARERE
HEEGENEAFEAEZETERAK
HEFHBEHE -

FEE 20173 A31 BILFEERE
BRAMNESEMS AR MERITHETHR
EEZ T EHMENEREKRET
CHEARMENE BT EHE 27
FREAAEFCBEELAE -

REE2016FE3 A31HILEE 8K
BBREMNDBEARRKEREMLFE
BHHE UTRASEEFMEEEE S
2R ESFRIER S HBETHS
ERBMELHAZ -SFEMANT A
A INAEF BB LAT Z @50 : () REE
NERITHEBREE (BiESRE
REFFERERR) R (i) RETK
BITZHB(UBEEAE)  FTAEBE
BB RRESHEELBRR AT R
BTERITHLTBREE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 1. XA RREELEEREF

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continued) (#)
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share FREARREE AR TR E T &8UE
amounts is based on the following data: TE
Earnings 27
2017
2017 £
HK$°000
T#ET
Profit for the year attributable to RARREERANFE R
shareholders of the Company, REsTEEREAAF
used in the basic earnings per
share calculation 205,506 301,950
Imputed interest on convertible bonds A& (&5 2 il E F| & - 8,212
Profit for the year attributable to RAGRRERARNEE R
shareholders of the Company, REstEEREERR
used in the diluted earnings per
share calculation 205,506 310,162
Number of shares egvig 4]
2017 2016
2017 £ 2016 £F
Weighted average number of ordinary — ANF[E B 317X @A pokE
shares in issue during the year, Eig - BEstE S
used in the basic earnings per FHAZEF|
share calculation 1,508,449,313 1,414,254,283
Effect of dilution of convertible bonds — B[R [& & % 7 #5272
weighted average number of ordinary — — & @ A% iN4E F19 8
shares - 155,489,041
Weighted average number of ordinary — EZ3@AANEFHE - Bk
shares, used in the diluted earnings STEEREERR
per share calculation 1,508,449,313 1,569,743,324
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BBREE
Furniture,
Land and Plantand fixtures and Motor
buildings machinery equipment vehicles Total
TR BER B %8
BT &M ] RE fag
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
T T TEL T THR
(note (b)) (notes (a) (note (a))
and (b))
(Kt (b)) (W () (K&t (a)
R (b))
31 March 2017 2017£3H31H
At 1 April 2016 R201654 418 :
Cost A 62,005 371,719 69,990 99,721 609,435
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (30,040) (191,913) (45,009) (59,946) (326,908)
Net carrying amount REFE 31,965 185,806 24,981 39,775 282,527
Net carrying amount: REFE
At 1 April 2016 201654 A1H 31,965 185,806 24,981 39,775 282,527
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 40) MR B AR (P 40) 7,890 990 770 1,148 10,798
Additions NE - 16,289 28,522 3,502 48,313
Depreciation provided during REERGHREZ I E
the year (1,600) (31,261) (4,052) (12,127) (49,040)
Disposals & = (6,695) - (1,321) (8,016)
Transfer to non-current assets and ~~ EEZHEHEEZERE
assets of a disposal group held BERHEEEEE
for sale (note 28) (FizE28) - (10,566) - (6,181) (16,747)
Exchange realignment [ 31, A% - (24) - (22)
At 31 March 2017 R2017E3A31H 38,257 154,563 50,197 24,796 267,813
At 31 March 2017: R2017E3A31 8
Cost KA 70,093 339,068 101,074 77,673 587,908
Accumulated depreciation ZiiE (31,836) (184,505) (50,877) (52,877) (320,095)
Net carrying amount REFE 38,257 154,563 50,197 24,796 267,813
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

31 March 2016

At 1 April 2015:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

Net carrying amount:
At 1 April 2015
Additions
Depreciation provided during
the year
Disposals and write-off
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2016

At 31 March 2016:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

Notes:

(@) The net carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment held under hire purchase contracts and finance leases
included in the total amounts of plant and machinery and motor

March 2017 were HK$40,535,000 (2016:

HK$58,702,000) and HK$4,487,000 (2016: HK$24,701,000),

vehicles as at 31

respectively.

(b) At 31 March 2017, certain of the Group’s land and buildings
and plant and machinery with then net carrying amounts of
HK$7,859,000 (2016: HK$5,704,000) and HK$14,546,000 (2016:
HK$28,061,000), respectively, were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 31(e)).

201653 A31H

R2015F4A18
AR
ZiHE

WREFE

REFE
W2015E4A1H
NE
REE AR

LNE
& RieR
JE R %

2016 E3A31H

R2016FE3A31H
KA
ZHHE

REFE

Land and
buildings
TR
BT
HK$'000

TR
(note (b))
(F3E (o))

14. Y% - BBREE @

Plant and
machinery
BER
B
HK$'000
THL
(notes (a)
and (o))
(M3t ()
R (b))

Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
equipment vehicles

i £B
P& HE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT
(note (a))
(MEE (@)

62,005 632,054 67,020 98,456 859,535
(28,507) (418,560) (41,036) (51,143) (539,246)
33,498 213,494 25,984 47,313 320,289
33,498 213,494 25,984 47,313 320,289
- 41,585 3,018 6,253 50,856
(1,539) (37,659) (3,994) (13,170) (56,356)
= (31,613) @ (617) (32,232)
- (1) (25) (4) (30)
31,965 185,806 24,981 39,775 282,527
62,005 377,719 69,990 99,721 609,435
(30,040) (191,913) (45,009) (59,946) (326,908)
31,965 185,806 24,981 39,775 282,527
Mo
(@) AEBEFA2017F3A31H 2 #eE
MR AE 7 BEANZ ERBAOR
MEMEREWE  HMERIBEZER
F & » Bl A40,535,000% Jt (2016
£ : 58,702,000/ 7T ) & 4,487,000 %
7T (2016 4 : 24,701,000 7T) °
(b) M2017%E3A31H > A& HE @ F
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

15. REWE

Under
Completed construction Total
%I HEIR @5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THT THET TET
(note a) (note b)
(HizEa) (MiEED)

Carrying amount at 1 April 2015 R2015% 4 A1 AREREE 250,276 - 250,276

Net gain from fair value adjustments A T{EZH &5 3,875 - 3,875

Disposals & (224,597) - (224,597)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2016 and 720164 3 A 31 B 22016 F

1 April 2016 4 A1 BEEREE 29,554 - 29,554

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 40)  UkEE—RIMt B AR (F540) 313,000 - 313,000

Additions NE - 701,815 701,815

Interest capitalised (note 7) BNz E (FHsE7) = 27,845 27,845

Net (loss)/gain from fair value adjustments AT(EIHE (E18) /528 (21,485) 110,340 88,855

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 41) HE—FME AR (FiE41) (295,000) - (295,000)

Exchange realignment [E 5 % 51 - 51

Carrying amount at 31 March 2017 R20174%3 B 31 BREAEE 26,120 840,000 866,120

Notes: M

(a) The Group’s completed investment properties are residential (@) AEERITREYESEMEEREL
properties in the UAE which are leased to third parties under SRELAT EEE??ZE%%% 54
operating leases, further summary details of which are included in B IR A B S KR T 5E 43(a) ©
note 43(a) to the financial statements.

(b)  In October 2016, the Group acquired a residential development (b) M2016F 108 AEBH —ZBUE
project at No.128 Waterloo Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong from =HBABENESITZE1285RE=x
an independent third party. The Group plans to redevelop the BREH  AEBEGEREZVERT
property into a residential building for leasing to third parties under EEFURBLLEHAERE=F LAY
operating leases. Accordingly, the residential development project % o HIt - M20179F3A31H » %ZE=E
was classified as an investment property under construction as at BRBERIEREREREYE -

31 March 2017.

At 31 March 2017, the Group’s investment property under
construction with a then carrying amount of HK$840,000,000 (2016:
Nil) was pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 31(g)).

At 31 March 2017, the Group’s completed investment properties
and investment property under construction were remeasured based
on valuations performed by Cluttons, LLC (2016: Cluttons, LLC)
and Jones Lang Lasalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited
(2016: Nil), independent professional qualified valuers, respectively.
Each year, the Group’s senior management decides which external
valuers to be appointed for the external valuations of the Group’s
investment properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
The Group’s senior management has on-going discussions with the
valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation results during the
course of the valuation.

2016/174 4 az;‘dﬂnﬁﬁegzzmﬁﬁﬁma@

7201743 A31H * Bk E840,000,000
BI(20164F : )M AEETEREY
XEHEREANEEER —RBTHE
ZHER(MEES1(e)) ©

R2017E3A31H REBILEES
& 1% f {& Bl Cluttons, LLC (20164 :
Cluttons, LLC) RMEBTEETHER
LBHARAF (20164F : ) #1721
B AEBECHOREFITEERTIRE
MERERIZEYE - $‘§E§mf&aﬁ
BEFRERTINEBMHEEMAR -
REEZEYFEETINBHE - %5;%
HREMSENE BUERREFA
EER - NMEEBRET AEESR
BE-—HRHEMROHEEBRIRGEES
2 ERETHR ©

™

mmm%m



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

15. REWE »)

Notes: (continued) Mz - ()
() (continued) (c) (#&)
Fair value hierarchy disclosure AFEEREE

At 31 March 2017, fair value measurements of all of the Group’s
investment properties are using significant unobservable inputs (Level
3) as defined in HKFRS 13. During the year, there were no transfers
of fair value measurements between Level 1 (quoted prices in active
markets) and Level 2 (significant observable inputs) and no transfers
into or out of Level 3.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of the Group’s investment properties:

aluation techniques

(EXEE30

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTABREGABE

Completed investment properties - Residential units in the UAE
BRIRENFE-MEE 2 EBEM
Direct comparison approach Selling property unit rate

(per square feet)

Emirati Dirham
(“AED”)1,281

R20174E3A31H  REMFAKREY
¥ AFEAEFAERTAIHEREA
IR (E=R) (TEREBW KRS E
AIZE135) - N"EERN - ATFEF=ESE
—ROERMIBHRE) BE K (EKRA
BROASB) 2HATEESE  HEH
ASEBHE=F -

AT RAREREMEMGEERBBHER
Mk ETEBMABBEZME

Key inputs

TEHAE
2017
2017

AED1,386
(equivalent to HK$2,926)

(equivalent to HK$2,709)

HELEE HENZEBLEB(BFAR) 1,281 518 (MBS |) 1,386
(HER 2,709 7T) (BE 12,926 %7T)
Investment property under construction - Residential development
project in Hong Kong
ERRENE-BREZEERREER
Residual approach Gross development value HK$19,661 N/A
(per square feet) 19,661 % T TEH
FlgrE BHREEE(BTAR)
Construction cost (per square feet) HK$4,476 N/A
BRERAK(BFAR) 4,476 BT TEA

The valuations were arrived at by making reference to its
development potential according to its highest and best use or, by
making reference to comparable sales transactions as available in
the relevant markets. In the valuation under the direct comparison
approach, the comparable properties are made by reference to those
of similar properties in the neighbourhood.

Residential units in the UAE were valued under the direct comparison
approach, market price is one of the key inputs, taking into account
the time, location, and individual factors, such as frontage and size,
between the comparables and the property. Investment property
under construction in Hong Kong was valued under the residual
approach. A slight increase in the market price used would result in
a significant increase in the fair value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

16. GOODWILL 16. B &
2017
2017 F
HK$°000
FHExT
Cost and net carrying amount: AN R BREDFE
At beginning of year = lis - _
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 40) Uy 8% — RS B B A &) (B 3£ 40) 44,686 =
At end of year F R 44,686 -
Impairment testing of goodwill BEREANR
The carrying amount of the goodwill acquired through EBWE B ARMENEEE
acquisition of a subsidiary has been allocated to the relevant HEEIPREEASEEEZETRE D IHE
business unit of the construction work segment of the Group B SRS AERE BRI ©

for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the relevant business unit in the BETESF 2EEEB B PIK
construction work segment has been determined based on EeBEERECRAEBEMERE ° %s
a value in use calculation. The calculation used cash flow ENERASREEEBEZ = FHH
projections based on financial forecasts approved by senior IR & W IE € = T8 R R AR R 4L
management covering a three-year period and based on the EHERFIAENBRRIEL - Re
assumption that the size of the operation remains constant MEBEEARA ZITEER/10% - A
perpetually. The discount rate applied to the cash flow REE=FHE BEeR=ERXRA
projections is 10%. The growth rate used to extrapolate the 2.5% °

cash flows beyond the three-year period is 2.5%.

Based on the results of the impairment testing of goodwill, in BEHEREIAER  RARGES
the opinion of the directors of the Company, no impairment RAE - R2017E3HA31H WEKE
provision is considered necessary for the Group’s goodwill as at TLANE B B IR -

31 March 2017.

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

o
==
s
e

<
k> —
ot
o
B TE]
3
=
S
=
I
e
>|_
ot
5

=t
=

Budgeted gross margin HEEFIFE

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the AUNEEBEEENERBEMNEELRE
budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin achieved EEEFER —FMERNFHEEFR
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased = BEt SRR R TE AT T 5 5 B
for expected efficiency improvements, and expected market migan o

development.

Business environment EBRE

There have been no major changes in the existing political, NS IR B BUE ~ VA2 R AR AR I
legal and economic conditions in Singapore. B KEDH) o

Growth rate R E

The growth rate of 2.5% applied to the cash flow projections is e namilfmER 2 % R KT
based on the average annual inflation rate in Singapore. EAH N3 T E AR X

Discount rate HEE

The discount rate of 10% applied to the cash flow projections HemaTEAMER 10%TEX A
is before tax and reflects specific risks relating to the building BB ATH R R Eﬂ%ﬁ AEFTEZINESE
construction and architectural consultancy business. BHEENEERR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

17. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

17. R—RE&

ENRRE

2017
2017 &

HK$’000
FERT

R—HEAZERRE :
EIEREFE
BERRZER (M (D)

Investment in a joint venture:
Share of net liabilities
Loan to a joint venture (note (b))
R—EaERRIZIRELRE

Total investment in a joint venture

Notes: FEEE -
(a) Particulars of the joint venture as at 31 March 2017 are set out in (a)
note 51 to the financial statements.
(b) The loan to the joint venture is unsecured, interest-free and has (b)
no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the loan is considered as part of the Group’s net
investment in the joint venture.
(c) Material joint venture disclosure (c)

Dingway Investment Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Dingway
Group”) are considered as a material joint venture group of the Group
and are accounted for using the equity method. The major asset of
the Dingway Group is a parcel of land located in Miami, the USA,

which is held for property development.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

17. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 17. R—BEEQATRE &

Notes: (continued) MieE - (8&)

() Material joint venture disclosure (continued) (c) EXAERATIZHE(E)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information TR MR ERER ST BRI E
in respect of the Dingway Group, adjusted for any differences in BOEH ARG EE R B E LA K EEf
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the BHRREEDENYSES T

financial statements:

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fax FHTT
Statement of financial position BB RR
Land held for property development BIEMEZREZ T 742,025 720,783
Cash and cash equivalents Re kAR EEIER 1,540 12,580
Other current assets HibRBEE 33 1
Current assets mENE E 743,598 733,364
Current liabilities mEEE (743,887) (734,159)
Net liabilities BEFE (289) (795)
Group’s share of net liabilities (45%) RNEBEIL 2 B EF5E (45%) —* =
Financial performance BB RE
Revenue EE - = -
Other income EH U A 787 -
Administrative expenses THFAX (281) (799)
Profit/(loss) for the year and total comprehensive AN E 7/ (E1E) K2 M
income/(loss) for the year Wezk/(E518) fasa 506 (795)
Group’s share of results for the year (45%) AEBMPEIEANFEE ELE (45%) —* —*
* The Group has discontinued sharing the loss of the Dingway * AEEERIEDEHRESE ZE
Group because the share of its loss has exceeded the Group’s B AEGEBEDBREAEH
investment in it and the Group has no obligation to take up REREEARER W EF FE
further of its losses. The amount of the Group’s accumulated EEMEE RAFEAREE
unrecognised share of the loss of the Dingway Group for the SESEEMNIFARERNEE
current year was HK$130,000 (2016: HK$358,000). % % /&130,00078 jT (2016 4F :

358,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H
18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REtE N AR

2017
2017 &

HK$°000
FERT

R E R Z W&

Investments in associates, included

in non-current assets: (FFAERBEE) :
Share of net assets 1L & EFE (@) 75,810 103,334
Deemed capital contributions BIEEANTE (b) - 17,312
Loans to an associate B NR 2 ER (b) - 98,906
Due from associates B N B 2 RER (©) 153 76,080
75,963 295,632
Investment in an associate, included A —RIEZ AR 2184 -
in non-current assets held for sale STAREBEERIFIE
in current assets: HEZIEREEE -
Share of net assets EIEEEFE (d) 17,886 =
Deemed capital contributions BRIEERFE (o) 17,584 =
Loans to an associate kNG = (b) 127,972 —
28 163,442 -
Due from associates, included Bt N A 2 R
in current assets GFARBEE) (c), 24 - 10,377
Due to associates, included in RSN T 2 TR
current liabilities (FTARSEaR) (c), 30 (12,436) (12,409)
Total interests in associates REE R RIS RTE 226,969 293,600
Notes: P -

(@)

(b)

Particulars of the principal associates as at 31 March 2017 are set
out in note 52 to the financial statements.

The balances represented interest-free shareholders’ loans
with an aggregate principal amount of HK$142,831,000 (2016:
HK$113,888,000) provided by the Group to Loyal Pioneer Limited
(“Loyal Pioneer”, an associate) which are repayable on or before
end of year 2021. The initial fair value of the loans at inception is
determined by the discounted cash flow method using discount
rates based on the borrowing rate ranging from 2.479% to 2.692%
(2016: 2.479% to 2.485%) per annum. The difference of HK$272,000
(2016: HK$17,312,000) between the fair value of the loans and
the amounts received on initial recognition was treated as deemed
capital contributions and recognised directly in the “Investments
in associates”. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
amounts advanced to Loyal Pioneer included in the investments in
associates above are considered as the Group’s investments in Loyal
Pioneer.

On 31 March 2017, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with an independent third party for the disposal of
the Group’s entire 10% equity interest in Loyal Pioneer and the
transaction was completed on 19 May 2017. The Group’s investment
in Loyal Pioneer is classified as a non-current asset held for sale as at
31 March 2017. Further details of the transaction are set out in note
28(a) to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

Py — a2z =
18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. Rt E N T #Ex= (&)
Notes: (continued) BT : (8)
(¢)  These balances with associates are unsecured, interest-free and (c) HEENRMEBMAERAEER . 28
have no fixed terms of repayment. Ko b 4 [E] 7 38 SRR o
(d) Summarised financial information of associates (d) HEQARTEERBEE
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, all the Group’s AANBEERZAE  KEBABL AT
associates are not individually material. The following table illustrates HRBEREK o &5 7 & FH B
the aggregate financial information of the Group’s associates: NEZEBITEER -
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHETT
Share of the associates’ comprehensive EEEHEAT2EKAREE :
income or loss:
Profit/(loss) for the year REDREF(EEB) 26,004 (1,711)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hih 2 (8518)kas (99) 114
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EWE(E518) #58 25,905 (1,597)

Share of the associates’ assets and liabilities: E{fKE AT EEREE :

Included in non-current assets: FTAERBEE :
Non-current assets ERBEE 56,839 155,852
Current assets MENAE 19,562 253,893
Non-current liabilities ERBAE = (293,485)
Current liabilities mEBE (591) (12,926)
75,810 103,334
Included in non-current assets held for sale STARBEEREEHEEZ
in current assets: IERBEE -
Current assets MENVEE 255,070 -
Non-current liabilities ERBARE (236,825) -
Current liabilities MEAE (359) -
17,886 =
Aggregate share of net assets of the associates [EEBE N R EESE AR 93,346 103,334
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

19. LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

The Group’s land held for property development is leasehold
land or land use rights acquired by the Group for future
property development for sale. An analysis of the Group’s land
held for property development by geographical area as at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

Hong Kong B
Mainland China B A
The UAE P By 2

20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

The Group’s properties under development as at 31 March 2017
represented a residential development project in Hong Kong,
which is expected to be completed within normal operating
cycle and hence is classified as a current asset.

At 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group’s properties under
development were pledged to banks to secure certain banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 31(e)).

21. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s properties held for sale are residential properties
in Mainland China.

19. BEE R oL ib
AEBBEYLEREY T PAE
BARRMERRENER SRR
E+ ki ERE - BERE D
RAEBMBEYEER Y + HIREBMH
BT :

2017 2016
2017 £ 2016 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
33,885 33,707
253,814 269,282
236,015 235,569
523,714 538,558

20. BEHP Y

R2017F3 31 HZAREBEREFRY
¥E—[EFEF=E%REREE  EFE:T
BREFEEABANATK  BEME S
HARBEE -

MR2017F 20163 A31H » K&
BERERYWEERTEFRIT (EAR
EEERzETRITRE ZER (M
31(e)) °

21. BESEEY =
AEBEREREMEGRREANE
STER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CONTRACT
CUSTOMERS

23.

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
2017%3H31H

22. B N EHNEFRIE

Gross amounts due from BRI & 4B P FRIEB R
contract customers
Gross amounts due to ENEHNEFPFIAE

contract customers

2017 2016
2017 &£ 2016 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THxT FHET
1,888,491 2,011,048
(734,827) (685,830)
1,153,664 1,325,218

Contract costs incurred plus recognised B &4 A LKA INE R T -

profits less recognised losses BE R E 1R
Less: Progress billings B HEERR

At 31 March 2017, retentions held by customers for contract
works included in trade receivables of the Group amounted to
HK$484,288,000 (2016: HK$524,928,000) (note 23(b)).

At 31 March 2016, advances received from customers for
contract works included in other payables of the Group
amounted to HK$2,852,000.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

42,179,418 38,216,556
(41,025,754) (36,891,338)

1,153,664 1,325,218

M2017F3A31H MEE TR H
XEFEAEZRESEFARERZ
B 5 & W 3k T8 5 484,288,000 JT
(20164 : 524,928,000/ 7T ) (Ki5F23(0)) °

MN2016FE3A31H  MELIRER

FEMZHBEFARNER 2 EMh]E
~FRIE A 2,852,000 7T °

23. EZ B RE

2017
2017 &

HK$’000

Trade receivables other than H 5 W IE
retention receivables (FEURIRE £ BRIM)
Retention receivables fEUIRE &

FET

(a) 1,032,439 1,168,034
(b) 484,288 524,928

1,516,727 1,692,962

2016/174 4 az;‘mﬁsegzzmﬁﬁﬁma@



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Except for the rental income from leasing of properties which are
payable in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements,
the Group generally allows a credit period of not exceeding 60 days
to its customers. Interim applications for progress payments on
construction contracts are normally submitted on a monthly basis
and are normally settled within one month.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed
periodically. The majority of the Group’s trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired relate to customers that have good
credit quality with reference to the respective settlement history.

The aged analysis of the trade receivables (other than retention
receivables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

23. E 5 WA (&)

GEE

(a)

BRIREARBRGEIEN ZEEYNEE
SRAN - AEE-RAETFPERT
HBRE0RZEEY - EREESHZH
HEENRERE - REZARI RN — (@
R

REBEMEME P A - NEE G EE
EEPHEREERZRREPAERFER
BM-BPEENBRBEATREEHR
Bl - RIBFMHBAEERLE  AEEXRIED
I EA SR E R R 5B KRR EA
BRIEEEEENEFAM -

RBEPRERZER 2B ZRKKE
(EYRE BRI REDHTHIBRAT :

Within 1 month —fE@AR

1 to 2 months —ZmW@EA
2 to 3 months MZE=18 A
Over 3 months =@AKE

The aged analysis of the trade receivables (other than retention
receivables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the due
date, is as follows:

2017
2017 F
HK$’000
FExT
902,579 1,011,558
64,734 83,795
17,271 35,259
47,855 37,422
1,032,439 1,168,034

RESHA REIHEHEZEIE
R (R B S 1) B8R S 47 51 8
mF -

Neither past due nor impaired 3 2 8 FR ORI (B
Past due but not impaired: B @ AR EFKIE
1 - 30 days 1-30H
31 - 90 days 31-90 H
91 - 180 days 91-180 H
Over 180 days FBiB180H

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

2017
2017 &
HK$’000
FHT
906,842 1,025,857
65,772 78,072
9,513 18,661
9,947 23,109
40,365 22,335
125,597 142,177
1,032,439 1,168,034
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(@) (continued)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

(b) Retention receivables held by contract customers arose from the
Group’s construction work business and are settled within a period
ranging from one year to three years after the completion of the
construction work, as stipulated in the construction contracts.

The due date for settlement of the Group’s retention receivables as
at the end of the reporting period is analysed as follows:

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

23. E 5 EWFIE (&)

MisE : (8)
(@ (#&)

ERBERREZ BRFAEE TER
SENFECETERFLELBITS
B - RENELR ARAEER
B RAEEEXAESAEE  URD
REEZFERAAZHRE - HHE
SRz SR E MR ERAE -

(b) AHBRFPHRBEZEURESNELAR
SEZEETRERE  YREBEZETRE
BRFRRE  RERETIRRIENT—
FEZFRHEMN -

PSR &5 B R AR &2 B e i AR B € B BR A5 A
ZHBR AT

2017
2017 &

HK$’000
TR

—FREH
—FIREIH

Due within one year
Due after one year

82,942
401,346

162,124
372,804

484,288 524,928
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24 EHRE -RERHEMER
RECEIVABLES MIE
2017 2016
2017 2016 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Prepayments TEf IR 32,983 36,603
Deposits and other debtors e kH AU EIRIE 223,538 373,907
Investment deposit and partial —JEOREKER S 2
consideration paid for a rescinded B ERE
acquisition transaction KB RE (a) 148,000 -
Deposits paid for the purchase of EERIEHEMEZ
properties held for sale BEffiEke 2,637 2,637
Loan receivables FEME K (o) 20,800 -
Stamp duty recoverable AU [E] ENTERL (c) 128,590 -
Due from associates BN R Z R 5K 18(c) - 10,377
Due from other partners of AEEBEMBEY
joint operations R (d) 35,070 936
Due from non-controlling equity — A E A R FEIE AR AR
holder of a subsidiary ERFE A Z R (d) 13,180 3,666
604,798 428,126
Impairment RIE (e) (5,073) (5,073)
599,725 423,053
Notes: M5
(@  On 4 November 2015, the Group entered into a sale and purchase (@) M2015F11 A48 @ AEBEHEFBHKE
agreement with China Chengjian Investment Limited (the “Entity”), BREERAR([EB DI LEEHE
pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to acquire Bt AEBBEGRGERBEWE  mESE
and the Entity conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued share BRHERELETERTEEAR AR
capital of CCCC Development Limited (“CCCC Development”) at a (THBEBmER]) 22HEHTRA
cash consideration of HK$660,000,000 (the “Acquisition”). CCCC H &R {E%660,000,000F T ([ S
Development Limited and its subsidiaries are principally engaged T8 |) o A BGRB8 R A PR A &) K E B a8
in municipal construction, building construction, and construction ARAIEEZRHFBERETHESE  BFE
of build transfer, build-operate-transfer, public-private partnership £ RNEZE-BRX HAE-ZEE-B
projects, property development and investment in the PRC. R AILEEEEER MEBRERR
The Acquisition was rescinded on 31 March 2017 pursuant to a WS E M 2017 F3 A31 B BRI -
supplementary agreement dated 25 August 2016 as the Acquisition ThiR & A B 22016 4F 8 A 25 HE I &Y
did not complete on or before the long stop date, and any investment Witz ARREBEETRRE LR
deposit and consideration paid (the “Debt”) by the Group for the Bk 2 ATSEAk - AN B g B EIE X
Acquisition are refundable from the Entity. At 31 March 2017, the MR ERERRE(TEK]) TRERER
Debt amounted to HK$148 million. Further details of the Acquisition B o R2017F3A31H BEHSEA
are set out in the Company’s announcement and circular dated 148,000,000 70 - A KIE = EMN E
25 August 2016 and 30 September 2016, respectively. —SHBARERAAE BER20165F
8 A25 HM A% KX 20164 9 A30 H#@
B o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@)

(continued)

In considering the recoverability of the Debt, the directors of
the Company took into account of a series of agreements (the
“Agreements”) entered into by the Group on 26 June 2017 with,
amongst others, the Entity and its fellow subsidiary for the purpose of
recovering the Debt paid to the Entity by the Group for the rescinded
Acquisition. Pursuant to the Agreements, the proceeds attributable to
the Entity is sufficient to cover the outstanding deposit. Accordingly,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Debt is fully
recoverable and no impairment is considered necessary.

* Further details of the Agreements are not disclosed as they were
entered into on a confidential basis.

Loan receivables are loans provided to subcontractors of the Group,
which bear interest at rates ranging from 8% to 13% per annum, are
repayable within 1 year and each is secured by a receivable owed by
the Group to the subcontractors.

Stamp duty recoverable was stamp duty paid to Inland Revenue
Department of Hong Kong (the “IRD”) upon the acquisition of the
Group’s investment property under construction in Hong Kong
during the year. The amount is expected to be refunded by the IRD
within 1 year upon fulfilment of certain conditions relating to the
redevelopment of the acquired property.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Allowance for impairment of other receivables was made against
certain individually advance payments with an aggregate amount
of HK$5,073,000 (2016: HK$5,073,000) in relation to development
costs of property development projects. The directors of the
Company believe that the recoverability of these receivables is in
doubt as these amounts have been outstanding for a number of
years and accordingly allowance had been made for the full amounts
of the advance payments in prior years.

B ISR R MY

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

4. AR RE -ZRERHEMEWK

\ "

%8 )

BeE : (48)

(@)

(%)

REBBEENAIUEER - AARES
EZRIASESE(HFEE)EEBRER
EZHBARNR2017F6 A26 B Y
—ZyBHE(HZE]) - BB HE
ZWEEEROALEEE N FEENE
%o RIBHE  BEREBEMESKERNR
BEREMNZSE Al AARESR
B B A AR B R 3 B R
=0

*ERBEERERRGTY  BRERE
ZHE—HHBUAREHIE

BURERTIARB RS BEREOET
B SFEN T 8% E13% K FI K&t
B AR —FRNEEL D B B AKE &
R 5 BT M R AR AR AR IR -

A4y Bl ENFE B Th A A AR SR [ e B B
—RERKEMEER CHBEERER
(IR 1) ETER - S BAEMAEN =
Pk B R B B U B Y 2 2 AR E TR IR
—FRABREREME -

EFBRREEN 2R RARER

o

i

%
&2

H A R E B T ) 3 B 3R
BREKA2ETER2MNRIRERE
5,073,000/ 7L (20164 : 5,073,000/
JO) MR - AR ZE EEKAD RIE
REBF - BARBEEHZERREANK
BIERKEE - A ERNBEFE2ERE
Faft kA -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201743A31H

25. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss of the
Group as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 were equity investments
listed outside Hong Kong, which were classified as held for
trading and stated at quoted market value (Level 1 fair value
measurement).

26. RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS

25 RAFEFTABZEZRAR
=i

R2017FEK2016F3A31H » KEE
BRAFEAABRZBAKREEETS
BIINEMBEAKLE  EDEAEFEER
EREHEMEINR(BE—RAFE

e -

26. TRFREREERER

2017
2017 &

HK$’000

Restricted cash for issuance HBEHLERZZR
of guarantees kA

Pledged deposits for general M—RERITRE 2
banking facilities [=EiEEE N

Restricted cash and pledged deposits

Notes:

(a) In respect of the sale of the properties held for sale in the PRC,
the Group entered into agreements with certain banks in the PRC
to arrange mortgage loans to eligible purchasers of the Group’s
properties held for sale and pursuant to which, the Group is required
to place at designated bank accounts certain amounts as guarantee
deposits for potential default in repayment of mortgage loans
advanced to property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will be
released after the property ownership certificates of the relevant
properties have been passed to the banks. At 31 March 2017, such
guarantee deposits amounted to RMB5,583,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,294,000) (2016: RMB5,562,000, equivalent to HK$6,669,000).

(b) The pledged deposits were placed in designated banks as part of
the securities given to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group note 31(e).

RFIRE R EEFFR

FEx

(a) 6,294 6,669

(b) 45,125 262,281

51,419 268,950

() HRPEBEHEMEZHENS &
EEMEFRETFTRITI LG BARE
EREHENEZAERERTHILZB
BBt AEBBEZHEETRITE
RFEAETHE (EAMEERE KL
HRERREDNZRIBE R ZER
G ZEFEREFIERBEMEZY
E¥MEEZHECEIBITERER - R
201743 A31H BBERTREA
R# 5,583,000 7T (FHE 1 6,294,0007%5
JL) (2016 4 : AR¥ 5,562,000 7T (18
1 6,669,000/87T)) °

(b) EBEEBERTFHRAETRT  EAER
AEE-RRITEERE 2o EAM
FE31(e)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

27. BERHEBEEEHEH

Cash
thal
Time
Total
Less:

Cash

Notes:

(@)

and bank balances other Be RIRITHER

n time deposits (TBEEHFER)
deposits TEHRF K

cash and bank balances e MIRTTHESRRRE

Restricted cash and

pledged deposits (note 26) (Fft5E26)
and cash equivalents ReMERSEFHIEE

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to approximately
HK$349,461,000 (2016: HK$351,784,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between
2 days and 6 months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

o ZREIR S REEREFER

2017
2017 &
HK$’000
FET
1,513,412 952,760
251,378 321,610
1,764,790 1,274,370
(51,419) (268,950)
1,713,371 1,005,420

RBEHR AEBUARE
TAREBDFEZRE S R HEIRIT
4 #4492 349,461,000 78 7T (2016 4F :
351,784,000/ L) - AR TE B H
HpK E b &% o R - RIE R BN
EERIEO)R(ERE - EERMNEEE
HMEY ANEERERERBELEIE
EBBRTHARBEBKEMES -

RITRSBEFARTERMNEFE 2F
FHRRRAE - RFAEEANERE
TR ERERZERBNTFRRENR
BEATE - WIRE MR TERFRA X
MRERF S - SRITHEBR D FEN AL &
EHER s BERRT -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201743A31H

28. NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND A DISPOSAL 28. 7 EAKEHEZERDE

GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE EMHESE
2017 2016
2017 2016 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THT
Non-current assets classified DERFEHEEZ
as held for sale: ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WIZ - HEES KR (b) 6,181 -
Investment in an associate REFE R BIRE (@) 163,442 -
169,623 -
Assets of a disposal group DEBFEEEZ
classified as held for sale: HEEEEE :
Property, plant and equipment I - WER KRS (b) 10,566 -

Non-current assets and assets DERHEEE ZIER

of a disposal group classified BERLEEEREE

as held for sale 180,189 -

Liabilities directly associated with HEAEARFEHECHEEERE

the assets of a disposal group EEEZHEENEE

classified as held for sale:

Other payables and accruals H At FE < 58 R FE R RIB (b) 33 =

Deferred tax liabilities ELEIE AR (b) 715 -
748 -

Notes: FEEE -

(a)  On 31 March 2017, the Group entered into an agreement with an (@) M2017F3A318 AEBE—FZBY
independent third party, pursuant to which the Group shall sell to the FE=AFEIN O HE - Bt AEER
Purchaser (i) the Group’s entire 10% equity interest in Loyal Pioneer, EFLENAEBRAEEZHE AR
an associate of the Group; and (i) the Group’s interest in loans to S22 10% B8 HE  R(i)AEER TEM
Loyal Pioneer of HK$127,972,000. ZEFEZE 127,972,000 7T °
Deposits of HK$49,820,000 in total had been paid by the Purchaser B AR 201743 A31 BREBERZEEREZ
as at 31 March 2017 in accordance with the terms of the agreement. & & $£49,820,000/8 7T - NEER
The Group’s investment in Loyal Pioneer was classified as a non- Bz RER2017E3 A3 BWHEA
current asset classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2017. FEHEZIERDEE -

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 19 May 2017, the RBRERR®% - R2017FE5 198 * %
transaction was completed and all the sale proceeds were received. RSB KRB WA HEFTSKIE ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND A DISPOSAL
GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)

On 25 April 2017, the Group entered into an agreement with a fellow
subsidiary of the non-controlling equity holder of a subsidiary of the
Company (the “Buyer”), pursuant to which the Group shall sell to the
Buyer (i) the entire equity interest in Regal Rich Limited (“Regal Rich”,
an indirect 50% owned subsidiary of the Group), together with the
outstanding shareholder’s loan of HK$18,992,000 owed by Regal
Rich to the Group; and (i) certain dump trucks (property, plant and
equipment) of the Group.

Total consideration for the disposal transaction is HK$51,704,000,
and as at 31 March 2017, deposit monies of HK$23,140,000 have
been paid by the Buyer.

Despite the disposal agreement was entered into subsequent to
31 March 2017, the dump trucks and Regal Rich were classified as
non-current assets and a disposal group classified as held for sale
as at 31 March 2017 because, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, these assets are available for immediate sale in their then
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for
sales of such assets and the sale is highly probable as at 31 March
2017, in light of the fact that a substantial amount of deposit monies
have been received as at that date.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 28 April 2017, the
transaction was completed and all the sale proceeds were received.
The disposal transaction constituted a connected transaction under
the Listing Rules that was subject to the disclosure requirements but
exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement.
Further details of the disposal transaction are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 25 April 2017 and 28 April 2017.

B ISR R MY

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

8. P EARFHEZERDE

ERHEEE w)
Mz - (58)
(b) M2017FE4H25H REBEARQ

2 — M B A E Hﬂéﬁn%ﬁ/\ZH
ZWBARI([BEAR DI — QB &
b AEBGHETFER () NS EE B
BHS0% RENHBATEEER AR
(B z22BKkE  EFREERNAR
%lﬁi {2 2 R B 5%18,992,000 7%
T RAEEETRESE (M - %
BREE) -

HERX S ENREARS51,704,0005 7T
M2017F 3831 ERFEX NS
23,140,000 7T °

1% HEWHENR2017F3 A31 BHEET

CRBEEREER201743 A31 El%&
"*EP%$T{E§%E23E,,.LEU§E&&
BEEDNHRARRESERE
EfEEREGHEEZELE ﬁﬁfwﬂi
BHEZEEZ MREFEEK  BE
BUEER2017F3A31BEE - ERE
BRI EERZABKME -

REBEHIRE - K HMN2017F4 A28 H
SERK K B WER AT S5 PS5 FIE o IR
ETHRA BHERSEKBEER ST
BETHERT  BERRETEILR
BHREZETE - BALERSHZFHE
HRARFBHAE2017FE4 8258 %
20174 4 A28 HHRE

2016/1758 THNBLERERERAT @



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

29. TRADE PAYABLES 29. EZ5 B RIE

2017
2017 &

HK$’000
FERT

Trade payables other than B SN IE

retention payables (ERHRESBRIN) (@)
Retention payables FERE S (b)
Notes: M
(a) The Group’s trade payables (other than retention payables) are non- (a)

interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

An aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables (other than retention
payables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

1,032,196 829,189
556,918 542,949

1,589,114 1,372,138

AEEZBSENFA(ENRE SR
SN B BB E R0 REEE

RBERAR AKEZE 5 EN KA
(BRRESERIN AR B B AR
HZREBEDOMIIBKAT

2017 2016
2017 F 2016 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Within 1 month —@ARN 615,846 474,809
1 to 2 months —ZMEA 213,921 159,409
2 to 3 months A& =& A 63,443 62,530
Over 3 months Hid=18 A 138,986 132,441
1,032,196 829,189
(b)  Retention payables held by the Group arose from the Group’s (b) AEEFMREENRESDELEBEARE

construction work business and are settled to subcontractors within
a period ranging from one year to three years after the completion
of the contract work by the subcontractors, as stipulated in the
subcontracting contracts.
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30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

30. H b & {4 R IE I FE 5 IR

2017 2016

2017 § 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT FHET

Accruals FE=t IR 261,425 275,749

Deposits received for sale of HEMENRDZEZE

properties 1,492 1,707
Deposits received for sale of HHE— B EARFE
non-current assets and a disposal HEZERDEER

group classified as held for sale HEEEZBMZSE 28(a), (b) 72,960 =

Other deposits received Hip B Wiz s 8,388 3,937

Other liabilities Hin g & 55,994 28,424

Consideration payable for the acquisition U8 — T & 2 &2 fE

of a subsidiary RE 11,827 =
Client money received incidental IR E B RIS W 2

to the provision of facility RPEFHIA

management services 22,823 -

Deferred income EIEW A (a) 38,636 57,357

Due to associates REEENT 2 FOB 18(c) 12,436 12,409

Due to other partners of joint REGEBEMBH 2

operations IE (o) 10,579 16,704

Due to fellow subsidiaries of REEEBEMBHE 2

other partners of joint operations REMBARZHIEA (b) - 18
Due to non-controlling equity RSB A R FEIE AR AR
holders of subsidiaries RERB AL (o) 6,774 -
Interest-free loans from =Rl =N E 22
a non-controlling equity BREREAZRE
holder of a subsidiary B& ©] 44,778 42,562
548,112 438,867

Portion classified as current liabilities NEARBAREZIED (482,411) (357,669)

Non-current portion FERBE D 65,701 81,198

Notes: M EE -

(a) Deferred income represented payments from two parties as (a) BETEWAEEBKRMEALTZHRE R
consideration for the Group to provide them with guarantees to AEBHBEZMEATIRORER
indemnify them any losses and liabilities that they may incur in ETEEIRVEEEANTANEBLIARA
connection with certain construction work of the Group in which BEREREERONRE - BERRIBIRE
the two parties have involvement. The payments received were RE AR IRAE R A RBEREET
accounted for as guarantee income and recognised in profit or loss ERTEETIERHRANERAER -
on the straight line basis over the respective remaining construction
periods of the relevant construction work.

(b)  The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. (b) mAHEAEKF EERAKERE

;;?_; °
(¢)  The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on or before (c) #HREAEERE 28 KER2021FF

end of year 2021. Kk ZRIEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201743A31H

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 1. RITREMER
2017 2016
2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
Bank borrowings comprise: RITEREIE (@), (b)
Trust receipt loans, secured EEUEER - BEA 2,509 -
Bank loans, secured RITER - BER 1,438,550 1,112,187
Bank loans, unsecured RITER - B 1,507,934 1,403,399
2,948,993 2,515,586
Less: Unamortised ancillary costs W ROTERTHES
incurred in connection with the 2 AEEE B
arrangement of bank loans AR (7,088) (11,138)
2,941,905 2,504,448
Other loans, unsecured Hitn B3 - |EA (@), (b) 2,623 -
Total bank and other borrowings RITRE A8 A2 EE 2,944,528 2,504,448
Analysed into: DHWR
Bank borrowings repayable: JEEBIRITR
On demand JBIREK (), (d) 2,934,638 1,420,586
Within one year —FR 1,707 292,772
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_ZhF (BEEEME) 1,596 791,090
Beyond five years RFEMUE 3,964 -
Total bank borrowings RITIE B 2,941,905 2,504,448
Other loans repayable: HipENER
On demand JBIREK (d) 1,415 -
Within one year —FR 1,019 =
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_ERE (BREEREME) 189 -
Total other loans Hi B e 2,623 -
Total bank and other borrowings RITRE BB 2,944,528 2,504,448
Portion classified as current liabilities DERATBEELHD (2,938,779) (1,713,358)
Non-current portion FEREF A 5,749 791,090
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Except for bank borrowings of approximately HK$7,267,000 which
are denominated in Singapore dollars (“SG$”), the Group’s other
bank borrowings are all denominated in HK$.

The Group’s other loans are all denominated in SG$.

The trust receipt loans of the Group carry interest at floating rates
ranging from Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate (“the HIBOR”) plus
1.85% to 2.75% (2016: Nil) per annum.

The bank borrowings and other loans of the Group denominated in
HK$ and SG$ carry interest at floating rates ranging from HIBOR
plus 1.85% to 3% (2016: HIBOR plus 1% to 3%) per annum and
at fixed rates ranging from 3.5% to 10.88% (2016: Nil) per annum,
respectively.

At 31 March 2017, the Group did not comply with a financial
covenant of a bank borrowing with a principal amount of HK$1 billion
and hence the bank borrowing was classified as a current liability
as at 31 March 2017 and grouped into the “Bank loans repayable
on demand” category in the bank and other borrowings repayment
analysis disclosed above. The Group is in the process of negotiation
with the lender for a consent waiver of its rights to demand
repayment.

The expected repayment dates of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings that contain a repayment on demand clause, with
reference to schedules of repayments set out in the term loan
agreements, are as follows:

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

1. RITRHEMBR )

B 497,267,000 7 7T 2 $R 17 {6 A A0
WIEHEIN  AEE 2 HaiRITERG
LA TTRTE -

(a)

ANEREH b B IS AR N ST AHE

AEBERREBEETIRZSF RS
FRENTHEBRTRERE ([BHBE
TREERE])MN1.85% F2.75% (2016
F @)

AN B SR 1T I E A AE SR (AT 7T B 5 AN 3k
JLEHAE) 2 BIIRIZ B F & & B E ) = &t
B FREHRNFHEBRITRERS
01.85% £ 3% (2016 4 : & B R 17 A
EFRBMNM1%E3%) &3.5%=10.88%
(20164 : 4&)

MR2017E3A31H » "EEKRLETAK
%% % 51,000,000,000% 7T 2 — AR
THERROTBERLY - HEERITERE L
R2017FE3 AN AL R AR AR
R EMmETREMEREESTEESP
BEA[ARERERZRITER] - A
EEFTHEERARAERECEREER
REREFEITRER -

SEEHMERBAMBERFREK - A
SEEEARBRERBEXZRITRE
AR BHERBHOT

Within one year —FRN
In the second year F_F
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-ERF(BEERME)

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group:

VERN =Y e

Property, plant and equipment

Investment property under TEEREDE
construction

Properties under development BERPYE

Bank deposits HFATIFER

2017
2017 F
HK$’000
THT
2,461,174 888,396
442,125 197,944
32,754 334,246
2,936,053 1,420,586
(e) MBMEHKR  LWIFUTEE  EARE
ERERITRE ZER
2017
2017 F
HK$’000
FHExT
14(b) 22,405 33,765
15(b) 840,000 _
20 398,437 305,155
26(b) 45,125 262,281
1,305,967 601,201
2016/175 8 THABLERERERL @



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201743A31H

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 31. |ITREMER =)

Notes: (continued) Mz - ()

(e)  (continued) (e) (#&)
In addition to the above, as at 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group f ECFrat & Hh - 12017 £ K 2016 F
has pledged the equity interest in a non-wholly-owned subsidiary to 3A31H  AKBEHEHER—MI R
secure a banking facility granted to the Group. BHREWNBAR ZRE  ERBETARE

BZRITRMEZER -

MW201743F31 8 —HMBARZIE
ERERZEACDHASES TRITE
REEMBEREED R A 7,267,000 7T
(20164 : # ) 22,623,000 7T (2016
F o E)EHER -

32. R & 35
AEETHBRESREERBIIOT

As at 31 March 2017, certain of the Group’s bank borrowings and
other loans in the total amount of HK$7,267,000 (2016: Nil) and
HK$2,623,000 (2016: Nil), respectively were guaranteed by the
non-controlling equity holders of a subsidiary.

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Summary information of the Group’s convertible bonds is set
out as follows:

Convertible
Bonds C
AR ESC
(note (c))
(BfEE (c)

Convertible
Bonds B
AR ESB
(note (b))
(BFEE (b))

Convertible
Bonds A

TRRESFA

(note (a))
(Pt EE (a))

Issuance date BITHH 31 December 2014 30 March 2015 9 December 2016
201412 A31H 201543 A30H 2016 12 A9 H
Maturity date s 31 December 2017 30 March 2018 9 December 2017
2017 12H381H 20184 3HA30H 20174 12H9H
Original principal amount REAESE(FHT)
(HK$’000) 84,266 94,924 214,072
Outstanding principal amount 20173 431 H
as at 31 March 2017 REEZAESH
(HK$'000) (FHT) = 94,924 184,493
Coupon rate Za K Zero & Zero & 10%
Conversion price per ordinary FIRAA B @R
share of the Company ZHRRME (BTT) (Mis)
(HK$) (note) 0.46 1.56 0.72

Note: The conversion prices of Convertible Bonds A and Convertible Bonds

B were adjusted to HK$0.46 and HK$1.56, respectively, with effect
from 11 May 2016 as a result of a share placement during the year,

BfeE - AN FAETIRDEE - ATRRES

ARTRESFBHBRRESFIAER
0.467 7t & 1.567% 70 © H 201645 A

11 BBAR  SEHBHENMBHREN
#£36 °

as futher detailed in note 36 to the financial statements.

For accounting purposes, each batch of these convertible REHEMNMS TBRRESHE—H
bonds is bifurcated into () a liability component; and (i) =y ﬁX()ETfEE% S R ETEZ D 3
derivative components or an equity component, as further EEED o FBERPERRMEIIA
described in the accounting policy for “Convertible bonds” £ f—Hﬁﬂ%E 5 | @GR E - TR
set out in note 3.3 to the financial statements. The following Bl ARFEANREEABKES Z A
tables summarise the movements in the principal amounts, ceW BE TEEREZITHIZE
the liability, derivative and equity components of the Group’s g :

convertible bonds during the year:
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Principal amount outstanding
At 1 April 2015
Exercise of convertible

bonds during the year

At 31 March 2016 and
1 April 2016

Issuance of convertible
bonds during the year

Exercise of convertible
bonds during the year

At 31 March 2017

Liability component

At 1 April 2015

Exercise of convertible
bonds during the year

Imputed interest expense

At 31 March 2016 and
1 April 2016
Issuance of convertible
bonds during the year
Exercise of convertible
bonds during the year
Imputed interest expense

At 31 March 2017

Derivative components
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016
and 1 April 2016

Issuance of convertible
bonds during the year
Exercise of convertible
bonds during the year
Fair value gain

At 31 March 2017

Equity component (included in
convertible bond equity reserve)
At 1 April 2015
Exercise of convertible
bonds during the year

At 31 March 2016 and
1 April 2016

Exercise of convertible
bonds during the year

At 31 March 2017

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA ISR R MR

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

HAEELESHE

R2015%F4 518
KEERTE
R ES

R2016F3A31BK
20164 518
AEERELT
R ES
AEERTE
RkES

2017438318

aESS
1201564 A 1H
AEERTE
RRES
HEHERY

®2016463A31 AR
201654 418
NEEREIT
AR ES
RERRTTE
A A E S
fEEMEF

201793 A31H

FTERD

20154 18
2016938318
% 2016F4 A1H

AEERET
BkES
KEERITE
BkES

AT EKE

R2017%3A 318

RS (BEETR
RESERHER)
R2015%4 18
AFEERTE
BkES
R2016%F3A31B K
2016%4 A 18
AFERTE
BkES

R2017%3A 318

32. T ARESF &)

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

Convertible Convertible Convertible
Bonds A Bonds B Bonds C Total
TRRESA R ESB TRRESC b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AL AL THL
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
(Wi @) GEA) ()
84,266 94,924 - 179,190
(42,133) - - (42,133)
42,133 94,924 - 137,057
- - 214,072 214,072
(42,133) - (29,579) (71,712)
- 94,924 184,493 279,417
69,512 76,946 - 146,458
(34,870) - - (34,870)
2,633 5,579 - 8,212
37,275 82,525 - 119,800
- - 121,554 121,554
(39,122) - (19,341) (58,463)
1,847 5,983 27,057 34,887
= 88,508 129,270 217,778
- - 92,518 92,518
- - (9,872) (9,872)
- - (44,386) (44,386)
- - 38,260 38,260
15,960 17,978 - 33,938
(7,980) - - (7,980)
7,980 17,978 - 25,958
(7,980) - - (7,980)
- 17,978 - 17,978

2016/174 4 EE;‘MH?%%EEEH&EFE’AE@



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Convertible Bonds A were issued to China New Way Investment
Limited (“China New Way”) on 31 December 2014 pursuant to a
subscription agreement dated 16 September 2014 entered into
between the Company and China New Way. Further details of the
Convertible Bonds A and the conversion price adjustment during the
year are set out in the Company’s circular and announcement dated
26 November 2014 and 18 November 2016, respectively.

On 5 February 2015, China New Way disposed of 50% of Convertible
Bonds A with an aggregate principal amount of HK$42,133,000
to China City Construction (International) Co., Limited (“CCCl”, a
then third party independent of the Group but a shareholder of the
Company as at 31 March 2015 and 2016) and hence each of China
New Way and CCCI had interest in the Convertible Bonds A with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$42,133,000 as at 31 March 2015.

On 17 April 2015, China New Way exercised the conversion rights
of all its interest in the Convertible Bonds A with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$42,133,000 and 91,000,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company were allotted and issued to China New Way
accordingly. The difference of HK$33,750,000 between the nominal
value of the ordinary shares issued and the then aggregate carrying
amounts of the liability and equity components of the relevant
convertible bonds at the date of conversion was transferred to the
Company’s share premium account.

On 7 December 2016, CCCI exercised the conversion rights of all
its interest in the Convertible Bonds A with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$42,133,000 and 91,593,478 new ordinary shares of
the Company were allotted and issued to CCCI accordingly. The
difference of approximately HK$37,943,000 between the nominal
value of the ordinary shares issued and the then aggregate carrying
amounts of the liability and equity components of the relevant
convertible bonds at the date of conversion was transferred to the
Company’s share premium account.

32. R REF )

(a)
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WERAAREPEINAEREBRAD A
(TR BEF#4 )T HEA2014F9H16
HzREWRZ  ATRRESFAR2014F
12A31BEITTHREFE - AIRRES
ARARFERREAEZELFEDR
HRARR A AE2014F 11 A26 B &
2016 F 11 A1 B ZBH R A% °

MR2015F2 A58 & B3 4@+ B
W R (BEER)BRAR (e
Bl BREEERZBYE=F H#
MR2015F %2016 3 A 31 HAKRRR]
ZHBRER) HEARS M A 42,133,0005
TL250% AT ESA - Eitt - R E
HRRHEREREEH£FER2015F 3 A
31 BA S % 542,133,000 T 2 A
BRESAR ZRER -

R2015F4A17H » FREFETHEER
N& #EEE 42,133,000 7T 2 o] AR 15
HFAZFTERZOERE - ARAEM
I AP B0 3 4 B %% &% 3577 91,000,000 8% 3
TR - NS ADRITERAREE
HABURRESSERERILDHER
E B Z533,750,000/8 TE K =
KRB HER ©

MR20165E12 78 » RMEEETHFEHE
R % %8 542,133,000/8 7T 2 A #2 %
BHRAZFERENERE  AQAHE
M0 [A) AP 35k 328 0 AR i 3% e %% 17 91,593,478
B LAk - R A e BITE AR
AEASHETRREFAERERID
7 BR EE A8 58 M) £ %8 37,943,000/8 0 8
BEARATBRMDRER -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Convertible Bonds B were issued to CCCI on 30 March 2015
pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 13 March 2015 entered
into between the Company and CCCI for the purpose of providing
general working capital to the Group.

Further details of the Convertible Bonds B and the conversion
price adjustment during the year are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 13 March 2015 and 18 November 2016,
respectively.

Pursuant to mandatory unconditional cash offers (the “Cash Offers”)
by an independent financial advisor for and on behalf of GT Winners
Limited (the Company’s ultimate holding company), GT Winners
Limited acquired all the interests in the Convertible Bonds B on
17 January 2017 from the then bondholder. To the best knowledge
of the directors of the Company, all Convertible Bonds B were held
by GT Winners Limited as at 31 March 2017. Further details of the
Cash Offers are set out in the Company’s composite document
and announcement dated 12 January 2017 and 2 February 2017,
respectively.

Convertible Bonds C were issued to an independent third party (the
“CB C Subscriber”) and its fellow subsidiary on 9 December 2016
pursuant to a subscription agreement and an amendment agreement
dated 20 November 2016 and 8 December 2016, respectively,
entered into between the Company and the CB C Subscriber. Further
details of the Convertible Bonds C are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 20 November 2016.

After the issue of the Convertible Bonds C, the CB C Subscriber
converted part of the Convertible Bonds C in the total principal
amount of HK$29,580,000 into 41,083,333 new ordinary shares.
The total difference of approximately HK$25,105,000 between the
nominal value of the ordinary shares issued and the then aggregate
carrying amounts of the liability and derivative components of the
relevant convertible bonds at the respective dates of conversion was
transferred to the Company’s share premium account.

Pursuant to the Cash Offers, GT Winners Limited acquired
certain Convertible Bonds C in the total principal amount of
HK$107,036,422 on 17 January 2017 from the fellow subsidiary of
the CB C Subscriber, and, to the best knowledge of the directors
of the Company, GT Winners Limited continued to own such
Convertible Bonds C as at 31 March 2017.

The punctual performance by the Company of all its obligations
under the subscription agreement and the instrument of the
Convertible Bonds C are guaranteed by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic,
a director of the Company.

32. A& R 18 3 4

(b)

2016/17F 5 ﬁfﬂﬁﬁéga@mﬁmma@

B ISR R MY

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

(&)

WERAARIEPRERKRETIZB A
20153 A 13 A 2 RE W= - AIRE
%Bb"*ZO%ESHSOE@’é T A EE
B LAAEBRE-—REEELS -

ABMBRESFBRAEERREARZE
ZHBEIBHERNA R BHA2015F3
A13B K% 20164 11 B18H 2% »

$ET)§*%§§IE1%%EEF§HJ€%GT Winners
Limited (AR B 2 & ER QA ) 1E
i 2 58 il 1 4 (K 1¢fﬁ1£%ﬁ((iﬁ%£
#71) » GT Winners Limited 22017 £ 1
B17 B BEHFE AREN R EH
BREH#EDE BARRESTAE R
20173 A31H ' 2R EHBMH
GT Winners Limited# 48 - GESE
HMFHBHRARR B A BI20174F
1 A12BMERE X R2017F2A2H

EI]'\ttc

R20165E 12498 » REBHS R A
2016411 A20 B MW R #H & %2016
F12 A8 AWM iR (AR R B AT
%1,%# wuﬁgj\nT_L> ’ Fﬂ*%?ﬁﬁ?ﬁi
F(AaiEECREAD RERENW
BRRETAIRKRESRC - BRAATIRRK
BEHCHE —PTHBHANARAIBHA
2016411 A20 BMAE

REITAIBBESRCHE  AJBKRESC
R A5 AN € 4256 29,580,000 7% T 7]
MR fEH C#E A 41,083,333 I & &
e RSEHRAPEBRITLEREESR
BRI RREFBERTESHWIRE
BB =B EE425,105,000/8 08
BEARRARMDEER -

RIBFRELEL » GT Winners Limited
20171 B17 HBAIMRESR CREA
ZRZK B A RS TR HRRESC
A& £ % 5107,036,4228 7T  HEARAQE
FEEFTE - GT Winners Limited 22017
F3A3 AEBERAZTERESRC -

ARFEEZ —EEECRARERE
BTN R kAR ES C3UR
THMABRBIELER -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017

20173 A31H

33. GUARANTEED BONDS 3. EREBES
MR2017E3 208 @ KEER —B5F
N = HEITAS 4% 539,000,000
BILHERES - BRIFEBREDHZIER
REIBRTEER - BREFZFNE6%
SRR 2019F3 F20 HERE -

On 20 March 2017, the Group issued guaranteed bonds with a
total principal amount of HK$39,000,000 to an independent third
party. The guaranteed bonds bear interest at the rate of 6% per
annum and, unless redeemed prior to the maturity pursuant
to the terms of the subscription agreement, are repayable on
20 March 2019.

34. HIRE PURCHASE CONTRACT AND 4. HBEAEMEREESIR

FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

The Group purchases and leases certain of its plant and
its construction work
business under hire purchase or finance lease arrangements.
These hire purchase contracts and leases are classified as
finance leases and have remaining installment periods or lease
terms ranging from one to four years (2016: one to five years).

machinery and motor vehicles for

At 31 March 2017, the total future minimum lease payments
under hire purchase contracts and finance leases and their

present values were as follows:

15

HBEWT :

Minimum lease

Present value of
minimum lease

AEEREBEEBANSIBERELH
EELTHEERETRER 25 TH
BRERENRAE - ZSHESHOLHE
ENHEARMERE T2 NS
HHEEN T —ZENF(2016F : —F
AF) e

MN2017E3A31H - REBEALOR
BEREZAREERAENRAER

payments payments
BEHEEMNR BEHENRRAE
2017 2016 2017 2016
2017 £ 2016 & 2017 £ 2016 5
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET FET FHET
Amounts payable: RAT F RN SRR
Within one year —FR 14,333 27,647 13,666 26,336
In the second year E_F 11,230 19,458 10,903 18,750
In the third to fifth FE=FRF
years, inclusive (BREBEEME) 6,026 15,445 5,942 15,053
Total minimum lease SERENRESE
payments 31,589 62,550 30,511 60,139
Future finance charges ~ H#AREERA (1,078) (2,411)
Total net hire purchase ~ EALFERFE
contract and finance HERMFIERSE
lease payables 30,511 60,139
Portion classified as PEARBABIHS
current liabilities (13,666) (26,336)
Non-current portion FERBE D 16,845 33,803
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35. DEFERRED TAX

Net deferred tax assets and

consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

35. IEE R 18

liabilities recognised in the RGEVBRARERZELHREE

ERBEFENT

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) and their

BERAEE
ELERARR

movements during the year are as follows:

At 1 April 2015

Deferred tax credited/(charged)
to profit or loss during
the year

Utilisation of tax losses by
joint operations

Acquisition of a subsidiary

At 31 March 2016 and
1 April 2016

Deferred tax credited/(charged)
to profit or loss during
the year
Transfer to liabilities directly
associated with the assets of
a disposal group
classified as held for sale
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Disposal of a subsidiary

At 31 March 2017

R2015%4 818

REEEARR
A/ () 2
EILHR

REXBBANR
B#

KR -RHBAR

R2016 53 A31 B R
201654 A1 8

REFEARR
A/ (IR) 2
ERLHIR
BREANER
BEHEZHESEEE
ERHENARE

Wi~ B AR
HE-ENBAF

R2017E3 8311

11

40

11

28
40
41

5,693 2,134
(21,326) (22,351)
(15,633) (20,217)
AFEEARN - BEERBEEE (BE)Z
HKE D R EEESMT ¢
Attributable to
FEfk
Other
Accelerated deductible  Net deferred
tax temporary tax assets/
depreciation Tax losses differences (liabilities)
Hittmis  BEREEE
NEHRERE BIEEE ORMEEE  /(BR)FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7 T FHR A7
(27,881) 2,114 6,613 (19,154)
(1,888) 1,115 (221) (994)
- (686) - (686)
617 - - 617
(29,152) 2,543 6,392 (20,217
3,486 (29) 406 3,869
1,176 (461) - 715
(17,695) 7,189 - (10,506)
17,695 (7,189 - 10,506
(24,490) 2,059 6,798 (15,633)

2016/175 4 Efﬂﬁ%%gﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ@



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201743A31H

35. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Notes:

(a)

At 31 March 2017, deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of unused tax losses of HK$377,150,000 (2016:
HK$378,331,000) as they have been arisen in the Company, certain
subsidiaries and joint operations that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not assured that taxable profits will be available
against which such tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the
foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2017, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
the PRC for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately HK$259,646,000 (2016: HK$260,608,000) as
at 31 March 2017.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

36. SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

Authorised:
2,500,000,000 ordinary shares of

Issued and fully paid:
1,619,298,787 (2016: 1,414,616,976)

JETE ¢
2,500,000,000 f%
HK$0.1 each

BEITRER :
1,619,293,787 i
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

35.  EEHIE ()

i -

(a)

MR201743A31H MERKSHAH
18 K518 377,150,000 7T (2016 4F -
378,331,000 L) BRELEHEE
E FARAEEABARR - &THE
ARAIREGEER  EER—TEHERA
BERE BAELHEBEETHA
ERAHEBREZEBRTOEF -

BIEPBECERBSRE  RPBRKLZ
INERERINEEREE SRS BRI
10% TEFNFE © %R ER 2008F1 A1 8
HEAR - WE AN 2007 12 A31 HE
ZEF - P REFBINRIEEE ZA]
EREER ARG - BIRREREEN
MEEBH - RAKEMS - BAHREAR
5%3k10% o B I + SR B KL 2 %
ZHBEARF2008F 1 A1 BRELEZ
BASRBREME @ NEBEAMRZIEN
i o

R2017%E3H318 ' MERAEBR
FEKL B AR 2 REEREF (A
BMmIENH) 2 ENENBERETETH
B ARREERA  REWEBRARAT
AABERABERRIRAEBEAEF - B
201738318 HIEERFEHKNB
NRIEBERZFER(LERLER
EIEFL A B &) A% 259,646,000 7T
(2016 4F : 260,608,000 7T) ©

ARABARRINBREBER SR
@,

36. lx &

& 2

FREEO0.1ETLZ B

2017
2017 &

2016
2016 4
HK$’'000

FH&T

HK$’000
FERT

250,000 250,000

(2016 4F : 1,414,616,976 %)

BREEO0.1ETTZ &

161,929 141,462
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IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

36. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 36. BA (&)

B (&)

REZE2017F KX2016F3 A31 HIEF
B ARABEBETRARKMDEER
ZEBBRMOT -

Shares (continued)

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued share
capital and share premium account during the years ended
31 March 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Number of
ordinary Share
shares in Issued premium
issue capital account
BRT
EERYE BRTRAE R EER
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT
At 1 April 2015 R2015F4 518 1,323,616,976 132,362 444,206 576,568
Issue of shares upon exercise  HAIAREHETE
of convertible bonds G 32(a) 91,000,000 9,100 33,750 42,850
At 31 March 2016 and R2016F3A31B K
1 April 2016 2016F4F1H 1,414,616,976 141,462 477,956 619,418
Share placement (note) RO ECE (FizE) 72,000,000 7,200 82,800 90,000
Issue of shares upon exercise ~ H AR ESETE
of convertible bonds ) 32(a), (c) 132,676,811 13,267 63,048 76,315
At 31 March 2017 Ro017E3 8318 1,619,293,787 161,929 623,804 785,733

Note: On 3 May 2016, the Company entered into a placing and
subscription agreement with China New Way and a placing agent,
pursuant to which (i) China New Way agreed to place, through the
placing agent, an aggregate of up to 72,000,000 top-up placing
shares of the Company at the top-up placing price of HK$1.25 per
share (the “Top-up Placing”); and (i) China New Way agreed to
subscribe for up to 72,000,000 top-up subscription shares of the
Company at the top-up subscription price of HK$1.25 per share
(the “Top-up Subscription”) which is equivalent to the top-up placing
price.

The Top-up Placing and the Top-up Subscription were completed
on 6 May 2016 and 11 May 2016, respectively, and the proceeds
from the Top-up Subscription amounted to HK$90,000,000. Further
details of the Top-up Placing and the Top-up Subscription and their
completions are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 3
May 2016 and 11 May 2016, respectively.

Share options
Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included in
note 37 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September
2012, the Company has adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing eligible
personnel with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company, which will encourage the grantees of
such options to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company
and the shareholders as a whole. The board of directors
(the “Board”) will set out in the offer the terms on which the
option is to be granted. Such terms may include (i) minimum
performance targets that must be reached before the option
can be exercised in whole or in part; and/or (ii) such other
terms (including the vesting period) as may be imposed at
the discretion of the Board either on a case-by-case basis or
generally.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and other share option schemes
of the Company must not exceed 30% of the ordinary shares in
issue from time to time (the “Scheme Limit”). No options will be
granted under the Scheme at any time if such grant will result
in the Scheme Limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and all other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10%
of the ordinary shares in issue as at the date of approval of
the Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”"), subject to the
refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit. Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to any eligible personnel
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
without prior approval from the shareholders. An offer of
the options shall be deemed to have accepted by way of
consideration of HK$1 payable by the eligible personnel within
30 days from the date of offer.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the relevant date of grant, in
excess of HK$5 million.
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37.

38.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Such further grant of options must be approved by the
shareholders.

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion and will be notified to the
eligible personnel in the offer and shall be no less than the
highest of:

()  the closing price of a share as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant;

(i) the average of the closing prices of a share as stated in
the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

(i)  the nominal value of a share on the date of grant.

The Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date, i.e., 3 September 2012.

No share options have been granted under the Scheme during
the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

RESERVES

(@ The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b) The special reserve includes (i) a debit balance of
HK$7,340,000 recognised in prior years, which
represented the aggregate amount of the non-voting
deferred share capital of Chun Wo Construction and
Engineering Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group, and the difference between the nominal
amount of the share capital issued by the Company and
the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation
undertaken in 1993; and (i) a deemed contribution of
HK$10,240,000 recognised upon the acquisition of the
remaining 62% interest in Mandarin Group Limited from
a then director and a then controlling shareholder of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2010.

() The capital reserve mainly represents (i) the amount
of profit capitalisation upon allotment of share capital
of Chun Wo Foundations Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary) during the year ended 31 March 1997 and
(i) share of differences between the principal amounts
and fair values of the loans at inception of interest-free
loans provided to a subsidiary and an associate by a non-
controlling equity holder of a subsidiary and the Group,
respectively.
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31 March 2017
201793 A31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R R MY

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

39. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 39. G4 B h8Xx 2K

OF CASH FLOWS

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group entered into
hire purchase contracts and finance lease arrangements in
respect of plant and machinery and motor vehicles with a total
capital value at the inception of the hire purchases and finance
leases of HK$19,279,000.

Saved as disclosed above, the Group did not have other major
non-cash transactions of investing and financing activities
during the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

40. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

The Group acquired the following three subsidiaries (2016:
three subsidiaries) during the year ended 31 March 2017:

(i) In May 2016, the Group acquired additional 10% equity
interest in Hong Kong OVM Engineering Company
Limited (“HKOVM”, a then associate in which the Group
had 45% equity interest) through a capital injection of
HK$2,500,000. HKOVM is principally engaged in the
provision of construction services in Hong Kong.

(i) In June 2016, the Group acquired 60% equity interest
in Grand View Properties Limited (“Grand View”, a then
associate in which the Group had 40% equity interest)
and a shareholder’s loan of HK$129,170,000 from the
then controlling shareholder of Grand View, which is
independent to the Group, at a total cash consideration
of HK$160,800,000. Grand View is principally engaged in
property investment in Hong Kong.

(i)  In November 2016, the Group acquired 70% equity
interest in R.J. Crocker Consultants Pte. Ltd.
(“R.dJ. Crocker”) from an independent third party at a
total cash consideration of SG$7,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$39,423,000). R.J. Crocker is principally engaged in
the provision of engineering and architecture consultancy
services in Singapore.

In accordance with the acqusition agreement,
S5G$2,100,000 out of the total cash consideration shall
be paid upon filfillment of the profit guarantee provided
by the seller from 2017 to 2019, and a call option was
granted to the seller for a right to repurchase of 70%
equity interest in R.J. Crocker within 1 year from the
completion date. The contingent consideration and the
call option granted are embedded derivative instruments
which are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
fair values of these two embedded derivatives are not
significant as at the date of completion of the transaction
and 31 March 2017.

40.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of these
entities as at the dates of acquisition were as follows:

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

40. ¥ S 6t )
RS RS REERTHIEER
BEANAFESINET

2017
20175
HKOVM  Grand View R.J. Crocker Total Total
EERAR %8  R.J. Crocker @t Bt
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
f3E TEL TR TET TEL T
Property, plant and equipment ~ #)% + BB KR 14 1,377 - 9,421 10,798 -
Investment properties REME 15 - 313,000 - 313,000 -
Deferred tax assets BERBEE 35 = c - - 617
Amounts due from contract ERANRFE
customers 4,509 - - 4,509 1,249,353
Trade receivables 2 SRR 4,101 104 3,385 7,590 219,849
Prepayments, deposits and other {118 « & kA
receivables FElEE 4,168 822 1,490 6,480 57,454
Cash and bank balances RERFITHER 7,975 140 149 8,264 133,447
Amounts due to contract ERENEPFE
customers - - - - (73,037
Trade payables ESENTA (2,456) - (1,206) (3,662) (263,500)
Other payables and accruals ~ EAbER U8 KBt
%7 (17,698) (89,536) (8,307) (115,541) (451,717)
Income tax payables RRFREH - = (928) (928) (10,187)
Bank and other borrowings BAREMER - - (11,522) (11,522) (815,900)
Hire purchase contract RBANLBERE
and finance lease payable e (40) - - (40) =
Deferred tax liabilities ERREAR 35 - (10,506) - (10,506) -
1,936 214,024 (7,518) 208,442 46,379
Non-controlling interests IR (868) - 2,255 1,387 (19,909)
1,068 214,024 (5,263) 209,829 26,470
Goodwill on acquisition WEREL 7B 16 - - 44,686 44,686 -
Gain on bargain purchase of REREAZBEE
a subsidiary recognised in —RNBA R Y&
profit or loss 6 - (19,282) - (19,282) -
1,068 194,742 39,423 235,233 26,470
Satisfied by: ERa
Cash consideration HERE 2,500 160,800 39,423 202,723 -
Reclassification of interests in -~ B {ElERE /4
assoclates/joint operations BEBRREND
held prior to the acquisition BEMBAAlER
to interests in subsidiaries (1,432) 33,942 - 32,510 26,470
1,068 194,742 39,423 235,233 26,470
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

40. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

41.

An analysis of the net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries is as follows:

40. ¥ &6t )
KB BARINE S REE S ZEIE
BZBRESRACRE) FEDTWT -

2017
201745
HKOVM  Grand View R.J. Crocker Total Total
EERAR %% R.J. Crocker by @Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THEL TEx TEL TEL THEL
Cash consideration HeRE (2,500) (160,800) (39,423) (202,723) -
Cash and bank balances BEWERE RBITES
acquired 7,975 140 149 8,264 138,447
Add: Outstanding cash n:NEESRRAERZ
consideration as at the BeRE
end of the year - - 11,827 11,827 -
Less: Cash and bank balances i : A€ £ KBERE
previously held under LBRE T
joint operations &% - - - - (76,555)
Netinflow/(outflow) of cash and cash SiUkEEHB AR 2B 4
equivalents in respect of the  RERSE(EER 7
acquisition of subsidiaries WA/ (Rl 58 5,475 (160,660) (27,447) (182,632) 56,892

Had the combinations taken place at the beginning of
the year, the Group’s revenue and the profit for the year
ended 31 March 2017 would have been HK$8,831,617,000
(2016: HK$8,665,570,000) and HK$189,373,000 (2016:
HK$307,286,000), respectively.

SALE OF PROPERTY INTERESTS THROUGH
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group completed the following major sale of property
interests in its property development and investment segment
through disposal of subsidiaries during the years ended 31
March 2017 and 2016:

(@ On 13 December 2016, pursuant to a sale and
purchase agreement entered into between the Group
and an independent third party, the Group disposed
of its entire equity interest in Grand View together with
the shareholder’s loan of HK$147,500,000 owed by
Grand View to the Group for a total consideration of
HK$293 million. Grand View is principally engaged in the
property development and investment in Hong Kong.

As a result of the transaction, a gain on disposal of
HK$7,070,000 was recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2017. Further details of the disposal
are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 4
November 2016 and 13 December 2016.

41.
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201743 A 31 HIEFEHUW A K FH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. SALE OF PROPERTY INTERESTS THROUGH
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

On 31 July 2015, pursuant to a sale and purchase
agreement entered into between the Group and two
individuals independent of the Group, the Group disposed
of (i) its entire equity interest in Profit City International
Limited (“Profit City”), a then wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group; and (i) assigned the Group’s interest in loans
of HK$27,635,000 in total owed by Profit City, to the two
individuals for a total consideration of HK$230,000,000.
As a result of the transaction, a gain on disposal of
HK$199,528,000 was recognised in profit or loss for the
year ended 31 March 2016.

On 6 October 2015, pursuant to a sale and purchase
agreement entered into with a related company with a
common director, the Group disposed of (i) its entire
interest in Wealth Anchor Investments Limited, a then
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; and (i) the
total indebtedness due and owing to the Group for a
total consideration of HK$195,000,000 to the related
company. The major asset of Wealth Anchor Investments
Limited is 10% of Golden Concept Development Limited
(“Golden Concept”), which in turn holds a development
site at Area 56A Kau To Shan, Hong Kong. As a result
of the transaction, a gain on disposal of approximately
HK$29,300,000 was recognised in profit or loss for the
year ended 31 March 2016.

The transaction constituted a connected transaction
under the Listing Rules and further details of which
are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
14 August 2015, 25 September 2015 and 6 October 2015.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2017
201793 A31H

41. SALE OF PROPERTY INTERESTS THROUGH 41. ZBHEMB AT HEW X

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) - 34D
An analysis of the assets and liabilities derecognised as a result HREMEEMBEEAZEEEA
of the above disposals is as follows: EOFWOTE :

Notes
ih=s
Net asset disposed of: HEEEFE:
Investment properties A 15 295,000 =
Investments in associates REE AR ZIE - 27,530
Trade receivables Z 5 W GRIE 199 -
Amount due from an investee WARE R B Z R
company - 165,200
Prepayments, deposits and other BRI - ke MEAM
receivables FE U IR 751 -
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTTH = 84
Other payables and accruals H b A5 5RIE K FE R RE (2,685) (66)
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIAEE 35 (10,506) -
282,759 192,748
Expense incurred for the disposals HEMZ 3,450 3,382
Gains on sale of property interests HHEEMBARLE
through disposal of subsidiaries YIRS 2 WS 6 7,070 229,217
293,279 425,347
Satisfied by cash ERARNBEE SN 293,279 425,347
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents as a HREMHEMEENRE NEE
result of the above disposals is as follows: LEBEE ZRAFEINAT :
2017
2017 &
HK$’000
FExT
Cash consideration HeERE 293,279 425,347
Outstanding cash consideration REREREH
as at the end of the year ReRE = (347)
Cash and bank balances disposed of B HE& B4 RRT4EH - (84)
Deposits received Bz & - (20,000)
Expenses incurred for the disposals HERY (3,450) (3,382)
Net inflow of cash and cash EBHEMHBAREE
equivalents in respect of sale of My He RERS
property interests through LEEERAFRE
disposal of subsidiaries 289,829 401,534

@ ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2016/17



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
contingent liabilities, which have not been provided for in the
financial statements:

(@) Corporate guarantees and performance bonds given

Indemnities issued to financial

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

42. S REBE
RIBEBR - AEEAH LT HARAH
BRETERERABE

(a) EFHZRAAERREORE

2017
2017 &

2016
2016 4F
HK$’000
FHET

HK$’000
FET

BTN SR RIEAERETIE

institutions for performance bonds BHZBHRBMRAE
in respect of construction contracts RO IR 2 B4R
undertaken by:
- subsidiaries — BT 990,913 676,313
— joint operations — BREK 275,152 388,291
1,266,065 1,064,604
Guarantees issued to financial HEEATEESEERE
institutions to secure credit facilities mmE &L 2
granted to associates (note (b)) RS (B (b)) 290,900 298,100
Guarantees for property development — gtz R IEH [ BN
projects given to banks which SEBEHEMEZA
granted facilities to purchasers of the ~— TiRftEl & ~ $RITHR4E
Group’s properties held for sale ZER 126,631 165,252
1,683,596 1,627,956
In addition to the above, corporate guarantees were Q= b = )

provided by the Group to two parties as disclosed in note
30(a) to the financial statements to indemnify them any
losses and liabilities that they may incur in connection
with certain construction work of the Group in which
the two parties have involvement, however, the financial
impact of the contingent liabilities that may arise from
these arrangements is not disclosed as, in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the estimate of which is
not practicable to do so.

Notes:

(@) In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair
values of the financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the directors of the
Company consider that the possibility of the default of the
parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
in respect of these financial guarantee contracts.

(b) At 31 March 2017, the banking facilities granted to associates
and guaranteed by the Group were utilised to the extent of
HK$110,530,000 (2016: HK$117,730,000).

E30@BEBRAKERMHZ AL
REQBER UA@EAEHE
ETEETIR(ZEMBHALH
S EHE ) AR RS W RAEM
ERIEAEB AWM ARFAE=S
R ARKENEGREZSH
BAREENKABBNMBE
& HNUtWEEREKE -

G

() ARAEFRA NEEMBE
REDRBRERRE 2 AFET
BEX BEARAE=ZRAREH
BB ZAREMEER - Bt
WERZERBEREONRESR
BB RAREREE

(b)y HR20179F3H318 @ NEBERFR
FABERARBREHZRITRER
% ) A 110,530,000 7t (2016
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued) 42. ZAREE ()
(b) Litigations (b) sRE:A

(i)

(i

In or about August 2013, a subsidiary of the
Company commenced legal proceedings to
recover outstanding payments against the contract
customer of a construction contract in respect of
the Tsz Shan Monastery project undertaken by the
Group in prior years. The hearing was completed
in May 2016 and the judge handed down the
judgement on 19 August 2016. The judge awarded
a sum of HK$115 million to the subsidiary after
allowing the defendant’s counterclaim.

The Bill of Costs for legal costs incurred by the
Group was served to the court on 23 June 2017.
Based on the latest information and legal advice
available to the Group on the amount of legal
costs that is expected to be recovered from
the defendant, the Group recognised a loss of
HK$34 million in profit or loss during the year ended
31 March 2017 as a result of this litigation.

In or about December 2013 and March 2014, a
plaintiff commenced two separate legal proceedings
against a subsidiary of the Company and the
Company, respectively alleging that the termination
of a proposed transaction in relation to the sale of
a commercial development and 49% interest in the
car park development at No. 8 Clear Water Bay
Road (collectively the “Properties”) was wrongful
and claimed for the loss of capital appreciation of
the Properties for the breach of a memorandum
entered into between the plaintiff and a subsidiary of
the Company in September 2013.

The plaintiff and the subsidiary of the Company
have completed the pleadings stage and have
exchanged their witness statements in March 2015
and produced their expert reports on 1 April 2016.
The parties have exchanged the supplemental
expert report on 18 October 2016. The plaintiff will
set both cases down by 20 July 2017. The trial is
estimated to last for 12 days and dates for the trial
shall be fixed by the parties.

Besides, in or about April 2014, another plaintiff
commenced legal proceedings against the same
subsidiary of the Company alleging that the
termination of a proposed transaction in relation
to the sale of the commercial development at No.
8 Clear Water Bay Road was wrongful and sought
damages from the subsidiary of the Company.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

Litigations (continued)

(i) (continued)
The parties have completed the pleadings stage
and have exchanged their witness statements in
August 2016. Joint expert has been appointed
and the parties are resolving the valuation basis for
the joint expert report. The 4th Case Management
Conference is adjourned to 25 October 2017.

Based on the existing legal documents after
having performed management’s internal critical
assessment of the aforesaid cases and seeking
advice from independent legal advisor, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
has a reasonable ground of defence on the merits
and the cases would be successfully defended,
therefore, no material adverse financial impact to
the Group is expected.

43. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its completed investment properties
(note 15(a) to the financial statements) under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms
ranging from one to two years. The terms of the leases
generally also require the tenants to pay security
deposits.

At 31 March 2017, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables of HK$286,000 (2016: HK$188,000)
under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants
falling due within one year.

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms ranging from one month to three years.

At 31 March 2017, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

42. FARBE &)

(b) DFFRA (&)
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43. EXHOZH
(a) HHEAHH
AEEREEEBORYHA
HRTREME (M BRI T
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F o HOBRRBETERAF X
1R

M2017F3A31H KEER
BEBEPIM 2T HiH &%
MAOEEAEREBEERWRIE
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(b) BAEBEA 4G
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ETHAEME  LEBADN
F—EAE=%F -

MN2017E3A31H - KEBEBE
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falling due as follows: MEMR  XAHHNT
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Within one year —F R 26,091 21,695
In the second to fifth years, inclusive “EhF (BEERME) 19,643 13,161
45,734 34,856
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201793 A31H

44. COMMITMENTS 44, EiE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note Br SR EE 43(b) AT AF il 2 & FEFE 4
43(b) above, the Group had the following commitments at the ZOh > RNEEH R KREBAH I FE
end of the reporting period: g ¢
(@) Capital commitments (a) EBEAXRKRIE
2017 2016
2017 £ 2016 %F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT THT
Contracted, but not provided for: BRI 4B R B
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B — T B A A - 144,720
Acquisition of items of plant and EERRENKREER
machinery 5,058 3,344
Total capital commitments BARAEIEBER 5,058 148,064
(b) Property development and investment commitments (b) MERERKREERE
2017
2017 £
HK$°000
THET
Contracted, but not provided for: EREENEESZT:E
Residential developments FEERE 19,355 9,077
Total property development and M EE R IS B R E AR
investment commitments 19,355 9,077
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material transactions with related parties during the year:

(a)

Associates: il /N
Management fee income EEBWA
Construction contract revenue EEA AW

Interest expense paid and

payable to the ultimate holding MZFEMRY
company on:
An unsecured bond EEAES
Convertible bonds AR ES

Interest expense paid and payable B4 & (< & S Ff i)
to a director-controlled FEEZAERX
corporation

Sale of a property interest FERELENBARLE
through disposal of a subsidiary ~ ¥ ¥#ER T —RH%EE
to a related company with a HREAEFZHERF

common director

Notes:

(i) The transaction prices were determined by reference to the
then prevailing market rates.

(i) The interest expense was paid to GT Winners on an unsecured
bond of HK$158,000,000 which bore interest at the rate
of 1.48% per annum. The unsecured bond was issued to
GT Winners Limited on 21 November 2016 and was fully
redeemed by the Group on 21 December 2016.

(i)  The interest expense was paid to GT Winners Limited
on the Convertible bonds C (as detailed in note 32(c)) of
HK$107,036,422 which bore interest at the rate of 10% per
annum.

(iv)  The interest expense was paid to Talent Effort Limited on an
unsecured bond of HK$150,000,000 which bore interest at
the rate of 7.25% per annum and was fully redeemed by the
Group on 14 October 2015.

(v) Details of the transaction with the related company are set out
in note 41(c) to the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items
disclosed in (i), (i), (iv) and (v) above also constitue
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules but those disclosed in (i) and (iii)
above exempted from announcement, reporting and
independent shareholders’ approval requirement pursuant
to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

B RENZAERAE

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

45 BEHHE

(a) BZEVHERRHEMIBIFLZ
RGN REBRAFE K EEG
BHIMATEARS :

2017 2016

2017 &£ 2016 4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THxT FHET

(i) 5,833 7,500

0] 202,160 =

(ii) 198 =

(iii) 2,200 =

(iv) = 4,018

(v) = 29,300
B EE

() XPERD2EEHEMB MG
BRERE -

(i) %t 158,000,000 Tt & & # (& %5
2 GT Winners | B 5 X 18 &
FEA.48% 5T 2 - MERESHE
R2016411 A21 8 % 17 FGT
Winners Limited » 3f B 2N & B 7%
2016412 A 21 HRHEMD -

(i)  ®107,036,422% jT Al # B &

% C (MM E32(c) st ) B HGT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR R MY &

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

45. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Outstanding balances and other transactions with related
parties:

(i) Details of the balances with a joint venture and
associates as at the end of the reporting period
are disclosed in notes 17, 18(b) and 18(c) to the
financial statements, respectively.

(i)  Details of the interests in the Convertible Bonds B
and Convertible Bonds C of the Group held by the
ultimate holding company are set out in notes 32(b)
and (c) to the financial statements.

(i) Details of the guarantees provided by a non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary in respect of
certain bank and other loans of the Group are set
out in note 31(e) to the financial statements.

(iv) Details of the personal guarantee given by Mr. Pang
Yat Ting, Dominic, a director of the Company, in
respect of the Convertible Bonds C (as referred to
in note 32) issued by the Group are set out in note
32(c) to the financial statements.

(v)  Details of the guarantees given by the Group for
banking facilities granted to associates are set out
in note 42(a) to the financial statements.

() Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

Key management personnel of the Group solely
represents directors of the Company. Further details
of directors’ emoluments are included in note 9 to the
financial statements.

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Other than certain equity investments and the derivative
components of convertible bonds being classified as financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
respectively, as disclosed in notes 25 and 32 to the financial
statements, all financial assets and liabilities of the Group as
at 31 March 2017 and 2016 were loans and receivables, and
financial liabilities stated at amortised cost, respectively.

45.

46.

BEIEE @
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T 25 B 5 15 37 B 75 R 2k B
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Ed

B &
B %5 1
18(c

(i

m*ii-\cﬁz
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AEFBETRITREMER
REERZ FBEHN T B ®R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

o the fair values of financial assets with standard terms
and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are
determined with reference to quoted market bid prices;
and

° the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities included in the Level 2 and Level 3 categories
have been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on a discounted
cash flow analysis, with the most significant inputs
being the discount rate that reflects the credit risk of
counterparties.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the financial statements approximate to their
fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the
fair value is observable.

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities.

o Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

B ISR R MY

31 March 2017
201793 H31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (continued)

47.

EMIAE2AFYERLAFE
8 &% (&)
REAHBRAETEBZATHESE

(%)

Fair value measurement using

REAFEIE

Quoted prices

Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
WERmS BATBE EATUEE
FrigER BAYE BAYE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E-%) (E=H) (BF=H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$TOOO
T T THT
As at 31 March 2017 R2017F3 A 31 A
Assets measured at fair value: BATFESENEE -
Equity investments at fair value BLTEF ABRRARE
through profit or loss 105 = = 105
Liabilties measured at fair value: A FEHEHEE -
Derivative components of convertible  AIERE S (T4
bonds - - 38,260 38,260
As at 31 March 2016 R2016 535311
Assets measured at fair value: BAFEGTENEE -
Equity investments at fair value BRFEFABRZBARE
through profit or loss
147 - - 147

Liabilities measured at fair value: KAFETENEE

Derivative components of convertible  AT# IR &5 574 25
bonds -

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in the
current and prior years.

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss, balances with associates, other partners of joint
operations/fellow subsidiaries of other partners of joint
operations and non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries,
cash and bank balances, trade and other payables, accrued
charges and bank and other borrowings. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes
to the financial statements. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

48.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Market risk

(i)

(i)

Currency risk

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are
denominated in HK$ or RMB, which are the same as
the functional currencies of the relevant group entities.
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated
in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange
rate fluctuations arise. The Group does not expect any
significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations
and shall use derivative contracts to hedge against its
exposure to currency risk only when it is required. The
Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rate.

Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

The Group has significant bank and other borrowings,
convertible bonds, guaranteed bonds, bank deposits
with floating interest rate which are exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk. During the year, the Group has not
hedged its cash flow and fair value interest rate risks. The
directors of the Company consider the Group’s exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk on the bank deposits is
insignificant as most deposits bear variable interest rates
which did not significantly fluctuated in recent years.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate bank borrowings at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. A 100 (2016: 100)
basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 (2016: 100) basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended
31 March 2017 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$12,183,000 (2016: HK$10,180,000).

Sensitivity analysis on bank deposits is not presented as
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
exposure to interest rate fluctuations on bank deposits is
insignificant.

B ISR R MY

31 March 2017
201793 H31H
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. i A EE B E RBER &)

b

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(iii) Other price risk
If the prices of the respective listed equity instruments
invested by the Group had been 5% (2016: 5%) higher/
lower, profit for the year ended 31 March 2017 would
increase/decrease by HK$5,000 (2016: HK$7,000) as
a result of the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the amount of contingent
liabilities in relation to financial guarantees issued by the Group
as disclosed in note 42(a).

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its debtors
and amounts due from other partners of joint operations.
The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk as a
substantial portion of its trade debtors are generated from
a limited number of customers. At the end of the reporting
period, two (2016: two) customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 67% (2016: 62%) of the Group’s trade debtors.
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. The Group also reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. To mitigate credit risk arising from
guarantees provided to banks in respect of credit facilities
utilised by associates, the Group has delegated a team
responsible for assessing credit standing and limits to the
guarantees to be made. In addition, the management considers
the credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided
to property purchasers is limited because the facilities are
secured by the properties. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

Except for the above, the Group does not have any significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. I EMREEEEREE @)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

With respect to credit risk arising from amounts due from
associates and other partners of joint operations, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from default of the counterparty
is limited as the counterparty has sufficient net assets to repay
its debts and/or a good history of repayment. The investee
company is engaged in property development business = 1 &
in Hong Kong and it is a subsidiary of a Hong Kong listed % %EZ%:FEEJ%?%J:W A PN
company engaged in various business segments including Al E\Zi 2 A Tﬁﬂ%%%%?%%ﬁ%
property development business. The Group does not expect to 557’ HER $ ;'1% BT ER&XE fﬁ
incur a significant loss for uncollected amounts due from these BRAIRGEXH 2 HMBHARK

it

SERE(E)

MBERNRAREGEEBHEMBNHAR
REEAZEERRBMNS  AEEK
BEXGEFHEANEERRER -
EAEZX72HFERANFIEERER
BN,/ REBRTFZERLH - &
WEERANREBNREDEREE

associates and other partners of joint operations.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank and other borrowings, corporate
bonds and equity financing as significant sources of liquidity.
Details of which are set out in notes 31, 32, 33 and 36 to the
financial statements.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up

BZAWEFRBEELEENESE -

B E S R

AERRBESRARIE  ASEE
BEREF-EKRKFZRAeRERSSE
BEE MERERSHEHREUNAARE
BeERHEESREMNRESRERD
ZHE EREEERRBITIERZER

1B R 8 <7 BRI o

AEBRERITREMER  ARE
ZEBAREER/ETIZRIESK

R BREBHRN M BHRRMES

32 - 33K36-°

TRAJNAKEFTESR B ERW

EEEGRIMZRGBEOFEH -

S

ZRBAKERFFRERZ AR

based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are at floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end of
the reporting period.

TRABEZABRRSRERE - &
FHNRABRENERAEZRER
E-WZFNERERFE KR

CHRBRREPR N KRAHE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

BRREEBEEREE @)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBE SRR (&)
Liquidity and interest risk tables TREELRFEEEE
2017 2017 &§
Weighted
average Repayable on Total
effective  demand or More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate  within 1 year 1-5 years 5 years cash flows amount
nE¥s AREXT, AME
ERf= —-ERERE -EZRE BRLE HENEHE FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% Tin Tin Tin Tin Tan
Trade payables BEEMTE 1,032,196 556,918 - 1,589,114 1,589,114
Other payables and accruals H B F A R R 2R 352,069 - - 352,069 352,069
Due to other partners of joint operations KA EEKEMEH AIE
- interest free —48 10,579 - - 10,579 10,579
Due to associates NG N 12,436 - - 12,436 12,436
Due to non-controlling equity holders of KMT%’NE’]#H RRERBA
subsidliaries v 6,774 - - 6,774 6,774
Interest-free loans from a non-controling KA — BB A TR
equity holder of a subsidiary HAAZRRER - - 49,760 49,760 44,778
Bank and other horrowings - variable rate ST REMER —F8 240 2,998,671 20,217 3,964 3,022,852 2,944,528
Liability component of convertible bonds WHXF%}’E Ean 219417 - - 21947 217,778
Guaranteed bonds ERES 6.00 1,170 42,510 - 43,680 39,000
Obligations under hire purchase contracts B4 41 R B M E ke
and finance leases 397 14,333 17,256 - 31,589 30,511
Financial guarantee contracts BBERAY 110,530 - - 110,530 -
4,818,175 636,901 53,724 5,508,800 5,241,567
2016 2016 &
Weighted
average  Repayable on Total
effective demand or Morethan  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate within 1 year 1-5 years 5 years cash flows amount
E ?ETE;T& A IE
—EmfE —FEERF BARE  RENEsE KB
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS' 000 HK$'000
Tin ThL ThL i Th
Trade payables BREfE 829,189 542,049 - 132438 1372138
Qther payables and accruals MR 2B R e 50E 304,173 - - 304,173 304,173
Due to other partners of joint operations/  RALERE B/
fellow subsiclaries of other pariners of A& EHEMBH Y
joint operations-nterest-free H ?WE mlﬁ 48 16,722 - - 16,722 16,722
Due to associates Y INGIEN 12,409 - - 12,409 12,409
Interest-free loans from anon-controlling &5~ EJMTE TiFEHﬁH&&E%
equity holder of a subsidiary BEANZEE ‘é - - 46,800 46,800 42,562
Bank borrowings — variable rate RITER — 28 2.83 1,771,098 830,410 = 2,601,503 2,504,448
Liabilty component of convertiole bonds ~ (ke & EDS = 137,067 = 187,067 119,800
Obligations under hire purchase contracts A4 REIEAH AR
and finance leases 3.07 21,647 34,903 - 62,550 60,139
Financial quarantee contracts BERAN 117,730 - - 117,730 -
3,078,963 1,545,319 46,800 4,671,082 4,432,391
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to
settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount
will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “repayable on demand or within 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2017,
the aggregate carrying amount of these bank borrowings was
HK$2,936,053,000 (2016: HK$1,420,586,000). Taking into
account the Group’s financial position, the directors of the
Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment.

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the management
reviews the expected cash flow information of the Group’s
bank borrowings and unsecured bond. The maturity profile of
the Group’s bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
scheduled repayment dates and the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

BEEMREEBRERBE®

REBESERE(E)
FRFAFBERGHZEBR/RD
HBFRERELOREABRER - X
SERBLFA AN BERS R
BEZ&ERE RENRBSHRZ
ﬁ%'$%@mﬁ AR BEBIR IR
ZH AN EMKRIE - A - BEAME
hlﬁi%ﬂ?ﬂﬁ?%kﬁ$%z
REMEm HIREE) - A R R RE A
Ex%ﬁ?%%E?ﬁZW%EWM
FHREEEBRZARIERR -

WEBZERKERBKEXZEITER
Eéﬂméu,ﬁﬁﬁff FHIA T 7B Bkl
—FRNE BrfE 48 Bl - 2017 4

2 |
3AB1BE ZERTERZLEER
(T 7,%2,936,053,000/% 7T (2016 £ :
1,420,586,0008 ) - £EEARNEE
BB KRR B EERERITIT
FEEISHEE KA ER Z Al REETRK °

AEERDESRR  BEEEBMRIA
%.Zfﬁf‘f1ﬁ*”&ﬁ?fﬁ?ﬁ31f%2?§ﬁﬁ
BEemEdH RBEHR BRELY
E%?KEHH&A%’PEEEEEH?X VNS
BB AEEREEGERNRITER
BEEHMT ¢

Total
undiscounted Carrying
1-5 years cash flows amount

REER
—5E5%F HRERENLE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THBT FBT TR

504,547 3,014,377 2,936,053

Repayable
within 1 year
B—ER
2
HK$'000
T
2017 2017 &
Bank and other borrowings with BEREREEBRZ
a repayment on demand clause BTREMER 2,509,830
2016 2016 F
Bank borrowings with a repayment  BIRERER EX 2 RITER
on demand clause 902,902

550,486 1,453,388 1,420,586

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

2016/174 4 EE;‘JHH?&%EE?%H&EFE’AE@
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. K EMREE B ERBXK @)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

Depending on the market conditions and funding
arrangements, if at any time, repurchase of the Company’s
shares will lead to an enhancement of the net asset value per
share and/or earnings per share of the Group, the directors of
the Company will authorise such transactions.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total
debts less total cash and bank balances divided by the equity
attributable to shareholders of the Company. The gearing ratios
as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

EXER

AEEEAERNEERBRRRELR
EERBBELEYHITRENE AL X
U HEXBREERTRREED

ak,
BE °

AEERBEERENELCRIEESE
ENRBEFEEEEE NERERNED
BRI ge AL FREAR S 3T
IR - REZE 2017 F %2016 3 A
STHLFE  BEAETEBHEZ  BEX
R ET AR -

BETRRAESZH 4 E R
BEAQRRGERAAEBTREA
EFER/AEREN ARANEF
BHEARRS -

AEEFEREAABLERERELS
EARNBELERANBBHMIRE RIRTT
REARBBERUAR AR R EGEELS -
RBERREAABLERMOT

Bank and other borrowings $R1T R E A AN

Liability component of convertible bonds ~ AJ# (&% B E 25

Guaranteed bonds EREH

Hire purchase contract and finance
lease payables

Total debts Bi5HE
Less: Total cash and bank balances

Net debts 5]

i

%57

|

Equity attributable to shareholders RARRREEE R

of the Company

BAREELE

Gearing ratio

HESH MR EHRERMNTA

B BRE MIRITE SRR

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FH&T
2,944,528 2,504,448
217,778 119,800
39,000 =
30,511 60,139
3,231,817 2,684,387
(1,764,790) (1,274,370)
1,467,027 1,410,017
2,220,482 1,902,856
66% 74%
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49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

49. T EMEB AR F1E

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at

31 March 2017 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WELRER

Bloom Team Building Construction
Company Limited
ENREIRERAA

Champ Success Development Limited
EXEEARAT

Champion Surveying &
Engineering Co., Limited
(R TRARAA
Chun Wo Building Construction Limited
EMBERRAR

Chun Wo Construction and
Engineering Company Limited

EMEETRERAT

Chun Wo E &M Engineering Limited

EARETIRERAR

Chun Wo Elegant Decoration
Engineering Company Limited

EMBERATIRERAR

Chun Wo Engineering (Macau)
Company Limited

feMIi2 (&F) BRAA

Chun Wo Foundations Limited

M ETRERAT

Place of
incorporation/
business

MR,/

et

Hong Kong
&R

Hong Kong
5

Hong Kong
&k
Hong Kong
i

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong
&R
Hong Kong
R
Macau
A
Hong Kong

&R

Issued
ordinary/registered
share capital
BRITER/
R

HK$2
ordinary share
2B ERR

HK$100 ordinary shares
100 BT EER

HK$2
ordinary share
2BTLERKR

HK$600,000,000
ordinary shares
600,000,000 % 7L &3k

HK$291,000,000
ordinary shares
HK$9,000,000
non-voting deferred
shares
291,000,000 57 LR
9,000,000 B TERZE
EERL

HK$35,000,000
ordinary shares
35,000,000 T B

HK$14,000,000
ordinary shares
14,000,000 70 & AR

MOP1,000,000
capital
1,000,000 P L&A

HK$19,000,000
ordinary shares
19,000,000 % T £k

2016/174 4 az;‘mﬁsegzzmﬁﬁﬁma@

AKRABEZENBARRK2017 43 A 31
BEFFBWT :

Percentage of equity
attributable to

the Company

Principal activities

ARFEE

REESL

2017
20175
%

100

60

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

FTEER
2016
20165
%

100 Building construction works
BYREIR

60  Property development
NEER

100 Surveying & engineering
works
AEREETRET
100 Construction

B

100 Construction

100  Electrical and mechanical
contract works
KEANTE

100 Interior design and
decoration
L EE

100 Construction
jet

100  Construction

BE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 49. T EME X BF1FE =)

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

WELFER

Place of
incorporation/
business

R,/

EXE

Issued
ordinary/registered
share capital
BRITER/
SRA

Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company
KARELR
REFDH
2017 2016
2017 20164
% %

Principal activities

IRER

Chun Wo Foundations (Macau) Macau MOP100,000 100 100  Construction
Engineering Limited capital
At ORFT) TRER AR 9 100,000 2P L&A e
Chun Wo Group Finance (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Financing
ordinary share
& 1ATERR HE
Chun Wo Tunnel Management Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Tunnel management services
ordinary shares
EHBREEEBRAA & 1ETERR BEEE RS
City Professional Management Limited Hong Kong HK$5,730,000 100 100 Property management
ordinary shares services
BHERERBRAA A 5,730,000 & L& Bk NEEBRE
City Security Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100 100 Security guard services
ordinary shares
BmEFARAR &b 1,000,000 BT E@K &R
Full Fame Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100  Property development
ordinary share
BEEYRARAH &k 1ETERR NEER
Green Solution Interior Design and Hong Kong HKS$1 100 100 Interior design and
Decoration Company Limited ordinary share decoration
ERENR REERR AT G 1ATERR ERRAREE
Smartlink International Development Limited ~ Hong Kong/ HK$1 100 100 Property investment
the UAE ordinary share
kRRARERERAT B/ 1ATERR MER:
Smartwill Asia Limited Hong Kong/ HK$1 100 100 Property development
the UAE ordinary share
FEDMERAR &8/ M 1ETERR NEER
Vasteam Construction Limited Hong Kong HK$23,000,000 100 100 Civi engineering
ordinary shares construction work services
EEEEERAT & 23,000,000 & T LBk TRBETRBTIRS
Wing Cheong Electrical Engineering & Hong Kong HK$15,000,000 100 100 Electrical and mechanical
Contracting Company Limited ordinary shares contract works
KXEERIRBRAF B 15,000,000 87T Z iR BEANIR

% ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 49. T EMBLARAFHE @
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of Issued  Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/registered attributable to

Name of subsidiary business share capital the Company Principal activities
ML/ BRITLE/ KRR R

WEAR AR RS T RA REEDL FTEEK
2017 2016
20175 20164
%

Rk R RHEREERAR PRC/Mainland HK$150,000,000 100 100 Property development
(note (i) China registered capital
k) hE /R 150,000,000 B AR NELR
B EAREFAERAR PRC/Mainland RMB10,000,000 100 100 Consultancy service
(note (i) China registered capital
(Mt (i) &/ hER AR#10,0000007 BRI
afiEx
WETABERRAR PRC/Mainland RMB18,000,000 100 100 Property development
(note (i) China registered captial
(Kt (i) e/ hER AR%18,000,0007 NELR
s
Notes: MizE
()  All the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the iy  kuPTEEEHE LRI HARNA BRE
Company. A -
(i)  These subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established (i) ZEMBRARHARBHREERNLZ
under PRC law. INEBERE -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, LERINBARBERZRR I 25 N
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally FEEESIMASEBLEEFEEEL
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial BZARAMBAR RARERR
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of &5 TEMHBAR FBEELHFRE
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the BRILE -

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

2016/175 4 EE;‘MH?%%EEEH&EBE’AE@



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
OPERATIONS

Particulars of the Company’s principal joint operations as at
31 March 2017 are as follows:

50. X ECEXBHE

AEEBFEAEEHN2017F3 A 31
BRFBIT :

Place of Percentage of
Form of business  registration/

attributable interest of

Name of joint operation structure operation the Group Principal activities
REXRER B 7 EUVA-E 31 ] AEEEEREEIL FEXRE
2017 2016
2017 %
%
(note (a))
(M (a)
Chun Wo — CEC Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 51 51  Construction
el — RBETi2BE ERAEA &R BE
Chun Wo — Hip Hing Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 50 50  Construction
e — thEE FFRAEA &R ot
Chun Wo — Leader Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 49 49 Construction
ERAEA A £
Hip Hing — Chun Wo Joint Venture (GH) Unincorporated Hong Kong 40 40 Construction
EINTVIN &R ot
HKPFH Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 50 50  Construction
ERAEA A BE
Kaden — Chun Wo Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 49 49 Construction
FRAEA &k o
Leighton — Chun Wo Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 20 20 Construction
FERAEA &R BE
Notes: M
(@  The Group’s attributable interest is equal to, greater or less than (@) AEBEMEZASN  SRHERZ

50% in these body unincorporates. However, under the joint venture
agreements, the joint operators have contractually agreed sharing
of control over the relevant activities of these body unincorporates,
hence all these body unincorporates are jointly controlled by the o El ZEIERFEABEEIY
Group and the other joint operators. Furthermore, the relevant joint HAEBRRHEMESLS HHREH - 1
venture agreements specify that the Group and the other parties to SN HEEE B WHEEIR AEBRES
the joint arrangements have rights to the assets and obligations to ZHEHAMETA T BN S BIRE E AR
the liabilities relating to the joint arrangements in accordance with the SEELMzERREMEE TR 2E
attributable interest of the Group as disclosed above and the interest wZEARERYMPIREE  RAEAE
attributable to the other joint operators respectively, therefore these ERNEMT At ZFELFEAE

FHARAANEERNE% - Ri - R
EREHE  AENCIBERARE
BREFRDEDEANERRBREB RO

body unincorporates are classified as joint operations.

(b) All principal joint operations engaged in construction work are
contracted to carry out infrastructure and public facilities related
works in Hong Kong. These joint operations are strategic to the

Group’s principal activities in construction work.

@ ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2016/17
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT

51.

OPERATIONS (continued)

The above table lists the joint operations of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affect the results of the year or constitute a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
joint operations would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

PARTICULARS OF A JOINT VENTURE

Particulars of the Group’s joint venture, which is indirectly held
by the Company, as at 31 March 2017 are as follows:

Place of
Name of Particulars of registration
joint venture issued shares held and business
RENRER RRHERSE BRUEY S
Dingway Investment  Registered share of BvI
Limited US$1 each
PEREERAR  EMERER1ERL ZERAEE

Dingway Investment Limited has a wholly-owned subsidiary,
named CCCC International USA LLC, which is incorporated
in the State of Delaware of the USA and is engaged in the
business of property development.

50.

51.

Ownership
interest

AL b

%

45

2016/174 4 az;‘mﬁsegzzmﬁﬁﬁma@
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31 March 2017
201793 A31H

FTESGEERHEE @

ERINBARFDEETRAR/RIERENR
FEFEIEAEEEEFEMREL
EZAKREREEL - ARRIEER
RIBEMBEEEBZHFBESRE
BRITE -

SENAFE
MR2017F3A831H @ A&EBE 2 —fH

RAEEFECAEE R R ZERGT
FaR

|

Percentage
of voting
power

REREAM

Profit
sharing Principal activities
B TE£H
%

50 45 Investment holding
RERR

REREERAARIZZENB AR A
CCCC International USA LLC * & A
ANERBNEMNEMEZIEREY
HEBRRER -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI EE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES 52. 3 T & 2\ 5 218

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 March 2017 MR2017F3831H » KEBZEEH
are as follows: ENRZFBAOT
Place of Issued Percentage of
incorporation/ ordinary/registered equity attributable
Name of associate business share capital to the Group Principal activities
Bl aye BRITLE/ REEELRS
BENFEE BXhY A REB L TEEER
2017 2016
2017F 2016F
% %
Vietnam Land (HK) Ltd. BVI US$25,000,000 20 20 Investment holding
ordinary shares
AERUES 25,000,000 % T & Bk REER
Loyal Pioneer Limited? Hong Kong HK$10,000 10* 10*  Property development
ordinary shares
BrERARF? BE 10,000 B L E Bl NEER
# The Group’s investment in Loyal Pioneer was classified as a non- B AEBERBHOEERSBEABIEHESE
current asset held for sale, as further detailed in note 28(a) to the ZHRBDEE  ARE—FFHBEHRY
financial statements. TERE W 5E 28(a) ©
* This entity is accounted for as an associate by virtue of the Group’s * HRAEEHZEREEATE N &
significant influence over the entity. Ut ZE AR E R RIAR ©
The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the ERFE $ ALIE £ 7’% FEXEX
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected FEERIEKX $ SEEEFEMER
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the HEZARKEBENE - ARAESR
net assets of the Group. To give details of other associates = 3 5] HEMBEARCTEBEELSRE
would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in BBRILEK °

particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

53. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in notes 24(a), 28(a) and 28(b) to the
financial statements, the Group has the following significant
events occurred subsequent to the end of the reporting period:

54.

(a)

On 2 June 2017, the Group entered into a framework
agreement with an independent third party in relation
to the potential disposal of certain equity interest in
ERHEESEEMEREERAR (the “PRC Company”,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
incorporated in the PRC. The main assets of the PRC
Company are certain car parking spaces and a piece of
land located in Shijiazhuang City, the PRC. Further details
of the framework agreement are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 2 June 2017. As at the date of
approval of these financial statements, the disposal
transaction is still under negotiation.

On 8 June 2017, the Group entered into deeds of
waiver with two bondholders of the Convertible Bonds C
pursuant to which a conversion price adjustment clause
set out in the terms of the Convertible Bonds C was
waived by the bondholders.

On 19 June 2017, the Group entered into a provisional
agreement for sale and purchase with an independent
third party, pursuant to which the Group shall dispose of
all its interest in a residential project at Tseng Choi Street,
Tuen Mun, Hong Kong through the disposal of an indirect
60% owned subsidiary together with the outstanding
shareholder’s loan owed to the Group.

Since the transactions were all effected shortly before the
date of approval of these financial statements, the Group is
not yet in a position to disclose any financial impact of these
transactions on the Group.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been

reclassified to

conform to the current year’s presentation and disclosures.

53.

54.

201617 5 azfaﬂﬁﬁﬁég@mﬁﬁrma@

B RS R R MY

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

WMEHREER
B B 5 R R K 5E24(a) » 28(a) &
28(b)FIRE - AEBNREHREL B
EREREFHENAT

a) M2017F6H2H KX & &H =&
— BB B =N —IERER
FONREBREELERARE
EeREEREERAF([FEH
RAIDMETRAEZ - ZA A
BB MR R A
2EMBRA - FEARINEE
BERURPFBEAREMME T
BRIt - BREIELHZ
RE—THBRNARRBEA
2017F6 A2AM A% o RELER
BHREAEH  HEXSTDER
TER P ER o

—

(b) MR2017F6A8H ' A& B H
ZAMRESFCRAEAFLAL
g Bt BFERHEANRE
AR ES CIERATE A —IE ]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IR MIEE

31 March 2017
201793 A31H

55. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries (note 49)

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals

Liability component of convertible bonds
Derivative components of convertible bonds

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals
Due to subsidiaries

Liability component of convertible bonds

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves (note)

TOTAL EQUITY

FRBEE
RIE R E&RE (FFE49)

FRBEERR
RBEE
BNRER - Be REM
FEWRIB
RekEREFEER
mBEEBR

RBEE

H AR K B 0R
ABRBESFAESD
ARREFITERD
BB EER
REEEFE
EERBARDAE
FRBEE

Lt B A SROB % B 5 5ROR
PP B2 A 50R
ABRRESFRERD

FRBAERR

i
BRITRA
8 (P EE)

REATE

55. AN 1 8 2 Bt B AR R &R

RBEHR - BEAANRRZHBHAR

RZERMT :
2017
2017 &
HK$’000
FET
22,564 23,850
2,245,469 1,707,717
2,268,033 1,731,567
642 5,761
16,314 2,387
16,956 8,148
21,424 21,566
217,778 =
38,260 =
277,462 21,566
(260,506) (13,418)
2,007,527 1,718,149
20,923 38,636
943,767 715,626
= 119,800
964,690 874,062
1,042,837 844,087
161,929 141,462
880,908 702,625
1,042,837 844,087

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

¥ =—F
Director Director
EF EBZE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR R MR

31 March 2017
201793 H31H

55. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 55. " A 2 Bt # AR R 3k (&)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: The movements of the Company’s reserves during the year are as ek ANERERARNRAR ZEHEEBHMT ¢
follows:
Share Convertible
premium Contributed bond Retained
account surplus reserve profits Total
AT LR 35
RS ER Fo O f&E RE A Fok]
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
i FHT FHT FHT FHT FHET
At 1 April 2015 R2015F4 A1 H 444,206 52,552 33,938 58,149 588,845
Profit for the year and RNEE R R
total comprehensive AEE2H
income for the year gy ks - - - 88,010 88,010

Issue of shares upon exercise 3, A] #i% (& %

of convertible bonds FrEs1Tm iR % 32(a) 33,750 = (7,980) - 25,770
At 31 March 2016 and R2016F3 A31H

1 April 2016 201654 A1H 477,956 52,552 25,958 146,159 702,625
Profit for the year and AEFE R

total comprehensive AEEZ2E

income for the year W 58 = = = 40,415 40,415
Share placement RIpELE 36 82,800 - - - 82,800

Issue of shares upon exercise X iAR[#% &%

of convertible bonds FrEs TR AR 32(a), (o) 63,048 - (7,980) - 55,068
At 31 March 2017 R2017%3 A31H 623,804 52,552 17,978 186,574 880,908
56. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 56. it EBT R K
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for MR ENR2017F6 A20HEES
issue by the Board on 29 June 2017. RHE S R R T o

2016/175 4 Efﬂﬁ%%gﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ@



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M=

RESULTS

Revenue

Profit before tax
Income tax

Profit for the year

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets
Total liabilities

Equity attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A3MHILEE

2014

2014
HK$'000
FAT

2015
20154
HK$’000
FHBT

2016
20164
HK$’000
FTAT

2017
2017 &
HK$’000
THRT

S
M aam 4,891,770 6,551,240 8,317,087 8,541,826 8,810,797
B A0 Al 145,565 139,821 145,165 349,720 235,947
{33t (67,790) (46,498) (41,894) (43,246) (30,126)
AEERF 77,775 93,323 103,271 306,474 205,821
FEfh
ARAIRE 77,775 93,009 102,518 301,950 205,506
R = 314 753 4,524 315
77,775 93,323 103,271 306,474 205,821

2014

2014
HK$’000
FAT

At 31 March
RN3A31H
2015
20154
HK$’000
FAT

2016
20164
HK$’000
FAT

BERERE
BELSE 5,417,801 6,487,239 6,895,710 7,192,101 8,463,164
BERE (3,886,836)  (4,842,693)  (5,310,603)  (5,263,395)  (6,217,904)
1,530,965 1,644,546 1,585,107 1,928,706 2,245,260
JE(G#E
ZYNETR S 1,530,615 1,643,882 1,583,690 1,902,856 2,220,482
FEE RS 350 664 1,417 25,850 24,778
1,530,965 1,644,546 1,585,107 1,928,706 2,245,260
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
e EE3

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE ###%E &€

Total Total
estimated estimated
site area gross floor

Expected date (square  area (square Group’s
Location Stage of completion  of completion ~ Usage metres) metres) interest
it fhAEEE
2 TIRE BAERAE AR BRHBER BEERE r58
(EHK) (EHK) Frik g%
A parcel of land located Phase 1: Completed - Residential, 111,554 219,990 100%
between northern side of Phase 2: Completed - commercial and (Phase 3)
He Ping Road and Phase 3: Planning - carpark
southem side of
Guang Hua Road,
Shijiazhuang,
Hebei Province,
The People ‘s Republic of China
PEARLNE -8 ExI - % BER 111,554 219,990 100%
A AR -8 ExI - &5 (F=H)
MR RIS 2R B 2 R F=H: FrET -
Plot No. S5-C35 at Planning = Residential 2,425 22,715 100%
Shams Abu Dhabi,
Al'Reem Island,
Abu Dhabi,
United Arab Emirates
Ok Lokl it Elf - fr= 2,425 22,715 100%
Al Reem Island
Shams Abu Dhabi
Ik S5-C35
Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 499 Superstructure work 2018 Residential and 2,202 13,807 60%
at Tseng Choi Street, Area 4, in progress Commercial
Tuen Mun, New Territories,
Hong Kong
BRI ENE A FERETRETT 2018 EERE%E 2,202 13,807 60%
HPITHER E 4995
Lot Nos. 1770, 1771 R.P., 1774, Planning = Residential 3,075 6,150 100%

1766 R.P. and 1768 in

Demarcation District No. 3

Tung Chung, Lantau Island,

New Territories, Hong Kong

BBMARELEELENRZ D irElF - %E 3,075 6,150 100%
WEE1770 1771 RP. - 1774

1766 R.P. & 17685

2016/174 3§ Efmmeg@@&ﬁma@



PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
E S35

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE ##%E HEYWXE »)

(continued)
Total Total
estimated estimated
site area gross floor
Expected date (square area (square Group’s
Location Stage of completion  of completion  Usage metres) metres) interest
it AHEEE
ks TIRE BAERAE AR BHRER BEEE r5E
(EHK) (EHK) FrikgEs
SW 14th Street and Planning - Residential, 11,200 290,000 45%
SW 14th Terrace and commercial and
between S. Miami and hotel
SW 1st Avenue in
Miami, Florida
FEIEM % SW 14th Street BELL - % BEREE 11,200 290,000 45%
and SW 14th Terrace and

between S. Miami and
SW 1st Avenue in Miami, Florida

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REME

Location Usage Lease term
b B Az HOFH
Townhouse#V4C-38, Residential house Long

Al Muneera Island,

Al Raha Beach,

Abu Dhabi,

United Arab Emirates

P Bt PE P AR HL L FEEE ~HA
ETERNS S

Al Muneera Island

7| & B8 V4C-38

Nos. 4602, 4603, 4607, 4608, Tower 2, Residential Long
The Gate Towers, Shams, Reem Island,
Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

o] B 25 FA] AR AL B FERE KH
Reem Island
Shams
The Gate Towers
FE2RE
554602 ~ 4603 ~ 4607 * 4608 5%
Residential Accommodation, Residential Under construction
No. 128 Waterloo Road,
Kowloon
Kowloon Inland Lot No. 1900
BEAHEEX 2 1900 5% FERE PEE
TUEE
EITEE 1285
=M=
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AsIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED

C1, 5th Floor

Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1
601-603 Tai Nan West Street

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3798 5711 Fax: (852) 3798 5700

A

hERDE

AT HT601 26035

EBOmITERE—H

5 #C1

EiE: (852) 3798 5711 {EH: (852) 3798 5700

www.asiaalliedgroup.com
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